
 

AGENDA FOR 
 

PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 

 
Contact: Michael Cunliffe 
Direct Line: 0161 253 5399 

E-mail: m.cunliffe@bury.gov.uk 
Website:  www.bury.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of Planning Control Committee 

 
Councillors : G McGill (Chair), S Arif, C Boles, D Duncalfe, 

U Farooq, J Harris, M Hayes, B Ibrahim, D Quinn, 
G Staples-Jones and M Walsh 

 

 
Dear Member/Colleague 

 
Planning Control Committee 

 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Control Committee 
which will be held as follows:- 
 

Date: Tuesday, 23 July 2024 

Place:  Peel Room, Bury Town Hall 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 

briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related 

report should be contacted. 

Public Document Pack



AGENDA 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

Members of the Planning Control Committee are asked to consider whether 
they have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda and, if so, to 

formally declare that interest. 
 

3   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 9TH JULY 2024  (Pages 3 - 4) 

 

The Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday the 9th July 2024 are attached. 
 

4   PLANNING APPLICATIONS  (Pages 5 - 140) 
 

Reports attached. 
 

5   DELEGATED DECISIONS  (Pages 141 - 148) 
 

A report from the Head of Development Management on all delegated 

planning decisions since the last meeting of the planning control committee is 
attached. 
 

6   PLANNING APPEALS  (Pages 149 - 166) 
 

A report from the Head of Development Management on all planning appeal 
decisions since the last meeting of the Planning Control Committee is 

attached. 
 

7   URGENT BUSINESS   

 

Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 

agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency. 
 



 

 

1 

 
 Minutes of: PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
 Date of Meeting: 9th July 2024 

 
 Present: Councillor G McGill (in the Chair) 

Councillors S Arif, C Boles, D Duncalfe, J Harris, M Hayes, B Ibrahim, 
D Quinn, G Staples-Jones and M Walsh 
 

 Public Attendance: 8 members of the public were present at the meeting. 

   
 

 

PCC.1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillor U Farooq. 
There was no substitute representative for Councillor Farooq. 
 

PCC.2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 
 

PCC.3  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 28TH MAY 2024  
 

Delegated decision: 

 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on the 28th May 2024 be approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair. 
 

PCC.4  PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 

A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted in relation to applications 
for planning permission.  
 
There was supplementary information to add in respect of application number 70015, 70222 
and 70644. 
 
The Committee heard representations from objectors and applicants in respect of applications 
submitted. This was limited to three minutes for the speaker. 
 
Delegated decisions: 

 
1. That the Committee be Minded to Approve the following application in accordance with 

the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and any 
supplementary information submitted with an added condition to include swift bricks and 
subject to all other conditions included: - 

 
Kemp Heaton Avenue, situated between Bury Cemetery to the north and Peachment 
Place Extra Care apartments to the south. 

Erection of 18 no. supported living apartments (Class C2) and 25 no. dwellings (Class C3), 
construction of a new vehicle access point and associated parking and landscaping. 
 
2. That the Committee be Minded to Approve the following application in accordance with 

the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and any 
supplementary information submitted with an added condition to include bird boxes and 
subject to all other conditions included: - 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Planning Control Committee, 9 July 2024  

 
 

 

2 

Former Mondi/Holcombe Mill, Bridge Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 0BS 
Erection of 57 no. dwellings, the retention of a chimney and the demolition of 3 existing 
buildings, together with engineering operations to create a development platform, public car 
park, substation, public open space, landscaping, drainage, the layout of internal estate roads 
and footways and other associated works. 
 
3. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in accordance 

with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and any 
supplementary information submitted and subject to all other conditions included: - 

 
Land adjacent 4 Holcombe Grove, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 1SE  

Erection of detached double garage with solar panels 
 
4. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in accordance 

with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and subject to 
all other conditions included: - 

 
Radcliffe Public Library, Stand Lane, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 1WR  

Change of use of existing library (Use Class F1) to Enterprise Centre (offices/workspace) (Use 
Class E(g)(i)) by internally remodelling the building 
 

PCC.5  DELEGATED DECISIONS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent planning 
application decisions made by Officers using delegated powers since the last meeting of the 
Planning Control Committee. 
 
Delegated decision: 

 
That the report and appendices be noted.  
 

PCC.6  PLANNING APPEALS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent planning 
and enforcement appeal decisions since the last meeting of the Planning Control Committee.  
 
Delegated decision: 

 
That the report and appendices be noted.  
 

PCC.7  URGENT BUSINESS  

 
No urgent business was reported. 
 
 
 
 
 
COUNCILLOR G MCGILL 
Chair  

 
(Note:  The meeting started at 7.00pm and ended at 8.10pm) 

 
 

Page 4



Title Planning Applications

To: Planning Control Committee

On: 23 July 2024

By: Development Manager

Status: For Publication

Executive Summary

The attached reports present members with a description of various planning applications, the
results of consultations, relevant policies, site history and issues involved.

My recommendations in each case are given in the attached reports.

This report has the following implications

Township Forum/ Ward: Identified in each case.

Policy: Identified in each case.

Resources: Not generally applicable.

Equality Act 2010: All planning applications are considered in light of the Equality Act 2010 and
associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is required to have due regard for:
The elimination of discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
The advancement of equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and person who do not share it;
The fostering of good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and person who do not share it; which applies to people from the protected equality groups.  

Human Rights: All planning applications are considered against the provisions of the Human
Rights Act 1998.

Under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who have made representations) have the
right to a fair hearing and to this end full consideration will be given to their comments.

Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private and family life and a
right to the protection of property, ie peaceful enjoyment of one's possessions which could
include a person's home, and other land and business assets.

In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Bury Unitary Development Plan 1997 and
all material planning considerations, I have concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon
the applicant/ objectors/ residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First
Protocol may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law and is
justified in the public interest. Any restriction of these rights posed by refusal/ approval of the
application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the wider benefits of such a decision, is based

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



upon the merits of the proposal, and falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council
under the Town & Country Planning Acts.

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes (without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on
it) a duty upon the Council to exercise its functions and have due regard to the likely effect of the
exercise of its functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and
disorder in its area. In so doing and on making planning decisions under the Town and Country
Planning Acts, the Planning Control Committee shall have due regard to the provisions of the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and its implications in the exercise of its functions.

Development Manager

Background Documents

1. The planning application forms and plans submitted therewith.
2. Certificates relating to the ownership.
3. Letters and Documents from objectors or other interested parties.
4. Responses from Consultees.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE CONTENTS OF EACH REPORT PLEASE CONTACT
INDIVIDUAL CASE OFFICERS IDENTIFIED IN EACH CASE.

Page 6



01  Township Forum - Ward:  Prestwich - St Mary's App No.  70449

 Location: Longfield Shopping Centre/Car Park, Fairfax Road Car Park and adjoining
land at Bury New Road, Rectory Lane and Fairfax Road, Prestwich

 Proposal: Hybrid Planning Application constituting EIA Development comprising:

Full application for demolition of existing buildings/structures and erection of
phased mixed use development including Community Hub with flexible uses
of library, offices, medical/health services (Classes F1 (a-f), F2(b), E(c), E(e),
E(g)) & retail uses (Classes E(a), E(b) F2(a)) & Sui Generis (hot food
takeaway & bar), new Market Hall (Classes E(a), E(b) & Sui Generis (hot food
takeaway and bar)), Commercial Building with flexible uses including retail,
offices, gymnasium (Classes E(a), E(b), E(c), E(d), E(g), F2(a), Travel Hub
with car parking & cycle parking (Sui Generis), public square & realm,
associated landscaping, car parking provision, cycle storage & associated
works;  and,

Part Outline application (all matters reserved) - mixed use development of
residential (Class C3), flexible commercial, business, service, local
community & learning uses (Classes E, F) & Sui Generis (hot food takeaway
& bar), engineering works to Rectory Lane, new public realm, associated
landscaping, car parking provision, cycle storage & associated works

 Recommendation: Minded to Approve  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
02  Township Forum - Ward:  Prestwich - Sedgley App No.  70484

 Location: Fairways Lodge Hotel, George Street, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9WS
 Proposal: Demolition of existing hotel building and erection of a block of 52 no.

retirement living apartments including communal facilities, landscaping
and car parking provision

 Recommendation: Minded to Approve  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
Ward: Prestwich - St Mary's Item   01 

 
Applicant:  The Prestwich Regeneration LLP 
 
Location: Longfield Shopping Centre/Car Park, Fairfax Road Car Park and adjoining land at 

Bury New Road, Rectory Lane and Fairfax Road, Prestwich 
 

Proposal: Hybrid Planning Application constituting EIA Development comprising:  
 
Full application for demolition of existing buildings/structures and erection of phased 
mixed use development including Community Hub with flexible uses of library, offices, 
medical/health services (Classes F1 (a-f), F2(b), E(c), E(e), E(g)) & retail uses (Classes 
E(a), E(b) F2(a)) & Sui Generis (hot food takeaway & bar), new Market Hall (Classes 
E(a), E(b) & Sui Generis (hot food takeaway and bar)), Commercial Building with flexible 
uses including retail, offices, gymnasium (Classes E(a), E(b), E(c), E(d), E(g), F2(a), 
Travel Hub with car parking & cycle parking (Sui Generis), public square & realm, 
associated landscaping, car parking provision, cycle storage & associated works;  and, 
 
Part Outline application (all matters reserved) - mixed use development of residential 
(Class C3), flexible commercial, business, service, local community & learning uses 
(Classes E, F) & Sui Generis (hot food takeaway & bar), engineering works to Rectory 
Lane, new public realm, associated landscaping, car parking provision, cycle storage & 
associated works 

 
 
Application Ref:   70449/Full Target Date:  07/05/2024 
 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
It is recommended that this application is Minded to Approve subject to the 
recommended planning conditions and the signing and completion of a Section 111 
agreement to secure improvements to the access and lighting to and from the 
Prestwich Metrolink Station, and to secure satisfactory monitoring of any displaced 
car parking resulting from the development, and, where deemed necessary, to carry 
out the work involved in the consultation process and development of any residents 
parking zones, including the implementation thereof. 
 
If the agreement is not signed within a reasonable timeframe, then delegated 
authority is sought by the Development Manager to determine the application. 
 
Site Visit: A site visit will be scheduled for committee members to take place in advance of 
the committee meeting. 
 
Description 
The application is submitted as a hybrid planning application (part full/ part outline) 
constituting EIA development, and is seeking to deliver the comprehensive redevelopment 
of the Longfield Centre complex, the Longfield Centre public car park and the public car 
park on Fairfax Road that is located between Our Lady of Grace Parish Hall and Church, 
and the Metrolink line.  The proposals also include improvement works to Rectory Lane. 
 
Due to the size and nature of the development it is considered likely to have significant 
effects on the environment and an EIA is required. Accordingly, the application is supported 
by an Environmental Statement (ES). The ES assesses the topics requested in the 
Council's Scoping Opinion.  
 
This ES has been examined by officers at the Council. It is considered that the ES 
submitted adequately addresses the topics scoped in and as agreed through the EIA 
Scoping process. The content of the ES is discussed in the relevant sections of this report, 
with reference to the assessment of likely significant effects.  

Page 9



 
The hybrid planning application proposals comprises the following elements: 
 
• Full Planning Permission proposing the demolition of the existing Longfield Centre 
buildings and structures, and the erection of a mixed-use development (Plots A, B, C and G) 
comprising community, retail and commercial uses, including a new village square, and a 
travel hub on the Fairfax Road Public Car Park.  
 
• Outline Planning Permission proposing the erection of a residential led development of 
up to 210 apartments with ground floor retail and community commercial uses within 3 
buildings/ apartment blocks - Plots D, E and F.  
 
The key building blocks of the new 'Prestwich Village' include: 
 

• A Modern Community Hub – Plot A - a new four storey Community Hub is to include a 
new library alongside flexible community space that can be used for events, clubs and 
arts and culture at ground floor. The upper floors would comprise flexible space which 
could be occupied for office or medical use, which will enable the relocation of NHS / GP 
to occupy the building, subject to commercial discussions. Retail floor space is alsosoci 
proposed in a single storey projection. The Community Hub is to become a focal point of 
the village and intended to be a significant community asset with useable space for local 
people. The uses proposed within the proposed Community Hub are as follows: 

• F1 (a-f) - Learning and non-residential institutions, which includes Libraries, Public 
Halls, exhibition halls, public reading rooms, provision of education and public 
worship. 

• E(a) - Retail; 

• E(b) - Sale of food and drink for consumption (mostly) on the premises); 

• E(c) - financial, professional and commercial services;  

• E(e) - Provision of medical or health services; and, 

• E(g) - Uses which can be carried out in a residential area without detriment to its 
amenity: 

• E(g)(i) Offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions 

• E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes 

• E(g)(iii) Industrial processes 

• Sui Generis 'Hot Food Takeaway' 

• Sui Generis 'Drinking Establishment' 
 

• Flexible Retail and Commercial Space – Plot B - two storey flexible retail and 
commercial space is proposed that can cater for the requirements of local and 
independent traders, including both existing and new businesses. The uses proposed 
within the proposed building would include retail (Class E(a), restaurants (Class E(b), 
financial and commercial uses (Class E(c), Indoor sport, recreation or fitness (Class 
E(d), uses which can be carried out in a residential area (Class E(g)), and uses falling 
within Use Class F2(a): Provision of Education. 

 

• A Market Hall - Plot C - a single storey, double height, Market Hall is proposed which 
would provide a ground floor seating area and bar, and spaces for food/retail operators, 
as well as customer amenities and back of house facilities including a wash room, barrel 
store, bin store and staff facilities. A mezzanine level is also proposed for staff welfare 
facilities including a staff room, store rooms and toilets.  The Use Classes proposed 
are: Class E(a) - Retail, Class E(b) - Food and Drink, and Drinking Establishments and 
Hot Food Takeaway (Sui Generis).  

 

• The Village Square – a new Village Square and new public realm would create family 
social places for the community to use. The Village Square can be used flexibly for 
pop-up events such as markets, food festivals, art exhibitions and live performances to 
be a focus of activity and interaction.  

 

Page 10



• Landscaping and Biodiversity - the proposals include significant landscaping, tree 
planting, green roofs and publicly accessible spaces. Extensive planting and new green 
infrastructure is to support a significant increase in biodiversity when compared to the 
current village centre. 

 

• An Active Travel Hub – Plot G - the proposal seeks to be two storeys high to provide 
replacement car parking and to provide secure parking provision for bicycles.  It would 
extend the length of the Fairfax Road Car Park and would be approximately 10.4m high 
at the front of the Travel Hub decreasing in height to approximately 8.6m at its rear.  It 
would provide 301 car parking spaces and 76 cycle parking spaces on the ground and 
first floor levels and also at roof level.  

 

• Residential - Plots D, E and F- the proposal seeks up to 210 new homes (Use Class C3) 
across three plots within buildings that would be between 6 and 7 storeys in height, with 
Plant proposed on the roofs, which would encompass affordable homes and homes for 
first-time buyers, growing families and downsizers. The details of the new housing would 
be agreed at reserved matters stage but could include town houses and apartments with 
active ground floor uses such as retail (Class E), commercial uses (Class F), including 
drinking establishment use(s) and hot food takeaway (Sui-Generis) uses. 

 

• Low and Net Zero Carbon by design - sustainability and carbon reduction proposes to 
be fundamental to the proposals. Proposed measures include new energy and water 
efficient buildings to minimise carbon in operation, the use of sustainable building 
materials to reduce upfront embodied carbon, photovoltaic panels and air source heat 
pumps. 

 
It is proposed that the proposal would be developed in two distinct phases with sub-phases 
therein to be identified in a Phasing Plan to be approved.  The first phase would include 
erection of the Travel Hub, the demolition of the Longfield Centre, and the building of the 
replacement retail/ commercial buildings, the Market Hall, the Community Building and the 
associated village square area.  The second phase would involve erecting the proposed 
residential apartments, along with the associated public realm works. 
 
Given the scale of the proposed development and constrained nature of the site it is 
recommended that the timeframe for submission of a reserved matters application is to be 7 
years, which would then allow the Applicant a further 3 years in which to make a start on the 
outline phase. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
The majority of the Planning History associated with the Site has consisted of minor 
applications for advertisement consent, change of use and minor alterations as part of the 
Longfield Centre. 
 
However, the redevelopment and regeneration of Prestwich Village Centre has been 
proposed since the early 1990s in various formats. Two significant regeneration schemes 
have previously been approved by the Council. 
 
Hollins Murray Group Applications (2009 - Applications references 51465 & 54978) 
 
Application reference 51465 - The Outline Application 
"Demolition of existing buildings and construction of a town centre mixed use development 
comprising uses with floor areas of up to: Food retail (6040sqm), non-food retail (2218sqm) 
restaurant (385sqm), library (1287sqm), offices (3360sqm), residential (3 units), hotel (70 
bed), new Longfield Suite entrance (540sqm), plant areas (421sqm), parking spaces (384) 
and highway infrastructure works and extension of Rectory Lane." 
 
Approved in September 2009, with the permission extended in 2012, under reference 54978 
in 2012 for another 5 years. These proposals were never implemented, and the planning 
permission has now lapsed. 

Page 11



 
1990s Applications 
Capital Holdings Ltd proposed the refurbishment of the Longfield Centre in 1991 and 1992. 
In May 1991 the following planning permission was granted (reference 25292): 
 
"Refurbishment of the Longfield Centre including new shops, re-roofing and servicing 
arrangements". 
 
A revised application was approved in December 1991 (reference 26636), with a further 
revision refused in August 1992 (reference 27452). The proposals were not implemented 
and the planning permission and has lapsed. 
 
 
Publicity 
The application constitutes Major Development with an Environmental Statement. 
 
The application was publicised in accordance with planning requirements and the 
requirements for the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) requirements as the 
application was submitted with an Environmental Statement.  The publicity comprised:  
 
Press Notices: 13/02/2024 
Site Notices: 07/02/2024 
Direct letters to 409 surrounding properties on 07/02/2024 
Revised plans letter issued: 22/05/2024 
Revised Plans Press Notice: 30/05/2024 
Revised Plans Site Notices: 24/05/2024 
 
In total, 156 representations were received comprising: 
Comments – 19 
In favour - 23 
Against - 113 
Petition x 2 – 31 & 152 signatures - The petitions were received from the residents of 
Highfield Road and Highfield Place and from Our Lady of Grace Parish Church and Hall. 
 
All representations can be found on the public file. The below is a summation of main 
relevant planning points made:   
 
Buildings 

• Concerns raised about height, size, appearance and not in keeping with the 
surrounding context, impacts on natural light from high rise, impact upon the 
residential amenity of radius residents and Highfield Roads houses and gardens. 

• Proximity to church on Fairfax Road, development too close and obscures it. 

• Will block light and generate overlooking and impact upon privacy – residential and 
car park. 

• No light assessment done. 

• Disagreement with the architecture chosen given surrounding context. 
 
Scale and Layout 

• More appropriate to a city location – overdevelopment. 

• Distance to walk from car park to shops. 

• Walkways would be too narrow. 

• Cramming too much in / inappropriate mix of residential against retail. 

• Shops are ok, rest of development isn’t providing sufficient uses for all age ranges. 

• Car park too close and impacts negatively on Highfield Roads houses. 

• Metrolink and bus stops not integrated and too far apart to be a walking route. 

• Apartments heavily skewed towards more city centre size rather than suburban town 
centre. 

• Consultation meetings residents preferred lower buildings than the Radius; 

Page 12



disappointing that the scheme includes up to seven storeys. 

• Disappointing arrival from Metrolink. 

• Insufficient provision for servicing and waste refuse storage. 

• The car park is in the wrong place – distance from centre and relationship to OLOG. 

• What will happen if the health centre does not move? 
 
Parking and servicing 

• More disabled parking and drop-off required. 

• Parking likely to overflow on to surrounding residential streets. 

• Servicing can only take place on surrounding roads which will cause obstructions 
and shares pedestrian space, causing a safety risk. 

• Isn’t adequate space for waste and collection of the waste. 

• Needs more parking to be commensurate with all the development proposed on the 
site than shown (following rev plans) 

• Needs less parking to dis incentivise car usage and clarity on how overall car 
parking reduction pro rata will be managed. 

• Such a large car park isn’t needed – charges will deter people from using it. 

• The parking survey excludes weekdays in its conclusions, including only Fri-Sun in 
June and risks misrepresenting as it shows most stays are under 3 hours. Also done 
during a school holiday. Had weekday data been used, findings would have reflected 
longer stay commuter usage. 

• Build the car park in stages to enable monitoring of demand. 

• The added spaces found in the car park will exacerbate Fairfax Road and is based 
on flawed data. 

• Design prohibits bus linking to the Metrolink and development of new bus 
routes/stops. 

• Introduction of parking charges detrimental to local residents. 

• Insufficient parking levels for new residents. 
 
Highways 

• The road reduction works should extend past the school and there’s currently no 
safe place for children to cross the road, which is a concern when school crossing 
patrol staff are on holiday and there’s no cover. 

• Congestion is likely to be chaotic on Fairfax Road and Bury New Road junction. 

• The traffic survey does not consider commuter parking. 

• Active travel proposals are unambitious and not designed to Greater Manchester 
Streets for All design guide. 

• Basic errors in the Transport Assessment e.g. number of trams per hour and it does 
not provide an insight of impact from the development. 

• Should re-design Fairfax Road junction with Bury New Road and Poppythorne Lane; 
junctions will become blocked and unusable. 

• Negligible investment in cycling and walking infrastructure. 

• Close Rectory Lane to traffic and reroute bus/walking/cycle routes to improved bus 
terminus at Metrolink. 

• Don’t narrow Rectory Lane 

• In their letter entitled 'TFGM Comments', TFGM point out (again) that the traffic 
modelling used in the planning application contains significant flaws: 

• "Using town centre sites is not representative of the future development 
location and leads to the determination of trip rates that are lower than what 
would be anticipated for such a location." 

• ".... TFGM maintain their previous comment namely that traffic growth should 
be applied to the assessments". 

• "...TFGM cannot consider the traffic flow diagrams valid as they do not 
include appropriate traffic growth". 

• "The LINSIG modelling needs corrected (sic) before it is able to show 
correctly the impact of the development: the lane structure for Bury New 
Road North heading south shows two full lanes (Arm 1) feeding into two full 

Page 13



lanes (Arm 2) - in reality southbound traffic from the junction is a merge from 
two lanes down to one lane - as such the modelling is over-estimating the 
capacity of Bury New Road Southbound - this should be correctly modelled".  

• "The stages are not modelled correctly - stage two is Fairfax Road and stage 
three is Chester Street". 

 
Land Use 

• Noise arising from car park use and users. 

• Limited space for businesses to grow within the development. 

• Flats are not needed; houses and gardens are. 

• Reduces amount of available community space e.g. library. Type of dwellings per 
acre instead of per hectare 

• How will the redevelopment be managed and keep activity going? 

• Approximately half of the borough’s housing delivery will come from this scheme – 
why all in Prestwich? 

• The food court will be noisy. 

• How much bigger/ smaller is the proposed Public Square than the existing Public 
Square 

 
Other comments 

• What is the overall BNG from the development? 

• Health risk to local residents. Currently air quality stands at the 83rd percentile 
nationally (where 100 is highest) with PM2.5 (a key carcinogen) at 11.51mcg/m3 
over double the WHO limit of 5mcg/m3 (addresspollution.org), thus a worsening of 
air quality. 

• Three petitions received containing one hundred and thirty-five signatures against 
the development. 

• Build the residential and shops first, then this will determine levels of parking 
needed. 

• Gym space needs to be bigger. 

• Increased demands upon local services, NHS and GPs who can’t cope currently. 

• Oppose any new bars, cafes, and restaurants as there are too many already. 

• Disappointing clime and environment perspectives. 

• Re-introduce rooftop garden to the community hub. 

• Retail and community space should not be reduced. 

• What services will be available during construction in terms of phasing? 

• Rents not discussed and Insufficient engagement with businesses. 

• The rolls of honour to war dead should be retained and given a new pride of place. 

• Safety of pedestrians and concerns about crime and disorder from using the 
multi-storey car park. 

• Ensure swift bricks are incorporated. 

• Details are lacking between ideas and aims and actuals of the scheme in the 
masterplan. 

• Ensure that affordable housing is provided. 
 
Support 

• Existing centre is an eyesore. The new development can’t come soon enough and 
greatly supported. 

• Ensure existing traders are looked after – space and business support. 

• Keep the Retreat 

• Increasing population in Prestwich, and the development and new homes are much 
needed. 

• Support new library, event space, hall, greener space, better environment, health 
club. 

• Visually appealing arrival point. 

• Hopefully better nighttime economy generator. 

• Appropriate to move the car parking out of the centre and appropriate phasing. 

Page 14



• Strong improvements to building standards, electric PV, planting, and SuDS. 

• Positive socio-economic outcomes. 

• Makes sense to reduce commuter demand by charging. 

• Net tree gain is good – relocate the existing trees. 

• Supports higher density residential accommodation, SuDs and need for more car 
club spaces than shown. 

• Use of PV and heat pumps 
 
The objectors have been notified of the Planning Control Commitee meeting. 
 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
G M Archaeological Advisory Service - No objections, subject to condition securing the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological works. 
 
Active Travel England - Generally supportive of the initial proposals but raised the 
following areas of concern: 
 
Pedestrian and cycle access 

• The indicative pedestrian crossing points, at the junction of Bury New Road with Fairfax 
Road - these crossings do not have call buttons or pedestrian crossing phases and so 
priority given to pedestrians is limited. Active Travel England recommends 
improvements to this junction as part of this development. 

• Comment that there is a lack of any form of provision for cyclists on the A56 and Fairfax 
Road, their junctions, or indeed other nearby highways that would likely be used for 
cycling trips to or from the site and have reasonable traffic flows (Rectory Lane, Heys 
Road or Heywood Road, for example) which would result in poor provision of access for 
cyclists and only the most confident cyclists are likely to travel to and from the site.  
They recommend that the local authority should consider what improvements might 
result in more people feeling comfortable travelling to the site by active travel modes 
and there would be merit in the applicant assessing the highways and junctions in the 
immediate vicinity of the site to guide these improvements. 

 
Cycle Parking 
Active Travel England recommend a greater number of cycle parking spaces are proposed. 
 
Outline application 
Active Travel England advise that the cycle parking provision proposed is based on the 
Council's Parking Standards SPD that they state is now out-of-date and that the residential 
proposals should be conditioned to provide to accord with LTN 1/20. 
 
Drainage Section - No objections, subject to a surface water management condition and a 
condition requiring details of the proposed Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme (SuDs) and 
how it will be phased/ developed. 
 
Environment Agency - No observations or recommendations received.  
 
Health & Safety Executive (hazard pipelines/sites) - This application does not fall within 
any HSE consultation zones. They have advised there was therefore no need to consult the 
HSE Land Use Planning (LUP) team on this planning application and confirm that the HSE 
LUP team has no comment to make. 
 
Historic England - No comments to make. 
 
GM Fire Service - No comments or observations received. 
 
Design for security - No objections, subject to updated Crime Impact Statements being 
secured at Reserved Matters stage. 
 
GM Ecology Unit (GMEU) - No objections, subject to conditions securing mitigation for the 

Page 15



loss of bird nests present on the Longfield Centre buildings (due to be demolished), 
securing details of an updated Biodiversity Net Gain at reserved matters stage and a 
planting, management and maintenance plan for the proposed green roof on the single 
storey element of the proposed Community Building are secured by planning condition(s). 
 
Conservation Officer - Raises objections to the proposals due to the impact of the 
proposed Transport Hub on views of Our Lady of Grace Roman Catholic Church (OLOG), 
its former Presbytery and Church Hall and loss of views of the tower of St Mary's Grade 1 
listed Church from Prestwich Tram Stop by virtue of one of the apartments blocks removing 
the view of it.  This is discussed in the Heritage Assets section of the report. 
 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No objections, subject to conditions 
requiring intrusive site investigations and any necessary mitigation and verification. 
 
Environmental Health - Pollution Control - No objections, subject to conditions requiring 
separate planning permission to be sought for any necessary external extraction, in the 
interests of design, visual amenity and the amenity of nearby residents, as existing and as 
proposed.  They also recommend a condition be imposed requiring mechanical ventilation.  
 
National Highways - No objections. 
 
Prestwich Village Neighbourhood Forum - Raises the following concerns: 
Residential part of the proposals 

• Concerns about the height and density of the residential part would be more akin to a 
city centre location rather than the suburban town centre of Prestwich. 

• They query who the apartments are aimed at, stating this type of residential is unlikely to 
be attractive to those who wish to establish roots in the area or wish to relocate within 
the existing area. 

 
Transport, parking and accessibility 

• Concern about the scheme having less than the current parking spaces across both 
public car parks, query how the proposed decrease in public parking would be 
managed, particularly regarding its impact on the surrounding roads.  

• They query whether the proposed Transport Hub will charge people to park and 
question what form this would take.  

• They assert that the Travel Hub is a Multi-Storey Car Park and state its location, 
particularly, its northern end, is divorced from other forms of public transport - i.e. the 
bus stops on Bury New Road and the Metrolink station and query whether the proposal 
would deliver integrated and sustainable transport around and to the Centre. 

• They query the assumptions made by the developer and raise concern that the current 
transport and parking proposals will not work. 

 
Retail and community buildings 

• Raise concerns that if the NHS does not occupy the Community Building, the proposed 
office uses may not be appropriate and asserts that the relocation of the existing health 
centre into the Community hub should be an essential part of this development. 

• Asserts there is a significant loss of community space compared to the amount of 
community space in the Longfield Centre and existing library. 

• Queries how the Market Hall would be operated and who by and also how it will be 
serviced. 

• States that there is no information about how traders will be able to continue to trade 
during construction. The independent traders are the strength of Prestwich Village and 
we believe it is imperative that they are supported to sustain their businesses 
successfully during the transitional phases of the redevelopment. 

 
Public Realm 
Query how the ‘open space’ area will be developed to offer opportunities for residents and 
shoppers to rest, relax, meet up, nor is there any evidence what will be provided in the open 
space for children so as they become engaged with the village and play and enjoy the 

Page 16



space.  
 
The Gardens Trust (Historic Amenities Societies) - No objections. 
 
Traffic Section – No objections – See Highway Safety and Transportation Section of the 
Report for information. 
 
Transport for GM – Initially raised concerns on the impact of the proposal on the the 
Fairfax Road/ Bury New Road junction, the safety of pedestrian access to the site and the 
Traffic Modelling used – see Highway Safety and Transportation Section of the Report for 
details. 
 
Transport for GM - Metrolink - No objections, subject to either planning contributions or an 
agreement with the applicant for improvements to the access and lighting to and from the 
Metrolink station.  
 
Tree and Woodland Management Officer - No observations or comments received. 
 
United Utilities - Initially raised objections to the proposed development due to the 
proximity of proposed development to United Utilities assets and apparatus and due to there 
being insufficient information on infiltration testing. UU have recommended planning 
condition accordingly. On receipt of amendments, United Utilities are satisfied with the 
amended Drainage Strategy and therefore have no objections subject to conditions being 
imposed relating to their assets being protected and the drainage for the development being 
carried out in accordance with principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water 
Drainage Design Drawing 2772-CIV-XX-XX-D-C-30003 Rev P 06 - Dated 19.09.23. 
 
Pre-start Conditions - Awaiting confirmation from the agent that recommended 
pre-commencement conditions are acceptable. 
 
Unitary Development Plan and Policies 
Area 
PR1 

The Longfield Centre/Bury New Road 

S1/2 Shopping in Other Town Centres 
S2/2 Prime Shopping Areas and Frontages 
S3/3 Improvement and Enhancement (All Centres) 
EN1/7 Throughroutes and Gateways 
EN6/4 Wildlife Links and Corridors 
HT2/1 The Strategic Route Network 
S2/3 Secondary Shopping Areas and Frontages 
H1/2 Further Housing Development 
H2 Housing Environment and Design 
H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development 
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development 
H3 Incompatible Uses in Residential Areas 
S3/1 New Retail Dev Opportunities Within or Adj Town Centres 
JP-Strat6 Northern Areas 
JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development 
JP-C3 Our Public Transport 
JP-H1 Scale of New Housing Development 
JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing 
H4 Housing Need 
H4/1 Affordable Housing 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN2/3 Listed Buildings 
EN2/1 Character of Conservation Areas 
CF1 Proposals for New and Improved Community Facilities 
CF1/1 Location of New Community Facilities 
CF4 Healthcare Facilities 

Page 17



EC4/1 Small Businesses 
EC4 Small and Growing Businesses 
EC5/2 Other Centres and Preferred Office Locations 
EC6/1 New Business, Industrial and Commercial 
EN1/4 Street Furniture 
EN1/5 Crime Prevention 
EN1/7 Throughroutes and Gateways 
EN1/8 Shop Fronts 
EN10 Environmental Improvement 
EN4 Energy Conservation 
EN4/1 Renewable Energy 
EN4/2 Energy Efficiency 
EN6/3 Features of Ecological Value 
EN6/4 Wildlife Links and Corridors 
EN7/1 Atmospheric Pollution 
EN7/2 Noise Pollution 
EN7/3 Water Pollution 
EN7/4 Groundwater Protection 
HT2 Highway Network 
HT2/1 The Strategic Route Network 
HT2/3 Improvements to Other Roads 
HT2/2 Improvements to the Strategic Route Network 
HT2/5 Public Car Parks 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
HT3 Public Transport 
HT3/1 Schemes to Assist Bus Movement 
HT3/3 Design of Roads for Bus Routes 
HT3/4 Schemes to Assist Metrolink 
HT5 Accessibility For Those With Special Needs 
HT6 Pedestrians and Cyclists 
HT6/1 Pedestrian and Cyclist Movement 
HT6/2 Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict 
HT6/3 Cycle Routes 
OL3 Urban Open Space 
RT2/2 Recreation Provision in New Housing Development 
H4/1 Affordable Housing 
RT2/3 Education Recreation Facilities 
S1/5 Neighbourhood Centres and Local Shops 
S2 Control of New Retail and Non-Retail Development 
S2/6 Food and Drink 
S3 New Retail Dev and Env Improvements 
TC1 Town Centres 
TC2/1 Upper Floors 
TC2/2 Mixed Use Development 
 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
The EIA Regulations require that for certain projects, an EIA must be undertaken. 
Schedule 1 of the 2017 Regulations lists developments that always require EIA. Schedule 
2 of the EIA Regulations lists developments that may require EIA if it is considered that 
they are likely to give rise to significant environmental effects (whether beneficial or 
adverse). 
 
The proposed development is a Schedule 2, Class 10(b) ‘Infrastructure Projects’ - ‘Urban 
development projects' scheme, including the construction of shopping centres and car 
parks, sports stadiums, leisure centres and multiplex cinemas. 
 
The EIA Regulations identify thresholds for Schedule 2 projects to assist with establishing 
whether an EIA is required. For 10(b) Urban Development Projects an EIA may be 

Page 18



required if: 
 
i. The development includes more than 1 hectare of urban development which is not 
dwellinghouse development; or 
ii. the development includes more than 150 dwellings; or 
iii. the overall area of the development exceeds 5 hectares”. 
 
The EIA Regulations require that any development project falling within the description of a 
‘Schedule 2 Development’, must be subject to an EIA where such development is likely to 
have ‘significant’ effects on the environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or 
location. 
 
Given the nature and scale of the proposed development, the Applicant has submitted an 
Environmental Statement (“ES”) in support of the planning application, the scope of which 
was agreed with the Council under a Scoping Opinion, issued on the 28th November 2023. 
 
The agreed scope with the council to be assessed within the ES is as follows: 
 

• Townscape and Visual Effects; 

• Transport; 

• Air Quality; 

• Noise and Vibration;  

• Socio-economics; and, 

• Climate Change 
 
The ES predicts what the significance of each environmental effect would be, which is 
determined by two factors: 

• The sensitivity, importance, or value of the environment (such as people or wildlife); 
and 

• The actual change taking place to the environment (i.e. the size or severity of change 
taking place). 

 
Most environmental disciplines classify effects as negligible, adverse or beneficial, where 
effects are minor, moderate or major. 
 
During the assessment of likely significant effects, the EIA (in line with requirements of the 
EIA Regulations) has considered measures to avoid, prevent, reduce or, if possible, offset 
any identified significant adverse effects - 'mitigations'. Finally, each chapter determines 
whether the level of effect reported is 'significant' or not. This determination is based on 
professional judgment and best practice. 
 
Taking the chapters separately there follows a summary of the predicted significant effects: 
 
Townscape and Visual Effects 
Construction phase - Short term adverse effects on local townscape character and views 
are unavoidable and are likely to take the form of the use of cranes and construction 
activity on and around the site. Effects on surrounding receptors are expected to range 
from Negligible to Moderate Adverse. The construction process would be subject to a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), which would help control and 
minimise these effects.  A condition securing a Construction Management Plan is 
therefore recommended.   
 
Operational phase: Townscape Effects - The baseline assessment identified that at 
present the application site adversely influences local townscape character, for example 
through the general low quality of the Longfield Centre buildings and public realm, the 
surface level car parks, the poor relationship with the tramline and its failure to optimise 
this highly accessible location. The proposal would introduce high quality, highly 
sustainable, landmark buildings into the site and improve the public realm. Effects on the 
local townscape character areas are expected to range from Minor to Moderate Beneficial. 

Page 19



 
Operational Phase: Visual Effects – The proposal would introduce high quality, highly 
sustainable, landmark buildings into the site and improve the public realm with soft 
landscaping and improve pedestrian routes through the site from Bury New Road towards 
the Metrolink, re-establishing historic streets. The visual effects are therefore expected to 
be Minor Beneficial - Not significant. 
 
The ES concludes that although it is acknowledged that the proposals do result in some 
significant adverse effects on a small number of visual receptors and townscape receptors 
during the enabling, demolition and construction works. These receptors are limited to a 
small geographical area, immediately adjoining the site, and are temporary in nature.  
Overall, it has been established that townscape character effects are beneficial once the 
Proposed Development is completed and operational with effects being Significant on a 
number of identified townscape receptors relating to local townscape character, urban 
grain, land use, building heights and site character. Once completed the Proposed 
Development will completely transform the site to a high-quality retail, community, and 
residential hub, that reflects the urban grain, with new local level facilities, street frontages 
and with an enhanced public realm. 
 
Officers agree with the conclusions and recommendations of this Chapter of the ES.  The 
proposal therefore accords with the Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design of the 
Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Transport 
Chapter 8 of the Environmental Statement details an assessment of the effects of the 
Proposed Development on Transport. In particular it identifies and assesses the likely 
significant effects resulting from the Proposed Development on traffic and transport during 
both the demolition, enabling works, construction and operational phases of the Proposed 
Development on the road network within 200m of the site, and the M60 located to 600m to 
the north of the site, was chosen as the study area. 
 
The road network within and immediately surrounding the site area comprises Fairfax 
Road, Rectory Lane and the A56 Bury New Road. 
 
The A56 Bury New Road is a busy main road and often experiences congestion and delay, 
particularly if there is an incident on the motorway. Bury New Road is part of the A56 which 
is a key arterial route linking Manchester City Centre with the orbital M60 Motorway and 
Bury to the north of Prestwich. In the vicinity of the site, Bury New Road comprises a single 
carriageway with one lane in each direction, with additional traffic lanes developing locally 
at junctions to aid turning movements. Bus stops are located on Bury New Road towards 
the south-western corner of the site, just south of Warwick Road. 
 
Fairfax Road and Rectory Lane are both single carriageway roads with one lane in each 
direction. These roads provide local access to the town centre and include connections 
into the town’s two main car parking areas. Pedestrian crossing points are located at key 
positions, linking the car parks to the town’s facilities, and linking with the Metrolink Tram 
Stop adjacent to Rectory Lane where bus stops are also located. Additional bus stops are 
located towards the eastern end of Fairfax Road and on Bury New Road. 
 
The site and surrounding area score a 5 on the Greater Manchester Accessibility Level 
(GMAL) scale. A GMAL of 1 is ‘very low’ and 8 is ‘very high’, a score of 5 indicates the 
area is reasonably accessible by public transport - the Bus and Tram network. 
 
The capacity and operation of the local highway network, in the study area, in the base 
year of 2023 is assessed in the Transport Assessment and is used in the ES assessment 
to show junctions which are sensitive to driver delay.  The ES also assesses the change 
in delay and queue length during the peak hour(s) is used to provide a qualitative 
assessment of driver delay, noting that the peak hours are the hours in which the impact 
will be most significant, from a transport perspective.  

Page 20



 
Potential effects include additional large vehicles on the network associated with 
construction, as well as private vehicles from construction workers. It is acknowledged that 
there will also be ancillary related trips from contractor staff, imports of other construction 
material etc., however this cannot be quantified at this stage. During the course of the 
enabling works and construction period, Light Goods Vehicles (LGVs), Heavy Goods 
Vehicles (HGVs) and potential Abnormal Load Vehicles (ALVs) will be used.  Construction 
vehicles will access the application site via Rectory Lane and Fairfax Road during this 
period. The ES notes Abnormal Load Vehicles are not allowed restricted from travel in 
Greater Manchester from 6:30am to 9:30am and 3:30pm and 6:30pm Monday to Fridays, 
to ensure that traffic can flow on Greater Manchester roads, which includes the A56 Bury 
New Road.   
 
Construction vehicles would access the application site via Rectory Lane and Fairfax Road 
during this period. The anticipated core construction working hours are stated to be as 
follows: 
 

• 07:30 – 18:30 hours on weekdays; 

• 07:30 – 13:30 hours on Saturdays; and 

• No working on Sundays or Bank / Public Holidays. 
 
The impact of temporary additional traffic during each phase of enabling, demolition and 
construction works on the possible impacts of the Proposed Development on delay, 
amenity, fear and intimidation, road users and pedestrian safety is assessed as Negligible 
which is Not Significant.  
 
The assessment takes account of the scale and programme of the work and together with 
measures to be contained in a Construction Environmental Management Plan) (CEMP) 
and Construction Logistics Plan which can be controlled by condition. Indeed, the Local 
Highway Authority and the Council's Environmental Health Officers have recommended 
these conditions be imposed and thus they are duly recommended. 
 
The impact of the temporary additional traffic during each phase of enabling, demolition 
and construction works on the possible impacts of the proposed development on delay, 
amenity, fear and intimidation, road users and pedestrian safety is assessed as Negligible 
which is Not Significant.  
 
Examining the anticipated changes in traffic flows associated with the Proposed 
Development once operational all links would be subject to an increase in traffic flows that 
would be Not Significant in terms of the thresholds suggested by the Institute of 
Environmental Management and Assessment (IEMA) guidelines as all roads on the local 
network would be subject to an increase in traffic flows of less than 10% with the Proposed 
Development in place. 
 
Driver/ Passenger Delay 
IEMA Guidelines note that driver delay may occur at several points on the network, but the 
effects are only likely to be significant when the traffic on the highway network is predicted 
to be at, or close to, the capacity of the system. 
 
The junction model for A56 Bury New Road/Fairfax Road indicates that in the PM peak 
hour the Fairfax Road arm is approaching practical capacity on the Fairfax Road arm in the 
2023 Base scenario. With the addition of Proposed Development traffic, the average delay 
per vehicle at the junction will increase by 1.99 seconds in the busiest hour (weekday PM 
peak hour). The average queue will increase by 2 vehicles on this arm. 
 
This effect is not considered significant, especially as it is noted that the junction operates 
with SCOOT2 which can be optimised to make use of the spare capacity in the junction, 
which will make it work more efficiently. SCOOT is a real-time adaptive traffic control 
system for the coordination and control of traffic signals across and urban road network. It 

Page 21



is used extensively throughout the UK and is already in use at the A56 Bury New 
Road/Fairfax Road junction. 
 
Taking account of receptor sensitivity, the overall effect of the Proposed Development on 
driver delay across the study area is assessed to be of Negligible significance on the 
majority of receptors and therefore Not Significant. The effect of the Proposed 
Development on Fairfax Road is considered to be Minor Adverse significance and 
therefore Not Significant. 
 
Non-motorised User Amenity 
The Proposed Development incorporates new pedestrian and cycle connections through 
the site and increases permability through the area by non-motorised modes. This 
effectively creates new opportunities for existing residents and visitors to travel by 
sustainable modes and represents a clear wider benefit to the accessibility of the area. 
 
Given the above, and the overall improvement of pedestrian and cycling facilities that 
would be introduced, the overall effect of the Proposed Development on pedestrian 
amenity on the road network is assessed to be of Moderate Beneficial significance and 
therefore considered to be Significant. 
 
Fear and Intimidation 
There is no formal guidance on the thresholds for the assessment of fear and intimidation 
experienced by pedestrians and cyclists. The measure of fear and intimidation is based on 
traffic volumes, traffic flow composition and the provision of wider footways or guardrails. 
Therefore, traffic flows of utilising the 30%, 60% and 90% threshold has been used taking 
into account traffic composition and site specific characteristics. 
 
All roads would be subject to an increase in traffic flows of less than 10% and no 
discernible change in composition. Consequently, the effect of the Proposed Development 
on fear and intimidation is assessed to be Negligible on these sensitive receptors. With 
reference to the Fairfax Road junction with the Travel Hub traffic flows would not exceed a 
30% change. It is acknowledged that there would be change in composition with an 
increase in Heavy Duty Vehicle flows. However, this is still below 30% and would not have 
a significant impact on fear and intimidation.  
 
Furthermore, public realm improvements are proposed at this junction which will improve 
the pedestrian and cyclist space for users. On this basis, the effect of the Proposed 
Development on Fear and Intimidation at this junction is assessed to be Minor Adverse 
effect which is Not Significant. 
 
Road User and Pedestrian Safety 
An assessment of road traffic collision data for the latest five-year period has been 
undertaken. The data shows that across the study area the level of reported collisions is 
not abnormally high for the characteristics of the road network, although noting the number 
of collisions suggests an accident cluster at the A56 Bury New Road/Clifton 
Road/Poppythorn Lane junction.  With reference to the increase in traffic flows along Bury 
New Road, this link does not experience an increase in traffic flows of more than 10%. On 
this basis the likely effect of the Proposed Development on road traffic collisions and safety 
is assessed to be of Negligible at all locations and Not Significant. 
 
Mitigations 
Notwithstanding that the effects of the enabling, demolition and construction phases are 
considered to be Negligible and temporary nature, measures will be undertaken during the 
enabling and construction phase to minimise disruption and manage the effects of the 
Proposed Development during both phases of construction.  Such mitigation measures 
will be secured by planning condition in the form of a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) and Construction Logistic Plan.  Suitably worded planning 
conditions are therefore recommended. 
 

Page 22



In summary, the following mitigation measures are recommended as part of the proposed 
development in connection with both the construction and operational phases: 
 

• Adoption of a CEMP to minimise disruption and manage the effects on the local 
highway network to be secured by a suitably worded planning condition. 

• Adoption of a Construction Logistics Plan to manage enabling works / construction 
traffic routing on the local highway network to be secured by a suitably worded 
planning condition.   

• Adoption of a Framework Travel Plan to be secured by a suitably worded planning 
condition.    

• Adoption of a Travel Hub Parking Management Strategy to be secured by a suitably 
worded planning condition.    

• Implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) on local roads if required, to be 
secured by a S106 Obligation. 

 
To conclude, taking account of the identified mitigation measures, traffic associated with 
the Proposed Development would be satisfactorily accommodated and will not give rise to 
any significant adverse effects. In addition, a Moderate Beneficial effect has been identified 
in terms of the amenity of non-motorised users. 
 
National Highways, the Local Highway Authority and Transport for Greater 
Manchester(TfGM) (Highways and Metrolink) raise no objections to the contents and 
conclusion of this Chapter of the ES.  Accordingly, the proposals accord with the key 
principles within policies within the 'Connected Places' section of the Greater Manchester 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.  
 
Air Quality 
Chapter 10 of the Environmental Statement has assessed the effects if the proposed 
development upon air quality. In particular it identifies and assesses the likely significant 
effects resulting from the Proposed Development on air quality during enabling, 
construction and operational phases. 
 
The south-western edge of the site is located within the Bury Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA) which covers large portions of the main roads within the borough, including the 
Bury New Road (A56) located to the immediate west of the Proposed Development site. 
Bury Council declared the AQMA in 2002 for exceedances of the annual mean NO2 
objective and 24-hour mean PM10 objective. It was amended in 2007 to only include 
annual mean NO2. 
 
The main pollutants of concern have been identified as being dust soiling and health 
effects resulting from construction vehicle trackout. The term 'trackout' refers to the 
movement of dust and dirt from a construction/demolition site onto the public road network, 
where it may be deposited and then re-suspended by vehicles using the network. 
 
Dust Soiling 
The surrounding area has a significant density of human receptors, which are potentially 
sensitive to dust soiling and health effects. The overall risk of unmitigated impacts is high 
for demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout. In accordance with the IAQM 
guidance, the 'site specific mitigation' are discussed in Annex I of Appendix 10.1 and the 
'Further Mitigation' section of Chapter 10.  These mitigation measures will need to be 
outlined in an Air Quality and Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) (forming part of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)/ Construction Logistics Plan) and 
approved by Bury Council prior to the commencement of any on-site works. With the 
implementation of these mitigation measures, the impacts from construction activities are 
expected to be Not Significant. The Council's Environmental Health Officers consider 
subject to a separate dust management plan being secured by condition that the impact of 
dust can be minimised to a degree where dust pollution would not significant. 
 
Effects from construction traffic trackout 

Page 23



Measures to control emissions during the construction phase are proposed in a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), and within Appendix 4.3 for a 
Framework CEMP. These mitigation measures would be implemented for both phases of 
the Proposed Development.  A CEMP and a Construction Logistics Plan to minimise the 
effects of both dust and construction vehicle trackout can be secured for each phase via 
planning condition.  Officers agree that such conditions would ensure the effects of dust 
and construction traffic trackout can be minimised by securing such conditions and these 
are therefore recommended to ensure the impact from dust during construction of the 
development is minimised as much as possible. 
 
To conclude, there is no objection from Environmental Health - Pollution Control and 
subject to the recommended condition(s) being secured. the LPA has no reason to 
disagree with the conclusion of the ES. The proposal is considered to accord with Policy 
PF-C5: Clean Air of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan. 
 
Noise and Vibration 
Chapter 9 of the ES assesses the effects of the proposed development on Noise and 
Vibration. It identifies and assesses the likely significant effects resulting from the potential 
noise and vibration impacts during enabling, construction and operational phases from the 
proposed development and whether any mitigations would be necessary. 
 
The identified noise and vibration sensitive receptors in proximity to the site taken into 
account in the assessment include residential properties on Highfield Road and Highfield 
Place, Poppythorn Lane, the Radius Building (including the ground floor uses), Heys Road, 
The Heys, and Rectory Green, and commercial/ other properties; Our Lady of Grace 
Church, Hall and Prestbury, 458-466 Bury New Road, Prestwich Job Centre, and St Mary's 
C of E Primary School. 
 
Enabling, Demolition and Construction Phase 
Noise - The impact of noise during the enabling, demolition and construction of the 
Proposed Development has been predicted and assessed in accordance with BS:5228 
guidance. Impacts from demolition and construction activities are predicted at the closest 
noise sensitive receptors, with temporary negligible to major adverse effects anticipated to 
arise, prior to mitigation.  
 
Taking into account the implementation of Best Practicable Means (BPM) to be secured by 
a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) condition and the 
temporary nature of the works, the resulting residual effect is considered to range from 
Negligible to Moderate-minor, which is not significant. Construction traffic noise effects are 
considered not significant; hence, no mitigation measures to control this impact were 
required. 
 
Officers consider, that subject to a detailed CEMP condition being secured by condition 
there is no reason to disagree with the conclusion made in Chapter 9 of the Environmental 
Statement. 
 
Vibration - Demolition and construction activities that produce vibration may impact 
adjacent buildings. The Framework Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) accompanying the ES has highlighted a number of Best Practicable Means (BPM) 
to minimise the noise and vibration impact on nearby noise sensitive properties.  These 
indicate that subject to a detailed CEMP being secured by condition that the impact on 
residents from noise and vibration can be minimised.  The Council's Environmental Health 
Officers agree with this conclusion and have thus recommended a condition securing a 
both a CEMP and a piling condition. 
 
The Completed and Operational Phase 
During the operation of the Proposed Development, complying with plant noise limits in 
line with guidance provided in BS: 4142 is assessed as Negligible effect on the nearest 
noise-sensitive receptors and therefore not significant. 

Page 24



 
Based on predicted traffic flows, the magnitude of impact for all receptors is assessed as 
negligible in terms of both short and long term traffic changes. This would result in a 
Negligible effect for all receptors and is therefore not significant. 
 
Turning to traffic noise, a noise model has been used to predict traffic and tram noise 
levels at the façade of the proposed development. Internal noise levels would adhere to 
BS 8233 (internal noise levels) through selection of appropriate façade design mitigation, 
such as acoustic glazing. As such, the residual effect is assessed as Negligible and 
therefore not significant. 
 
For the operational phase, all residual effects have considered the potential effects in 
conjunction with compliance with policy and guidance and complying with these through 
design such as suitable glazing specification. For the outline element of the application, it 
is recommended that an Acoustic Design Statement at the detailed design stage, which is 
a recommended planning condition. The ES concludes no significant residual effects.  It is 
considered that that there would also be no significant noise effects during construction or 
operation.  Subject to the recommended planning conditions, Officers agree with the 
conclusion. 
 
Overall, there is no objection from Environmental Health and it is considered that that there 
would also be no significant noise effects during construction or operation.  Subject to the 
recommended planning conditions, Officers agree with the conclusions within Chapter 9 of 
the ES and accordingly consider the proposed development would occur with Policy EN1/7 
- Noise Pollution, of the Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Socio-economics 
This Chapter of the ES considers the potential effects of the proposed development on a 
defined local "Area of Impact" (as defined by the applied methodology) and on the district 
(Bury) socio-economic receptors. The socio-economic effects assessment has been 
conducted based on guidance issued by Homes England (previously the Homes and 
Communities Agency), including the Additionality Guide (2014) and Employment Densities 
Guide, 3rd Edition (2015).  It also, describes the methods used to assess the likely 
significant effects, the baseline conditions currently existing at the site and surroundings, 
the potential direct, indirect, and cumulative effects of the proposed development, and the 
mitigation measures required to prevent, reduce, or offset any identified significant effects 
and the residual effects. 
 
Qualitative and quantitative assessments have been undertaken having regard to 
assessment methodologies from published guidance. The economic impact of the 
proposed development is considered relative to the core catchment area of Prestwich as 
identified by the June 2023 Place Informatics and Civic Engineers report, which has 
utilised GPS data. This analysis identifies a primary catchment area for Prestwich town 
centre. This core catchment area is considered the principal labour market for the 
proposed employment uses and the main community catchment for any proposed social 
infrastructure. Therefore, this catchment area is defined as the local 'Area of Impact' where 
relevant within the assessment. Based on the analysis, the ‘Area of Impact’ (AoI) is made 
up of the M25 and M45 Postcode population in Bury and the M7 Postcode population in 
Salford. 
 
The following receptors have been identified and assessed within the ES: 

• The economy in the local Area of Impact (as defined above) and Bury Local Authority 
area; 

• Construction workforce in the local Area of Impact;  

• The workforce in the local Area of Impact, across all industries; 

• The housing market in the Bury Local Authority area; and 

• The capacity of social infrastructure (schools and healthcare facilities). 
 
It is anticipated that the Proposed Development will result in a range of potentially 

Page 25



significant socio-economic effects during both the Construction and Operational Phases. 
These effects may occur as a direct result of the Proposed Development or through 
indirect effects (supply chain linkages as a result of on-site businesses) and induced 
effects (employees spending in the local economy) in line with HCA guidance. 
 
Enabling, Demolition and Construction Phase 
To deliver the Proposed Development, it is expected there will be construction expenditure 
over an approximately seven-year construction programme up to 2031 (relating to the 
delivery of Phases 1 and 2). Therefore, this effect is considered to be a long-term 
temporary effect during this phase. 
 
Overall, it is estimated that the redevelopment proposals would create 516 net additional 
person years of construction employment (52 FTE net additional jobs) over 7 years.  The 
overall enabling, demolition and construction phase effects of both Phase 1 and 2 is likely 
to have a minor beneficial (not significant) temporary effect in the long-term at the local 
level.  The overall enabling, demolition and construction phase effects of both Phase 1 
and 2 is likely to have a minor beneficial (not significant) temporary effect in the long-term 
at the local level. 
 
The Completed and Operational Development 
The proposed development would contribute to strengthening and diversifying the 
economic base by providing accommodation for a mix of new activities that will stimulate 
business activity.  The ES makes the following conclusions: 
 

• The potential effect on employment is assessed to be a minor beneficial (not 
significant) permanent effect at the local level for both scenarios based on the net 
additional employment in the context of the Area of Impact’s economy.   

 

• Once completed, the Proposed Development is expected to generate between £5.2m 
to £14.4 (2023 prices, undiscounted) of net additional annual GVA depending on the 
use of the flexible space.   

 

• The potential effect on employment is assessed to be a minor beneficial (not 
significant) permanent effect at the local level based on the net additional employment 
that would be created by the proposed development. 

 

• The potential effect on business rates income is assessed to be a Minor Beneficial (not 
significant) permanent effect at the Bury district level.   

 

• The implementation of a range of new residential homes is assessed to have a 
Moderate Beneficial (significant) permanent effect at a Bury district level. The spending 
expected to be generated by new residents is assessed to be a Minor Beneficial (not 
significant) permanent effect at the local Area of Impact.  The additional Council Tax 
income as a result of the new residential homes is assessed to be a Minor Beneficial 
(not significant) permanent effect at the Bury district level.   

 

• In respect of the impact on existing Health Care Capacity an assessment based on 
household size and bedrooms spaces data from the 2021 Census indicates that the 
Proposed Development could accommodate a total of 518 people when fully occupied. 
If this increase was all additional, it would represent an increase of 0.6% on the current 
population of the Area of Impact (88,000). However, this may not be the case as the 
Proposed Development could accommodate new homes taken up by existing residents 
and demands from hidden households (for example, a young person moving out of the 
family home) and reflect changes in household density rather than an increase in 
population. 

 
There are 15 GP Practices within the Area of Impact of the Proposed Development, with a 
total of 66 GPs. This analysis includes the Prestwich Health Centre, which is currently on 
the existing site and has 10 GPs. In total, there are 93,202 residents registered to these 15 

Page 26



GP practices. 
 
The analysis indicates that there is sufficient GP capacity in the local area to deal with the 
additional demand generated by the Proposed Development within either scenario. 
However, the opportunity to re-provide space for GPs at the existing site would help to 
keep the ratio of patients to GPs in the Area of Impact comfortably below (i.e. better than) 
the target levels. For example, it should be noted that the number of patients per GP would 
towards the maximum recommended levels (1,800 patients per GP) if none of the existing 
GPs from the current health facility remain in the Area of Impact. 
 
It should be noted that the assessment of health infrastructure was based on two 
scenarios, one where 4.5 FTE GPs remain from the existing health facility remain in the 
Area of Impact and a second where all 10 FTE GPs remain due to the reprovision of space 
in the proposed development. The proposed development would have a Negligible 
permanent effect on primary healthcare within the Area of Impact, which is considered to 
be Not Significant.  The additional demand generated by the Proposed Development 
together with the potential reprovision of the existing health capacity on site is assessed to 
have an overall Negligible (not significant) permanent effect at a local level. 
 
In respect of the likely effect on primary and secondary school places the increased 
residential population of the proposed Development would result in an increased demand 
for Primary school and Secondary school places.  However, the additional demand on 
both primary and secondary school places from the proposed development is assessed to 
be a Negligible (not significant) permanent effect at the local level.  
 
The assessment of socio-economic benefits has identified a Moderate Beneficial effect 
following completion and operation of the proposed development, particularly resulting 
from the proposed new homes in the local authority area, which is concluded to be 
Significant. In light of the above, Chapter 6 of the Environmental Statement (ES), 
concludes that there would be no adverse significant effects from a socio-economic 
perspective. All socio-economic effects from the proposed development would be positive.  
Climate Change 
The ES assesses the effects of the Proposed Development on Climate Change. In 
particular it identifies and assesses the likely significant effects resulting from and upon the 
Proposed Development regarding Climate Change and Greenhouse Gases (GHGs). 
 
Enabling, Demolition and Construction Phase 
The assessment demonstrates there would be no likely significant GHG effects (only minor 
adverse effects), further mitigation would include a detailed assessment of regulated and 
unregulated loads, as well as consumption sources, to identify opportunities for energy 
consumption reduction through operational and management strategies. 
 
An assessment of embodied carbon has been completed for Plots A, B and C to inform 
design development. Should planning permission be approved, this assessment process 
would continue through to RIBA Stage 4 Technical Design (post planning) to reduce 
embodied carbon as far as practicable. 
 
Phase 2 of the proposed development forms part of the outline element and so further 
mitigation would be secured through design development e.g. developing proposals that 
support a net zero carbon trajectory through compliance with the latest building regulations 
and seeking to target improved levels of performance where possible. The Outline 
proposals for residential development above retail and commercial development, would 
also be required to comply with Policy JP-S2: Carbon and Energy, of the Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan.  Taking account of the embedded mitigation measures 
and the further mitigation / enhancement measures set out above, the residual effects of 
the proposed development would be Not Significant. 
 
The release of GHG emissions from the operation of the Proposed Development (for both 
Phases 1 and 2) is assessed as being Negligible which is Not Significant, taking into 

Page 27



account of the embedded mitigation measures identified which form part of the design of 
the proposals. 
 
For the Construction Phase, in accordance with the stated IEMA methodology, the project 
is evaluated to have a Minor Adverse effect that would be Not Significant.  For the 
Operational Phase, the Proposed development is expected to have reduced operational 
emissions, compared to the baseline, of 355.75 tCO2e/yr, thus having a similarly 
Negligible impact locally and nationally. 
 
During Construction, in accordance with the stated IEMA methodology, the project is 
evaluated to have a Minor Adverse effect that is not significant; it is in compliance with 
up-to-date policy and good practice guidance reduction measures, so is deemed to be 
compatible with the budgeted, science-based 1.5.C trajectory (in terms of rate of emissions 
reduction) i.e. the UK's net zero trajectory. 
 
As the proposed development's operational net GHG impacts would be below zero and it 
would cause a reduction in atmospheric GHG concentration, compared to the 
without-project baseline, the operational development proposed is deemed to have a 
beneficial effect and a positive climate impact. 
 
The Complete and Operational Development Phase 
The total anticipated emissions associated with the completed and operational stage of the 
proposed development (combing Phases 1 and 2), relating to the operation of the buildings 
across local, regional and national scales, the magnitude of effect is considered to be 
negligible. Therefore, the operational CO2 emissions would be likely to have a direct, 
permanent, long-term, adverse effect which is considered to be Negligible, which is 
classed Not Significant.   
 
To conclude, Officers have no reasons to disagree with the contents, recommendations 
and conclusions of Chapter 11 of the ES.  The proposal therefore accords with the 
relevant requirements of Policies JP-S1: Sustainable Development and JP-S2: Carbon and 
Energy of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Places for Everyone Plan. 
 
Conclusion 
According to the EIA Regulations, the Local Planning Authority (LPA) should reach a 
reasoned conclusion on the individual and cumulative significant effects and this 
conclusion should be integrated into the decision as to whether planning permission 
should be granted. If it is to be granted, the LPA should consider whether it is appropriate 
to impose monitoring measures. These effects are therefore considered in the planning 
balance discussion later in this report. 
 
Principle of Development 
The application site comprises the Longfield Shopping Centre and Car Park, Fairfax Road 
Car Park and adjoining land at Bury New Road, Rectory Lane, and Fairfax Road.  
 
Retail 
Paragraph 90 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that planning policies and 
decisions should support the role that town centres play at the heart of local communities, 
by taking a positive approach to their growth management and adaptation.  
 
Paragraph 90(a) further states that planning policies should promote the long-term vitality 
and viability of town centres by allowing them to grow and diversify in a way that can 
respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries, allows a suitable mix of uses 
(including housing) and reflects their distinctive characters.  
 
Under Unitary Developmment Plan (UDP) 'Policy Area PR1', the Council will encourage 
and support proposals for retailing and other appropriate ancillary town centre uses within 
the Longfield Centre and the Bury New Road area of the Town Centre. UDP Policy S1/2 - 
'Shopping in Other Town Centres', seek to maintain and strengthen the retail role of 

Page 28



Prestwich and support modest increases in shopping floorspace, however, the main 
emphasis will be on consolidation and enhancement.  
 
Under UDP Policies S2/2 - 'Prime Shopping Areas and Frontages' and S2/3 - 'Secondary 
Shopping Areas and Frontages', the Council seeks to maintain retailing as the 
predominant use at ground floor level within Primary and Secondary Shopping Areas 
Under UDP Policy S3/1/29 - 'New Retail Development Oppurtunities Within or Adjoining 
Town Centres', the Council considers the small infill space within the Longfield Centre as 
suitable for retail purposes.  
 
Whilst the proposal is to demolish the existing Longfield Centre, the redevelopment 
proposes new retail floorspace including a Market Hall and a range of different sized retail 
units to suit independent retailers.   
 
The site is situated in an identified town centre location and therefore there is no need to 
undertake a sequential or impact test in accordance with the NPPF.  
 
The new market building would be located in the centre of scheme and would be 
surrounded by the smaller units. It is proposed to locate all the retail units within the 
proposal at ground floor level generating more activity within the existing primary and 
secondary shopping area frontage(s). Given the above, it is considered that the proposals 
are in conformity with UDP policies PR1 - 'The Longfield Centre/ Bury New Road, S1/2 - 
'Shopping in Other Town Centres', S2/2 - 'Prime Shopping Areas and Frontages', S2/3 - 
'Secondary Shopping Areas and Frontages' and S3/1/29 - 'New Retail Oppurtunities Within 
or Adjoining Town Centres'. 
 
Policy JP-Strat 6 – 'Northern Areas' of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Joint 
Development Plan places a strong focus on making as much use as possible of suitable 
previously developed land, through urban regeneration and enhancing the role of town 
centres in northern areas.  
 
The redevelopment proposals for Prestwich town centre seek to develop the town centre 
as a hub for the local community, improve transport connections, diversify the retail, leisure 
and food and drink offer and provide new homes and commercial spaces to live and work. 
 
The community hub would provide space for commercial uses, a library, community event 
space and retail spaces and there is the potential for healthcare facilities to also be 
co-located. It is proposed to locate the community and retail spaces at ground floor level to 
help provide footfall in the proposed village square.  
 
The market hall would provide a mix of space for food retailers and smaller retail units. 
This would help to diversify the retail and food and drink offer and help to diversify the 
evening economy.  
 
The consolidation of the two car parks into a mobility/ transport hub would unlock the 
existing surface level car parks for new homes which would help to retain and attract 
residents to Prestwich, increasing footfall and local spend.  
 
The Public realm improvement works create public spaces which can be used for a variety 
of events and encourage people to the town centre. Given the above it is considered the 
proposals accord with the NPPF and will make a positive contribution to help support the 
long-term vitality and viability of Prestwich Town Centre. 
 
The application seeks to deliver a new village centre by regenerating previously 
development land and buildings which will enhance Prestwich’s role as a town centre 
within the borough.  
 
Given the above, it is considered that the proposals are in conformity with UDP policies 
PR1, S1/2, S2/2, S2/3 and S3/1/29, and Policy JP-Strat 6 of the PfE Joint Development 

Page 29



Plan 
 
Residential 
The residential element of the application is in outline only and proposes up to 210 
residential units.  
 
The residential proposals incorporate commercial uses at ground floor level, which would 
be in accordance with UDP Policy S2/2, with residential apartments proposed above.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be treated as a material planning 
consideration, and it emphasises the need for local planning authorities to boost the supply 
of housing to meet local housing targets in both the short and long term.  The Framework 
states that unless they have an adopted plan that is less than five years old that identified 
a five year supply of specific deliverable sites at the time of conclusion of the examination, 
then local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
developable sites to provide either a minimum of five years' worth of housing, or a 
minimum of four years' worth of housing in certain circumstances set out in NPPF 
paragraph 226.  
 
The joint Places for Everyone Development Plan was adopted with effect from 21 March 
2024 and sets the up-to-date housing requirement for Bury against which the deliverable 
supply of housing land must be assessed. PfE Policy JP-H1 sets the following stepped 
targets for Bury: 
 
- 246 homes per year from 2022-2025; 
- 452 homes per year from 2025-2030; then 
- 520 homes per year from 2030-2039. 
 
Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment sets out the latest housing supply 
position, which is made up of sites that have an extant planning permission and sites that 
have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. This shows that there are a 
number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a significant amount of 
housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the deliverable land supply 
calculations as many sites will take longer than five years to come forward and be fully 
developed (e.g. some large sites could take up to ten years to be completed). In addition to 
the housing land supply in the SHLAA, the joint Places for Everyone Plan allocates 
significant strategic sites for housing within Bury and will accelerate housing delivery within 
the Borough to meet housing needs. 
 
Following the adoption of Places for Everyone, the Council is now able to demonstrate a 
minimum deliverable 5 year supply of housing land when assessed against the adopted 
PfE housing requirement. 
 
However, the National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test, 
which is an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years 
against the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was 
substantially below (less than 75%) the housing requirement over the previous years, this 
needs to be taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published 
by the Government show that Bury has a housing delivery test result of less than 75%, and 
therefore, this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining applications for 
residential development. 
 
Therefore, paragraph 11d) of the National Planning Policy Framework is relevant in the 
assessment of this proposal.  It states that where there are no relevant development plan 
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the application are 
out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless: 
 
i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular 
importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

Page 30



 
ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, taken as a whole. 
 
The site is considered to be in a sustainable location for housing within the urban area and 
sitting outside the Green Belt. The national requirement to significantly boost the supply of 
housing under the NPPF is a material consideration that would favour the residential 
development of this part of the site in principle.The titled balance is engaged in line with 
paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the NPPF which directs that planning permission should be granted.   
Conclusion 
It is clear from all of the above that the proposals seeks to regenerate this portion of 
Prestwich and replace the buildings forming the Longfield Centre, as well as provide a 
number of new homes in a location that is considered to be highly accessible, due to its 
proximity to Prestwich Tram Station and the Bus Stops on Bury New Road, a main public 
transport route.  The proposals are therefore acceptable in principle.  
 
Affordable Housing 
The residential element of the proposal is in outline and as yet, no details other than the 
upper limit of the number of apartments is proposed (up to 210 dwellings). 
 
PfE Policy JP-H2 - 'Affordability of New Housing' seeks to maximize the delivery of 
additional affordable homes and support the provision of affordable housing as part of new 
developments (avoiding where possible clusters of tenure to deliver mixed communities). 
UDP Policy H4/1 - Affordable Housing and its associated SPG5 - Affordable Housing 
Provision in New Residential Developments require 25% of new housing on schemes of 25 
or more units to be provided as Affordable Housing. NPPF paragraph 66 expects at least 
10% of the total number of homes to be available for affordable home ownership (subject 
to limited exemptions). The Government's Written Ministerial Statement published on 24th 
May 2021 and the Council's interim First Homes Policy Position Statement require 25% of 
affordable housing to be provided as First Homes (subject to limited exceptions). The 
definition of affordable housing is set out in NPPF Annex 2. 
 
As the residential element of the application is in outline with all matters reserved, it is not 
possible to ascertain the exact number and mix of housing, which would be determined at 
the reserved matters stage if Members are minded to approve the application. As such, it 
is not possible to ascertain which specific units would be affordable at this stage. A 
condition is recommended to be included on the decision notice to ensure that a scheme 
to secure the affordable housing in accordance with relevant policy is submitted at 
reserved matters stage. 
 
Heritage Assets (Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas and Archaeology) 
In accordance with the statutory duty in section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in determining the planning application it is necessary for 
the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
buildings or their settings or any features of special architectural or historic interest they 
possess.  Preservation in this context means not harming the historic interest which the 
building possesses, as opposed to keeping it completely unchanged. The duty under 
section 72(1) provides that, with respect to any buildings or other land in a Conservation 
Area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area in decision making. 
 
The environmental objective of the NPPF means protecting and enhancing the built and 
historic environment. Indeed, conserving heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their 
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this 
and future generations is a core planning principle. Significance derives not only from a 
heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. The heritage interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. 
 
Section 16 of the NPPF, ‘Conserving and enhancing the historic environment’, requires 

Page 31



applicants to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected by proposed 
development and states that “When considering the impact of a proposed development on 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation … This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance” (paragraph 199). It sets 
out in paragraph 205 that “Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 
should require clear and convincing justification…” Paragraph 206 states “Where a 
proposed development will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal …” 
 
UDP Policy EN1/2 - 'Townscape and Built Design', EN2/1 - Character of Conservation 
Areas' and EN2/3 - 'Listed Buildings' of the UDP discuss development in relation to a 
heritage considerations. 
 
The application site does not contain any statutory listed buildings nor is it within a 
Conservation Area, although the site is located close to the southern boundary of the 
Poppythorn Conservation Area, which is sited on the opposite side of the Metrolink line, 
approximately 300 metres from the application site. There are a number of 
Non-Designated Heritage Assets (NDHAs) adjacent to the site and the Grade I listed St 
Mary's Church is approximately 350 metres to the south-west of the site.   
 
Paragraph 200 of the Framework states: 
 
“In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to 
describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made 
by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and 
no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their 
significance”. 
 
A Heritage Assessment accompanies this application which has been reviewed by 
Officers.  The respective heritage assets that need to be considered as part of this 
assessment are discussed below. 
 
Archaeology 
The application site does not contain any designated heritage assets but is located 
between two conservation areas and is of some historical and archaeological interest, not 
least for having been a centre for the cottage-based silk handloom-weaving industry during 
the 17th and early 18th centuries. The earlier history of the application site is not well 
understood, although the projected line of the Roman road between the forts at 
Manchester and Ribchester is thought to follow the approximate line of Bury New Road 
whilst St Mary's Church, founded in 1231 and situated some 200m to the south-west of the 
Longfield Centre, is known to have been a focus for medieval activity in the area. Any 
surviving remains of the medieval and / or post-medieval landscape would be of some 
archaeological interest and establishing the potential for any such remains to survive 
warrants further investigation. 
 
The application is supported by an archaeological desk-based assessment that sets out 
the historical development of the application site.  The archaeological assessment 
identified a high potential for the application site to retain archaeological remains deriving 
from the 18th- and 19th-century development of the area, including workers' housing, 
various industrial buildings and a police station, together with a lower potential for remains 
deriving from the Roman and medieval periods. The report concludes that it would be 
appropriate to undertake further investigation of the application site in advance of 
construction work. Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMASS) concurs 
with this conclusion and thus a planning condition to secure an initial phase of evaluation 
trenching that will aim to establish whether any buried remains of archaeological interest 
survive intact. In the event of significant remains being uncovered in the initial trenches, a 

Page 32



second phase of more detailed excavation and recording is considered to be warranted, in 
accordance with paragraph 211 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
GMAAS accepts that any below-ground archaeological remains that do survive across the 
application site will not be of national importance requiring preservation in-situ, and 
therefore archaeological interests can be secured through a condition attached to planning 
consent.  A suitably worded condition is therefore recommended. 
 
Impact on non-designated heritage assets 
Adjacent to the Fairfax Road car park exists a group of traditional buildings known as, Our 
Lady of Grace Church, Hall and Presbytery, Fairfax Road.   
  
A number of other non-designated heritage assets exist along Bury New Road, including 
the Liberal Club opposite Marks and Spencer's Food, the Nat West Bank and Managers 
House, Bury New Road/ Clifton Road, Barclays Bank, Bury New Road, Railway and 
Naturalist Public House, Bury New Road, The White Horse Public House. 466 Bury New 
Road, and the Istanbul Restaurant (formerly the Wilton Arms Hotel) the gable of which 
abuts the Bury New Road boundary of the application site. 
 
Given the proximity of the site to the identified non-designated heritage assets, paragraph 
209 of the National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 (NPPF) should be 
considered when assessing this application.  Paragraph 209 states: 
 
“The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should 
be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly 
or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset”. 
 
The Our Lady of Grace Church (OLOG), Church Hall and former Presbytery form a group 
value of non-designated heritage assets.  It is accepted that the setting of this group has 
been compromised in recent years by the Radius development, but the group has retained 
a positive element to its setting with the openness of the adjacent car park preserving 
views from the car park itself, Fairfax Road, Rectory Lane and the junctions of Fairfax 
Road and Rectory Lane as well as filtered and kinetic views from the Metrolink Line when 
arriving and departing Prestwich tram stop. It is considered the views from and along 
Fairfax Road and from Rectory Lane are the most sensitive to changes brought about by 
the proposed travel hub.    
 
The group currently retains a level of setting that is beneficial to its associative/communal 
and historic interest providing a tangible significance in how the building is experienced, 
the group of buildings have a visual experience when approached along established routes 
of access as in Fairfax Road, Rectory Lane and the adjacent car park. The proposed 
Travel Hub would harm this element of the groups' setting, reducing the ability to 
appreciate the building and therefore how it is experienced.   
 
The applicant asserts that the Fairfax Road car park is a negative feature within the groups 
setting and that because harm may have already been caused to its setting by the Radius 
development further harm would be acceptable.  Officers do not agree with this approach 
for the reasons provided above. 
 
The applicant also asserts that the proposed Travel Hub would cause negligible harm to 
the setting of this group of non-designated heritage assets.  Officers do not agree with the 
applicants reasoning.  The proposed Travel Hub would obscure the majority of the east 
facing side elevation of this group of buildings, albeit it is proposed to be set back behind 
the projecting gable of the Parish Hall.  Therefore, Officers consider the proposal would 
have a moderate, albeit a less than substantial harm on this group of buildings. 
 
As directed by paragraph 209 of the NPPF, in weighing applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 

Page 33



having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
Poppythorn Conservation Area 
The existing townscape and dense tree canopy along Poppythorn Lane provide complete 
screening of the proposed development. Although there is potential for increased visibility 
during the winter months when the trees are not in leaf, it is considered that the density of 
the tree cover and the raised embankment of the Metrolink is likely to retain a screening 
function that limits potential visual impacts. Consequently, it is considered that the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area will not be impacted by the proposed 
development. 
 
Impact on the setting of the Grade I listed St Mary's Church 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
Local Planning Authorities in the exercise of their planning functions to have special regard 
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
Paragraph 206 of the NPPF states any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 
should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:  
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional;  
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, 
registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and 
gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional.   
 
Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use. 
 
The Parish Church of St Mary the Virgin, Prestwich is Grade I Listed and as such is a 
building of significant national importance.   
 
St Mary's Church tower had been visible historically in views from Prestwich tram stop but 
is now, at certain times of the year, screened by self-seeded, unmanaged deciduous trees 
which occupy a vacant site once occupied by the National School, between Rectory Lane 
and Bury New Road.  The trees are considered to be a transient feature in that when the 
site is re-developed the trees would be removed restoring historic views.  The proposed 
residential blocks, while only proposed in outline and indicated to be up to 6 or 7 storeys in 
height would permanently remove that view of the church in its wider setting representing 
harm to its significance.  Within the terms of paragraph 208 of the NPPF this harm is 
considered to represent less than substantial harm.   
 
The applicant has also identified that less than substantial harm would be caused to the 
setting of the church but has not quantified this harm within the terms of paragraph 208 of 
the NPPF.  Nevertheless, Officers consider that the harm to the setting of St Mary's 
Church would be less than substantial harm. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 208 of the NPPF, where a development proposal will lead to 
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  This balancing exercise is 
undertaken towards the end of this report. 
 
Highway Safety and Transportation 
The application site is within the defined Town Centre of Prestwich, as defined by the 
Unitary Development Plan and is accessed on foot and by vehicle from three highways; 
A56 Bury New Road, Fairfax Road and Rectory Lane.  The current car park located 
adjacent to the Metrolink line is accessed off Fairfax Road with the car park adjacent to the 
Longfield Centre, is accessed from Rectory Lane. 

Page 34



 
A car park for users of the Metrolink is located opposite the existing Longfield Centre Car 
Park. 
 
Section 9 of the NPPF considers matters relating to ‘Promoting sustainable transport’. 
NPPF paragraph 115 states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 
Policy JP-Strat14: 'A Sustainable and Integrated Transport Network' of the Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan advises that higher densities will typically be appropriate 
in locations with good access to rapid transit connections. New development will have a 
significant role in delivering our future sustainable and integrated transport network to 
reduce car dependency and increase levels of walking, cycling and public transport. 
 
Policy JP-C8: Transport Requirements of New Development states that new development 
will be required to be located and designed to enable and encourage walking, cycling and 
public transport use, to reduce the negative effects of car dependency, and help deliver 
high quality, attractive, liveable and sustainable environments. 
 
The Prestwich Metrolink stop is immediately adjacent to the site and therefore the density 
of the residential development proposed reflects that, in accordance with the principles of 
the Places for Everyone Development Plan. 
 
The site is located within 400m walking of the Prestwich Metrolink which provide 
connections to Bury, Manchester Piccadilly and Altrincham. It is an accessible station. 
Tram services arrive every 12 minutes so there are 8 trams per hour. 
 
On the A56 Bury New Road, the bus stops serve routes 90, 94, 95, 97, 98, X41 and X43. 
The southbound bus stop additionally serves route 66. These bus stops each serve 11-13 
buses per hour providing regular connections to Manchester city centre and other local 
centres. In the vicinity of the Site the stops have shelters and seating. There are two bus 
stops in Fairfax Road that serve routes 90 and 94, with 1 service each per hour. There is a 
bus stop on Rectory Lane (making use of the layby) next to the Park and Ride that serves 
route 66, which is served by 1 bus per hour. 
 
A key principle of the proposals is to remove the existing car parking from the village 
centre and relocate it within the proposed Travel Hub. The quantum of car parking has 
been derived from parking survey data collected in 2023 and a Car Parking Management 
Strategy has been prepared to set out key principles. Relocating the car parking into the 
Travel Hub would give back the streets to pedestrians and cyclists and enhance the 
permeability for walking and cycling in and around the site. To support this, 95 cycle 
spaces would be provided across the detailed element of the masterplan, with a potential 
for a further 210, as a minimum, to serve the residential development which is part of the 
outline proposals. 
 
In terms of the site's accessibility to the public transport network, the application site is in a 
highly accessible location and is a location where new housing should be located.   
 
Due to the proposal to regenerate the Longfield Centre site and also propose up to 210 
residential apartments, the application has been submitted with a Transport Assessment 
and Travel Plan in order to assess the impact of the proposal on the highway network. 
 
The Transport Assessment concludes that traffic flows have been assessed for up to date 
levels, and whilst the location has capacity issues based on a robust view of the flows, no 
capacity issues are expected to arise with the adjacent junctions to the site. As such the 
scheme would have little or no impact on the local network. As such, National Highways 
have raised no objections to the proposal even though the site is only approximately 650 
metres from the A56 junction with the M60.   

Page 35



 
Original Proposals 
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) provided its initial comments upon the planning 
application and accompanying Environmental Statement (ES). Within this document, the 
LHA set out its initial comments and observations and had a number of concerns in 
relation to - 
 
Parking – level of provision, scope of surveys, methodologies used 

• The scheme rather presented a like for like replacement of parking and demands for 
parking were based upon an incorrect floorspace of existing available retail space. 

• Compared to pre-app scheme, the submitted scheme showed a reduction in 
scale/height and removal of the upper deck) of the new Travel Hub, only 275 parking 
spaces are now proposed, incorporating 20 accessible spaces, 26 EV charging spaces 
and 2 spaces for the City Car Club (along with 76 secure cycle spaces). 

• Only a 30% provision relates to the residential element. 
 
Trip Generation and Traffic - Details 

• TfGM are of the view that if the Bury Local Authority boundary is taken into 
consideration on its own, then Bury Town Centre would be the town centre location 
and not Prestwich. Using town centre sites is not representative of the future 
development location and leads to the determination of trip rates that are lower than 
what would be anticipated for such a location. Bury LHA will have to consider this 
representation.   

• In terms of traffic growth, TfGM maintain their previous comment that traffic growth 
should be applied to the assessments. Growth including 2023 is shown by the 
permanent data count data located in the vicinity of the development. Bury LHA will 
have to consider this representation. Bury LHA agree with the stance taken by TfGM. 
In order for the LPA/HA to take a view on this issue, this needs to be responded to and 
figures/numbers/impact on queues on the Key Route Network submitted to determine 
whether the applicant’s highway consultant’s proposed approach is acceptable.   

• TfGM comments on diagrams, Traffic regulation orders to be introduced, construction 
traffic management plan. 

 
Active Travel 

• In order to maximise the benefits of the site’s location, it should be ensured that the 
pedestrian and cycling environment, within and around the site, is designed to be as 
safe, attractive and convenient as possible, including natural surveillance where 
possible. This should provide sufficient links to the surrounding pedestrian and cycle 
networks. Pedestrian access to the site is limited by the lack of any signalised 
pedestrian facilities at the junction of Bury New Road – Fairfax Road. These should be 
provided by the developer.   

• Any footways less than 2.0 metres are sub-standard and not providing enough width 
for pedestrians and other users of the footways. This issue should be addressed as 
part of the development. Provision of continuous 2-metre-wide footways throughout 
and surrounding the development.   

• From the information provide the cycle access to the site is poor – provision should be 
made for improving the cycle infrastructure for accessing the site.  

• Cycle parking – how the short-stay cycle parking is to be kept safe and secure should 
be explicitly described.  

• It is noted that there have been two pedestrian KSIs at this junction. Note that there are 
no funded plans to add signalised pedestrian facilities to the junction.   

• The Local Highway Authority (LHA) agrees with these observation. Whilst (a different 
part of) TfGM are looking at junction improvement here, due to the close proximity of 
the site to this junction and pedestrian movement that this development will generate 
across the A56, proposals to upgrade the identified junction needs to form part of the 
off-site mitigation measures required of this proposal, secured through a 
pre-commencement condition in the event that planning consent is granted or via the 
S106 Agreement.  

Page 36



• The need for Travel Plans 
 
General Comments 

• Concerns around the ‘Pedestrian Zone solution’, with vehicular access in restricted 
hours (to be confirmed) within ‘Prestwich Village’, controlled by removable bollards, 
with the type of bollard and operational strategy to be determined via a Development 
Access and Management Strategy. Control can be secured by a suitably worded 
planning condition. 

 
Amendments and Mitigations 
On a complex scheme, none of the above is unexpected and it is commonplace for 
amendments and clarifications to be sought for such matters. This resulted in a number of 
discussions with the applicant and amendments were sought. As part of the amendments, 
it is considered that the nature of changes would not undermine the scope and nature of 
the submitted ES. The applicant did provide amended plans and reports to clarify matters 
and an additional highways mitigations document was submitted [dated 07 June 2024], 
including; 
 

• A very up to date Transport Assessment being produced, dated 07 June 2024 
considering the uplift in parking provision and other mitigations. 

• A commitment (if needed) to the establishment and management of residents parking 
zones has been proposed.   

• Parking provision has been increased and mitigation measures now proposed in the 
form of a Parking Management Strategy and potential RPZ. This is recognised as an 
important mitigation in the event of managing parking displacement that may arise as a 
result of elements of the scheme removing parking provision and the modal shift 
underachieving.  

• Travel plans are proposed, including for the residential element.as suggested by 
consultees. 

 
Comments were raised by the LHA and others on the scope of the surveys undertaken in 
support of the application. It was recommended additional traffic surveys were  
undertaken to further inform the decision-making process.  However, the increased car 
parking provision and mitigation measures proposed give the Highway Authority 
appropriate comfort that the proposal can now be supported. 
 
It is recognised that the scale of development proposed here and the location of the 
development is within a highly sustainable location. This includes good access to public 
transport of bus services on the Key Road Network (KRN) and also the Metrolink. 
Moreover, there are good cycling provisions in the area and forming part of the 
development under consideration. In this sense, the scheme is seeking to uphold the 
principles of the 2040 Transport Strategy, which is an important step to encouraging modal 
shift. 
 
There is also a balance required in terms of parking provision. It is considered that the 
scheme should provide an appropriate level of parking provision, which the travel hub now 
has been re-examined by the application and lifted the number of parking spaces by circa 
10%. Given the scale of the development proposed, it is considered that this uplift together 
with a significant level of other transport/sustainable mitigation measures still provides a 
reasonable level of parking provision and is a rational approach to the 2040 Transport 
Strategy. 
 
To encourage sustainable travel choices, a full Travel Plan with effective measures for 
bringing about modal shift, i.e. the use of incentives, provision of onsite and offsite 
infrastructure, along with a clear monitoring regime with agreed targets, is proposed. The 
development proposes and states the following: 
 

• An uplifted parking provision to 341 (301 in the travel hub and 40 elsewhere within the 
site) 

Page 37



• 15 spaces in the hub to be accessible 

• 89 dedicated resident spaces (63 in the hub and 26 on plots D, E and F) 

• The travel hub itself to contain EV charging  

• Minimum of 2 Car club spaces for residents and general public use. This will utilise 
access to wider networks of car clubs if the on site provision is not available. Growth of 
this provision to follow increased demand  

• 76 Safe and secure cycle parking and store covered by CCTV 

• Parcel lockers, information boards, Metrolink and bus services are to remain; 

• Dedicated staff room, storage and plant room to support the hub and a management 
strategy 

• Travel plan measures for Prestwich Village including funding for discounted/free public 
transport tickets for residents and employees 

• Travel plan coordinator 

• Embedded design principles that seek to reduce private car and encourage other 
modes of transport e.g. clear legibility, the hub, metrolink proximity, bus stop locations 

• Cycle and scooter principles and initiatives including : 

• Hosting of 6-monthly Dr Bike sessions, where a mechanic is on site and will fix 
resident and employee cycles for free (funded by the Travel Plan).  

• A fund for cycle training for residents and staff to potentially link with TfGM 
Bikeability scheme which is a cycle training programme aiming to build 
confidence in riding and fixing your bike and safety awareness.  

• To encourage sustainable travel choices, a full Travel Plan with effective 
measures for bringing about modal shift, i.e. the use of incentives, provision of 
onsite and offsite infrastructure, along with a clear monitoring regime with 
agreed targets, is proposed. The development proposes and states the 
following: 

• An uplifted parking provision to 341 (301 in the travel hub and 40 elsewhere 
within the site) 

• 15 spaces in the hub to be accessible 

• 89 dedicated resident spaces (63 in the hub and 26 on plots D, E and F) 

• The travel hub itself to contain EV charging  

• Minimum of 2 Car club spaces for residents and general public use. This will 
utilise access to wider networks of car clubs if the on site provision is not 
available. Growth of this provision to follow increased demand  

• 76 Safe and secure cycle parking and store covered by CCTV 

• Parcel lockers, information boards, Metrolink and bus services are to remain; 

• Dedicated staff room, storage and plant room to support the hub and a 
management strategy 

• Travel plan measures for Prestwich Village including funding for discounted/free 
public transport tickets for residents and employees 

• Travel plan coordinator 

• Embedded design principles that seek to reduce private car and encourage 
other modes of transport e.g. clear legibility, the hub, Metrolink proximity, bus 
stop locations 

• Cycle and scooter principles and initiatives including: 

• Hosting of 6-monthly Dr Bike sessions, where a mechanic is on site 
and will fix resident and employee cycles for free (funded by the 
Travel Plan).  

• A fund for cycle training for residents and staff to potentially link with 
TfGM Bikeability scheme which is a cycle training programme 
aiming to build confidence in riding and fixing your bike and safety 
awareness.  

• Accommodate Beryl Bike docking stations within the village, subject 
to ongoing discussions with TfGM and operator demand.  

• Outdoor cycle parking for cycle couriers and people visiting the 
development close to building entrances to encourage the use of 
cycles and reduce the risk of crime.  

Page 38



• Accommodate future e-scooter hire within the village in line with any 
borough wide or TfGM proposals, subject to ongoing discussion with 
TfGM and operator demand.  

• Provide a fund to offer staff free membership/ride time on the TfGM 
Beryl Bikes/e-scooter hire, subject to ongoing discussions with TfGM 
and operator demand.  

 

• Contribution to Metrolink to improve the Prestwich station lighting and access.  

• To scope parking displacement that arises, development, funding and running 
alongside the Council appropriate resident parking schemes. This will be monitored 
throughout the development of the scheme with key triggers for potential 
implementation of measures determined as part of a legal planning agreement. This 
would include initial loss of parking within the site, loss arising through on-site site 
cabins and other support infrastructure; the implementation of new buildings – 
commercial and residential; a period of time following completion. This is to recognise 
that there is an invested interest in the site and its immediate neighbours. 

• Off site traffic management improvements on Fairfax Road and Bury New Road/Farifax 
Road junction. 

 
LHA Response to highway related objections: 

• Servicing is proposed within the curtilage of the site; 

• Car parking charging is an issue outside of the planning process. 

• The submitted reports indicate that the proposed parking provision accords with 
SPD11, which should include 'MINIMUM standards for car parking provision for those 
who are disabled'. Some provision is to be provided within the curtilage of the site (for 
example, in the converted service yard accessed off the bend on Rectory Lane and in, 
as yet undefined, areas of the development itself, which would be part of the reserved 
matters for the layout of the site. 

• The proposals as set out do not intend to build the travel hub/car park in phases. The 
scheme is being considered on the basis of how it was submitted. 

• The introduction of parking charges would be detrimental to local residents. This is not 
a planning matter but it does provide a degree of protection to those residents who 
may become affected by displaced parking should it occur. 

• Design prohibits bus linking to the Metrolink and development of new bus routes/stops. 
This would be for TfGM/bus operators to comment on but has not been raised as 
problematic in the Council's consultation with them. 

• Justification has been submitted for the amended levels of car parking provision for the 
proposed new development at Prestwich Village. This is part of the outline proposals 
and indicative only. Certain aspects of the design have been raised (for example use of 
nose-in parking close to bends, etc.) and will need to be conditioned as part of the first 
reserved matters application in due course.  

• The traffic, including commuter occupancy parking surveys have been undertaken as 
part of the above Transport Assessment have not been queried by TfGM nor disagreed 
with by the LHA. 

• Comment: Active travel proposals are unambitious and not designed to Gtr Mcr Streets 
for All design guide. This is not correct, the proposals are (hence some of the planning 
and highway reservations/concerns initially raised). It is not clear what aspects of the 
full application do not meet the guidance (and it is only guidance). The 'outline' highway 
works will be conditioned and can refer to this guidance. 

• Comment: Basic errors in the Transport Assessment e.g. #of trams per hour and it 
does not provide an insight of impact from the development. The errors are not fatal in 
consideration terms and various amendments sought and provided. As such, no 
concerns have been raised by the LHA, TfGM or Metrolink. 

• Comment: Should redesign Fairfax Road junction with Bury New Road and Poppythorn 
Lane; junctions will become blocked and unusable:- This is an active junction already 
under consideration by a wider transport CTRS scheme. The extent of any off-site 
improvements over and above (a) S106 contribution/ conditional requirements of any 
potential improvements to the Bury New Road/Fair fax Road junction  and (b) highway 

Page 39



works around the perimeter of the site on Rectory Lane (subject to the comments 
above) would need to be justified and agreed between the LPA and the applicant under 
advice from the LHA. TfGM schemes outside of the application site would need to 
address any wider deficiencies regardless of any development proposals. This 
notwithstanding, the sustainable modal shift emphasised by the scheme would without 
doubt bring additional usage of the junction one way or another. As such some degree 
of mitigation contribution will be required from the development. This would be secured 
by Condition/S106 as appropriate. 

• Comment: Close Rectory Lane to traffic and reroute bus/walking/cycle routes to 
improved bus terminus at Metrolink - This is not part of any current proposals and 
would affect many adjacent residents that might have a completely opposing view. 
Such proposals can be worked up independently of this application. 

• Comment: Don't narrow Rectory Lane - The works shown are indicative only and are 
not part of the full application. To be conditioned as part of the outline approval where 
the need (or not) for any widening will be considered at later date. 

• Comment: "Using town centre sites is not representative of the future development 
location and leads to the determination of trip rates that are lower than what would be 
anticipated for such a location." and in their letter entitled 'TFGM Comments', TFGM 
point out (again) that the traffic modelling used in the planning application contains 
significant flaws - TfGM are asked to make comments and recommendations. It is for 
the LHA to consider these as their role of statutory consultee on planning applications 
under consideration by the LPA. It is the consideration of the LHA that the centre of 
Prestwich (not Bury) is the appropriate centre for consideration in relation to transport 
impacts. It has excellent public transport links with Metrolink and Bus which provide a 
level of service compatible to a town centre. 

• Comment: "....TFGM maintain their previous comment namely that traffic growth 
should be applied to the assessments" - The comment related to traffic growth relates 
to the appropriateness of considering zero growth (which is a GM 2040 strategy aim). 
The developer has undertaken work that shows no traffic growth over past few years, 
which is not doubted. The challenge is confirming that this will continue going forward. 
The GM 2040 strategy is designed to accommodate growth through sustainable 
modes. Whether this occurs or not is yet to be seen. The LHA suggested that a model 
run is made with 'normal' traffic growth so that the decision makers can make a fully 
informed decision based on zero growth (Policy on- as is 'designed to be achieved 
under 2040 Transport Strategy) and average growth (Policy off).  

 
Conclusion 
Planning Policies within the NPPF, PFE policies and the UDP together with the 2040 
Transport Strategy have commonality across all of them, which is to secure sustainable 
development, whilst balancing all relevant planning considerations of growth, housing 
supply, retail and town centre viability, safety and movements on highways and good 
design. 
 
The LHA have considered consultee responses and third-party representations and 
through continual discussions with the applicant's consultant for highways matters consider 
that an appropriate recommendation can now be made. 
 
The key test within the NPPF is a judgement that scheme should be refused where the 
likely impact from traffic is likely to be severe. It is in consideration on this point, that 
appropriate mitigations are an absolute must to enable the development to be a leader in 
terms of sustainability principles and to make effective provisions to deliver real choice and 
ultimately a clear demonstration of modal shift. 
 
It is considered that the scheme will through various controls through conditions and legal 
agreements that the scheme will bring innovation and the development of sustainable 
ideas to the site that will be able to cater for people in and around the development. The 
longevity of many of the measures are key and also the triggers at which various 
mitigations and studies take place to ensure that there are no spikes of impact through the 
construction of the development and as respective parts come on line. 

Page 40



 
It is considered that overall, with the respective measures in place, the development would 
represent sustainable development and that the negative impacts arising from the 
development would not be severe. 
 
Taking account all of the above, and subject to the conditions recommended by the LHA 
being imposed on the decision notice, the proposal accords with the requirements of UDP 
Policies HT2/3 - Improvements to Other Roads, HT/4 - Car Parking and New 
Developments, HT/5 - Public Car Parks. HT2/6 - Replacement Parking, HT2/10 
-Development Affecting Trunk Roads, HT6/1 - Pedestrian and Cyclist Movement and 
HR6/2 - Pedestrian and Vehicular Conflict and Policies JP-C1: An Integrated Network, 
Policy JP-C5: Streets for All, Policy JP-C6: Walking and Cycling, and Policy JP-C8: 
Transport Requirements of New Development, of the Greater Manchester Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan.   
 
Design, Amenity and Landscaping 
The NPPF sets out at paragraph 131 that ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and 
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities’. Indeed, paragraphs 131 – 141 are concerned with ‘achieving well-designed 
places’. 
 
The Government’s National Design Guide also sets out how townscape ought to develop 
in reasonable ways in consideration of location, context and disposition of land uses and 
how these contribute to townscape development and design. 
 
PfE Policy JP-P1: Sustainable Places requires all development to be distinctive with a 
clear identity; visually stimulating; socially inclusive; resilient, capable of dealing with major 
environmental events; adaptable, able to respond easily to varied and changing needs and 
technologies; durable, being built to last and using robust materials that reflect local 
character, weather well and are easily maintained; safe, supported by critical 
infrastructure; functional and convenient; incorporating inclusive design; legible; easy to 
move around for those of all mobility levels; well connected to other places; comfortable 
and inviting; incorporating high quality and well managed green infrastructure and quality 
public realm; and well served by local shops. 
 
UDP Policies EN1/2, H2/1 and H2/2 set out considerations on the form and layout of new 
development and townscape and built design.  
 
The following design principles have formed the basis for the proposals: 

• Mending the grain - Responding to the movement framework that looks beyond the 
redline, the development plots are informed by a sequence of streets and spaces that 
flow through the masterplan.    

• A people first place - Consolidate existing surface parking and reposition car parking 
outside of the village core into a new car park off Fairfax Road.   

• Give everything back to the street - Maximise active frontages within and around the 
masterplan with retail, community and residential addresses. 

• A sequence of streets and space - Create a sense of community place within the 
village centre realised through the positioning of a community space / market hall in the 
heart of the site.   

• Appropriate scale - The existing scale and massing is relatively low scale but there is 
an opportunity to position a community focus in the heart of the plan providing an 
opportunity for strategically placed buildings of scale to draw you into the masterplan. 

 
Full Application Proposals 
 
Plot A: Community Building 
This building would be positioned against the boundary of the application site with Rectory 

Page 41



Lane.  It would primarily be four storeys high, at approximately 17.5m high of the roof 
proposed to be used for Plant, meaning part of the building would be approximately 20.5m 
high.  This plot includes a single storey element with a roof overhang that would extend 
towards Bury New Riad. This would have a green roof and would be linked to the main 
part of the proposed Community Building. 
 
This single storey retail element on the new pedestrian link would be fully glazed to form 
an inviting shop frontage. The proposed concrete columns would support the brick roof 
overhang that forms a continuous datum with the Hub element of the building. Decorative 
metal panels would help break up the elevation and be utilised for any future mechanical 
ventilation requirements. The proposed overhang to Bury New Road would create an 
architectural feature at the entrance to the rest of the proposed development. 
 
The design of the upper floors would create a rhythm of brick piers with recessed windows, 
dogtooth spandrel panels between floors and brick corbelling to the top floor take direct 
reference from the surrounding vernacular.  A mixture in window sizes, either fully glazed 
or with decorative vent panels would help break down the elevation further and allow for a 
future mix mode ventilation strategy to be implemented. 
 
All of the above, would assist in minimising the visual scale and massing of this proposed 
building. 
 
Plot B: Retail Building 
This Building would be sited at the rear of the properties on Bury New Road and would be 
two storey with an eaves height of approximately 9.5m and a ridge height of approximately 
11m.  The roof of the building reflects the northern light roof profile seen on a variety of 
historic mills and solar panels are proposed on the west facing roof slopes.  This roofing 
profile visually breaks up the bulk and massing of this building and integrating the building 
into the site. 
 
Plot C: The Market Hall  
The proposed Market Hall would be a single storey double height building approximately 
7m high with a large floating roof canopy that would overhang the proposed Village 
Square, ensuring itself as an anchor and central space for the proposed development. The 
height of the Market Hall is proposed to be lower than the existing Longfield Centre 
element currently in this location, allowing natural light to come into the new village square 
and improving the relationship between the development and the existing Radius building.  
The layout and positioning of the Market Hall would be reflective of its central location and 
importance within the proposed development. The Market Hall faces onto and sits north of 
the proposed village square and would activate the public realm and create a bustling 
environment. 
 
Plot G: Travel Hub 
The Travel Hub is proposed as ground plus two storeys and also comprises surface level 
provision car parking that will accommodate spaces for EV charging. The front elevation of 
the proposed Travel Hub would be approximately 10.4m high.  The Travel Hub  would 
decrease in height to 8.4m at its rear where it would be close to properties on Highfield 
Place. The proposed Travel Hub has been set back from Fairfax Road slightly so that part 
of the gable on the side of Our Lady of Grace Parish Church and Hall to minimise the 
enclosing effect of placing this car park on Fairfax Road.  
 
The proposed development has taken into account that there is a strong historic grain and 
consistent street frontage to Bury New Road corridor. Moving away from this corridor, the 
grain across the site becomes more incoherent due to the modern larger format blocks and 
surrounding parking areas that form large gaps in the townscape with weak frontages to 
key roads and movement corridors. Legibility of key pedestrian routes on the site is 
compromised by the hidden nature of the existing shopping centre, and poorly defined 
public spaces and squares.  The proposals illustrate that they have designed the 
proposed development to address the above weaknesses; recreating historic routes, 

Page 42



providing a clear connecting route between Bury New Road and the Prestwich Metrolink 
station which would provide clear legibility through the site.   
 
Some concerns have been raised in the representations about the heights of all buildings 
proposed.  The development proposes a modern design approach and seeks to increase 
the height of buildings as the site moves away from Bury New Road, as would be expected 
in a Town Centre location, where they coalesce.  Members should note that the proposals 
went to two Places Matters Reviews during the pre-application process, who raised no 
concerns over the heights of the development proposed. 
 
The layout of the proposed development would focuses everyone through the Village 
Square which is envisaged to become a key public square which would create a vibrant 
centre for this development, and for Prestwich itself.  
 
The proposed village square is proposed to be 52 metres long and 28.9 metres wide and 
the Design and Access Statement (DAS) sets out how various events could be 
accommodated within it. 
 
A drawing illustrates that the building within Phase 1, the full application, could be 
serviced, however, a condition is recommended to secure exact servicing and refuse 
storage details for all plots to ensure that the impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
occupants would be satisfactory and to satisfy the Local Highway Authority and the Waste 
Management team that the proposals could be satisfactorily serviced and would not have 
an adverse impact on highway safety.  
 
Landscaping 
The indicative proposals for both Phases proposes soft landscaping through the site.  
With regard to planting across the masterplan, trees are proposed to be strategically 
positioned along the streets to establish a comprehensive network of green infrastructure 
throughout the masterplan. These trees have been carefully selected based on their 
shape, seasonal variation, colour, and their significant contribution to enhancing the site's 
biodiversity.  The streetscape character is proposed to create a harmonious array of 
paving materials to compliment the quality of the development proposed.  Planning 
conditions are recommended, to ensure the landscaping indicated throughout the site is 
secured on both phases, to ensure the proposed development accords with UDP Policy 
EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and Policy JP-P1: Sustainable Development of the 
Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan. 
 
Outline Proposals 
The Outline proposals relate to proposed Plots D, E and F and is accompanied by 
Parameter Plans which propose that the building heights would be up to 7 storeys, with 
part of Plot F seeking to be 8 storeys in height.  The Parameter Plans indicate that the 
three plots would have Plant positioned on the roof of these apartments.   
 
The outline proposals are submitted with all 'reserved matters' reserved. Therefore, the 
matters of Appearance and Layout are not for consideration at this stage.  However, the 
indicative plans indicate that the proposed buildings would reflect the height of the Radius 
development. 
 
The residential development element provides residential accommodation within a highly 
sustainable location and in terms of other land uses, maintains an economic rebuilding of 
the town centre. The parameters suggested form a similar scale to the highest structure in 
the area and does make the best use of a brownfield site. The height of the buildings are 
carefully considered, putting the height towards the rear of the site, which is then well 
separated from more sensitive land uses beyond the Metrolink line, which itself is an 
elevated structure. 
 
Although concerns have been raised over the height of the proposed apartment blocks, the 
taller buildings would form a backdrop to lower scaled buildings along the Bury New Road 

Page 43



frontage, which itself is more modest in scale and appearance. The scheme would 
incorporate wide boulevards separating the structures and these would form clear markers 
for legibility as well as appropriately scaled streets to separate. There are no sigificant 
sensitivities in relation to 'height' from Conservation Areas or listed buildings as stated in 
the ES considerations above. The ethos suggested in elevation would be modern and 
contemporary, which is appropriate.  
 
Representations made consider that Prestwich is a Town Centre not a suburb and it is 
already a densely formed centre. The existing centre does not offer a full cycle of 
occupation or activity 24/7 and is heavily reliant upon a presently dated layout and 
structure, with poor take up of land use disposition.  The proposals would make the best 
use of land, whilst addressing other pressures on the Borough such as housing supply, 
opportunity, environmental improvement, and economic growth can be seen to be a 
significant driver from the NPPF. the balance of impacts is considered not to be so 
significant to warrant refusal of the scheme and indeed, would be a significant contributor 
to the functionality, attraction to and longevity of the Town Centre. This scheme is 
considered be a sustainable thread of development.  
 
To conclude, the proposals would deliver a development which makes best of land in a 
sustainable location whilst still maintaining a high quality design, public realm and which 
would be sympathetic to the local character and history of Prestwich whilst appearing as a 
modern development that has designed a scheme that would increase in height from Bury 
New Road towards the Metrolink line which is set at a higher level than the application site.  
All proposed buildings would sit below the height of the Radius building.  Accordingly, the 
proposals accord with Policy EN1 - Townscape and Built Design of the UDP. 
 
Amenity of existing neighbouring properties 
Going from the north of the site to the south of the site; neighbouring residents on Highfield 
Road and Highfield Place exist along the side and top of the Fairfax Road car park.   
 
The proposed Travel Hub would be sited on the Fairfax Road Car Park. The 
pre-application proposals moved the building away from the residents nearest to it and 
removed a storey off the building to give an overall max height of 10.4m over two storeys. 
 
It would replace the existing car park which presently occupies a significant area of land 
within the heart of the town centre. Representations have been made considering that the 
building would be better placed where the existing medical centre is located. However, the 
application details disagree. The choice on location moves it to the edge of the site 
adjoining the Metrolink line.  The main considerations of this location centre upon the 
relationship to the residents nearest to it are from height, scale and use, as well as 
movements on the highways to it. 
 
The repositioning of the car park and reduction of the number of levels has improved the 
relationship to these properties on Highfield Road/Place. The land use would not change 
from the current land use as such, the principle is already established. The additional 
height would maintain a minimum aspect distance of some 31m from the closest dwelling. 
Whilst the Council does not have any specific policy limits for such relationships, the 
distance would exceed the 23m set out between two storey residential development used 
often as a yardstick within SPD6. 
 
Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that new development should mitigate and reduce to a 
minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from the new development - and 
avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life. 
 
The structure would be designed such that there would be no undue impact from headlight 
movement on the upper levels by barriers and a parapet roof to either residents on 
Highfield Road or Highfield Place.  The sides would contain noise and general 
movements such that there would be no significant concerns in terms of traffic movements 
or disturbance. The car park would be managed and maintained including the use of 

Page 44



CCTV so that there would be close control to prevent and discourage misuse. 
 
Whilst there would be some impact upon these residents from the change and introduction 
of a new building, the height, scale, position are such that the development is considered 
to be reasonable, and this would be appropriate in terms of adopted policies EN1/2 - 
Townscape and Built Design and HT2/4 - Car Parking and New Development. 
 
Radius 
Residents in the neighbouring Radius building occupy a high rise building already that is 
largely unaffected by any surrounding development in terms of direct impact upon outlook. 
The siting of the proposed residential buildings and their height would have an impact on a 
number of residential properties located on the south easterly side. BRE assessments 
carried out demonstrate that there would be an availability of no less than two hours of 
daylight per day, which is the considered minimum under these standards.  
Notwithstanding this, it is unreasonable to hold a neighbouring site ransom in terms of a 
'first up best dressed' scenario. With the considerations of orientation, separation of 
high-rise living quarters and the fact that the existing Longfield Centre building prevents 
direct sunlight embracing all sides of the building, it is the change in outlook that would 
have the greatest impact upon the Radius from the new residential elements.  
Places Matter did consider the proposals and did make commentary on proximity and 
whilst not objecting in principle, they did suggest that the street separation was key in 
acceptance, not height. The layout of the site for the residential is a reserved matter.  
Elevations when worked up can incorporate design solutions to ensure minimised 
overlooking relationships and preventative measures within the new build. This would be 
considered within the external appearance of the reserved matters.  As this application 
seeks the acceptance of principle, the use of the land heights indicated are considered 
acceptable. 
 
Rectory Green 
Plot D, a residential apartment block, proposed in Outline, would be between 19 - 24 
metres from the north-west windows in residential apartments at Rectory Green.  The 
apartments due to their orientation do not have a direct outlook over the site.  Whilst there 
would be some impact upon these residents from the change and introduction of a new 
building, the height, scale and position are such that the development is considered to be 
reasonable.  It is also considered that the proposals could be designed to not cause any 
loss of privacy to habitable rooms. 
 
Poppythorn Lane 
The proposed Travel Hub, Plot G would boarder Fairfax Road Car Park.  Whilst trees 
exist along the railway line, residents on Poppythorn Lane who back on to the Metrolink 
line, need to be considered. The closest property, no. 29 Poppythorn Lane, is 
approximately 32 metres from the application site.  The proposed development is 
therefore sufficient distance away from the rear habitable rooms of properties on 
Poppythorn Lane to ensure the proposed Travel Hub would not affect their amenity.   
 
The Metrolink Line is also located at a higher level than properties on Poppythorn Lane 
and is bordered by trees.  Notwithstanding these trees, the proposed Travel Hub has 
been designed with headlight height barriers and therefore, the proposed separation 
distance and intervening landscape features would protect the amenity of these residents. 
 
The Poppies and Heys Road 
Plots E and F, the residential apartments, would be visible in the skyline from properties on 
the Poppies and Heys Road.  These properties are positioned between approximately 
85-170 metres from the application site and therefore the proposals would not result in 
direct overlooking or cause any other amenity issues.      
 
Noise/ Nuisance/ Pollution 
Paragraph 191(a) of the NPPF states that new development should mitigate and reduce to 
a minimum potential adverse impact resulting from noise from the new development - and 

Page 45



avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life.  Policy 
EN7/1 - Noise Pollution of the NPPF reflects the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
The proposal includes a mix of uses, some of which are capable of causing disturbance to 
residential occupiers both existing and those proposed as part of this overall development, 
such as drinking establishments and any uses falling within a Sui-Generis use class. 
 
The application has been submitted with a Noise Assessment which considers that the site 
is acoustically suitable for the proposed development and that conditions can be imposed 
to minimise the impact of the proposed development on the amenity of nearby residential 
occupiers.  Conditions are therefore recommended to control the hours of use of all 
commercial uses of 7am -12pm Monday - Saturday and 8am - 12pm Sundays, and 
requiring details of any necessary ventilation and extraction systems.   
 
In terms of proposed residential occupiers within the Outline aspect of the proposals, an 
acoustic glazing and ventilation scheme condition is proposed to protect the apartments/ 
dwellings from noise emanating from passing road traffic, surrounding uses and uses 
approved under this application.  
 
Planning conditions are also recommended to safeguard all residents during the 
construction period. 
 
To conclude, in consideration of Policies EN1/2: Townscape and Built Design, HT2/3 - 
Improvements to Other Roads, H1/2 - Further Housing Development and H2/2 - The 
Layout of New Residential Development, of the Bury UDP the proposals are considered to 
comply.  Subject to the recommended planning conditions the proposals would not cause 
demonstrable harm to the amenity of neighbouring residential occupiers and would 
therefore accord with UDP Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Trees 
Places for Everyone, Policy JP-G7: Trees and Woodland states that where development 
would result in the loss of existing trees, requiring replacement on the basis of two new 
trees for each tree lost, or other measures that would also result in a net enhancement in 
the character and quality of the treescape and biodiversity value in the local area, with a 
preference for on-site provision; and protecting trees and woodland during the construction 
phase of development.  UDP Policy EN8/2 supports and encourage new woodland and 
tree planting.      
                                                                                              
A total of 60 trees are to be removed as part of the proposals, no Category A trees will be 
removed. 120 new trees will be planted across the masterplan. All trees will be protected 
during the construction period. 
 
A total of 60no. trees are proposed for removal (27 individuals and 33situated in groups), 
comprising 19no. Category B tree and 41no. Category C trees. None of the trees to be 
removed are Category A, subject to a TPO, or of veteran status. The removals are 
considered unavoidable and compensatory tree planting is proposed on site. The removal 
will result in a temporary reduction in canopy cover. However, it is anticipated that the 
canopy cover and green infrastructure connectivity will be fully re-established, with 
improvements in overall tree quality as the replacement planting matures and provides 
greater multi-functional benefits. 
 
The retention of some of the existing trees is viable, and the replacement of those 
removed allows for the proposed development to be set within a densely tree-populated 
environment. A positive balance of tree replacement planting is proposed within the soft 
landscaping strategy to sufficiently account for the tree losses. Specifically, 120no. new 
individual trees will be incorporated into the landscape internally and along the boundaries 
of the site, offering a net-gain in tree numbers. This ensures the development is consistent 
with local planning policies; UDP EN8/2: Woodland and Tree Planting and PfE Policy 

Page 46



JP-G7: Trees and Woodland which seeks to provide 2 for 1 replacement planting. 
 
The protection of the retained trees during the construction stage will require a detailed 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS). This report provides recommendations for 
protection to demonstrate how this can be achieved. An AMS is therefore recommended to 
be secured by planning conditions should consent be granted. 
 
Subject to the recommended planning conditions, the proposals accord with UDP Policy 
EN8/2: Trees and Woodland and PfE Policy JP-G7: Trees and Woodland. 
 
Ecology/ Biodiversity 
Paragraph 180 of the Framework states that planning policies and decisions should, 
amongst other things, contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. Paragraph 186 of the 
Framework states that when determining applications, local planning authorities should 
aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying a number of principles. 
 
Policy JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan requires development proposals to follow the mitigation 
hierarchy, avoid fragmenting or severing connectivity between habitats; achieve a 
measurable net gain in biodiversity of no less than 10%.  
 
An Ecological Impact Assessment has been prepared by Tyler Grange in support of this 
application which indicates an extended Phase 1/ UK Habitat Classification Survey 
Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment were undertaken as part of the assessment.  The 
assessment also includes a section on Biodiversity Net Gain.  
 
The site comprises developed land, including buildings and hardstanding, young, scattered 
trees that have a negligible ecological importance, and three category B mature trees. 
   
No impacts are anticipated on any nearby Statutory and non-statutory designated sites 
due to the nature of the proposals. 
 
The development would primarily affect habitats of negligible ecological importance. Loss 
of three trees of local ecological importance, would be compensated for by replacement 
tree planting which is recommended to be secured by planning conditions. With the 
enhancements and habitat creation proposed, including native species planting, habitats of 
ecological importance on site would be enhanced, providing additional opportunities for 
biodiversity within the site. 
 
Bats - All buildings on site are proposed for removal and they were assessed for 
biodiversity value. All buildings were found to have no roosting bats and therefore no direct 
impacts on bats are anticipated.  Although bat surveys have not recorded any roosting 
bats within buildings to be demolished, as bats are mobile and cryptic in their habits and 
due to the statutory protection surrounding them, if bats are encountered at any time 
during works, work must cease immediately, and advice sought from a suitably qualified 
person about how best to proceed.  
 
Birds - The site contains habitats that support common and widespread nesting and 
foraging birds. 
 
AII birds, their nests and eggs, are protected by law and as such it is an offence to 
intentionally kill, injure, or take any wild bird; intentionally take, damage, or destroy the nest 
of any wild bird while it is in use or being built; and intentionally take or destroy the egg of 
any wild bird. 
 
The Ecological Impact Assessment recommends the clearance of suitable habitat (the 
buildings and trees) should be timed outside the nesting bird season (generally taken as 
March to September inclusive, though this is not defined in law and birds may nest outside 

Page 47



of this time). If any clearance works to nesting habitats are required during the nesting 
season, then pre-removal checks for nesting birds must be carried out by a suitably 
experienced Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW), no more than 48 hours prior to the works 
commencing. If any nesting birds are found to be present, an appropriate buffer zone will 
be implemented, within which works are excluded for the duration of the breeding attempt.  
Any active nests will need to be left in situ until a suitably experienced ecologist confirms 
that the chicks have fledge and the nest is no longer active. 
 
Habitat creation such as native shrub and tree planting is expected to increase nesting 
opportunities on site. Additionally, two bird boxes are recommended to be incorporated 
within scheme, targeting species of conservation concern known to be present.  These 
are recommended to be secured by planning condition. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain - The application was submitted prior to Biodiversity Net Gain 
becoming mandatory on the 12 February 2024.  However, Policy JP-G8: 'A Net 
Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity' of the Greater Manchester Places for 
Everyone Plan requires development proposals to achieve a 10% net-gain to Biodiversity. 
 
Species-specific enhancements recommended within this report, include provision of bat 
and bird boxes, would both mitigate the loss of bird nests within the site as well as 
enhance the site for wildlife and increase the habitat diversity on site providing a range of 
nesting, foraging and commuting opportunities for species such as invertebrates, bats and 
birds.  Landscaping of the site with trees and planters, including the provision of a Green 
Roof on the single storey part of the proposed Community Building would increase the 
biodiversity value of the application site. 
 
The proposals include a Biodiversity Net Gain of 40.78% through the delivery of rain 
gardens, shrubs, green roofs and tree planting.  Greater Manchester Ecology Unit agree 
that a meaningful net gain in biodiversity could be achieved but note that the 40.78% gain 
in Biodiversity claimed in this proposal relies on the creation of green roofs and rain 
gardens. Details of these landscape features, and Landscaping in general are presented in 
outline only and in the form of masterplan details. Details of habitat establishment and 
long-term management will be secured through the production of a Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP). The LEMP would set out the prescriptions for the 
establishment and maintenance of the habitats on site for 30 years. A condition is 
recommended to secure the delivery of this, with the management and maintenance being 
secured through the S106 agreement. 
 
Subject to the conditions recommended and the S111 (S106) being completed, the 
proposals accord with Policy JP-G8: 'A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity' 
of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Air Quality/ Climate Change 
Policy PF-C5: Clean Air of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan seeks to 
secure a comprehensive range of measures will be taken to support improvements in air 
quality, focusing particularly on locations where people live, where children learn and play, 
where there are impacts on the green infrastructure network and where air quality targets 
are not being met/ 
 
The application site is located adjacent to the Bury Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
which covers large portions of the main roads within the borough, including the A56 which 
borders the proposed development.  
 
A construction dust impact assessment was undertaken in accordance with Institute of Air 
Quality Management (IAQM) guidance. It concluded that in the absence of any adequate 
mitigation, there is a high risk from the demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout 
dust-generating activities associated with the proposed development. However, with 
appropriate mitigation measures implemented, it is anticipated that the dust generation and 

Page 48



harmful emissions from construction site activities would not be significant. 
 
An Air Quality and Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) which conforms to the requirements 
of Bury Council will need to be provided prior to the commencement of any on-site works 
to ensure that the mitigation measures recommended are implemented throughout the 
construction phase. A suitably worded condition has been recommended by the Council's 
Environmental Health Officers. 
 
The Council's Environmental Health Officers also recommend that s scheme for Electric 
Vehicle and Electric Bike Charging within the proposed Travel Hub should also be secured 
by condition as well as requiring a condition securing details of any heating or cooking 
flues to ensure their dispersal rates have an acceptable impact on air quality.  
 
Subject to these conditions, the recommendations made within the submitted Air Quality 
Assessment being secured and securing a Construction Management Plan by planning 
condition, the proposal is considered that to accord with Policy JP-S5: Clean Air of the 
Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan and the air quality provisions of the NPPF.  
 
Safety and Security 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on each local authority to 'do 
all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area'. Section 8 ('Promoting 
healthy and safe communities') of the National Planning Policy Framework states at 
paragraph 96 that there should be an aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places 
which: (b) are safe and accessible so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion.  
 
Policy JP-P1: Sustainable Places of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan and 
the NPPF requires proposals to, amongst other things, design out crime and terrorism, to 
reduce opportunities for anti-social behaviour and by ensuring that developments make 
appropriate provision for response and evacuation in the case of an emergency or 
disaster. 
 
The Greater Manchester Police Architectural Liaison Officer has been consulted on the 
proposal and raised no objections in principle to the proposal as originally submitted but 
recommended conditions requiring more detailed Crime Prevention Statement for the 
residential aspect of the proposals at reserved matters stage. As such, subject to the 
conditions recommended it is considered that no conflict is found with the requirements of 
criterion 8 within Policy JP-P1: Sustainable Places of the Greater Manchester Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan and paragraph 96 of the NPPF. 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
The site lies within Flood Zone 1 where there is the lowest risk of flooding including from 
fluvial, surface water and groundwater sources. Existing drainage is via private separate 
foul and surface water drainage systems discharging into the separate foul and surface 
water network. 
 
The residential component (defined as phase 2) forms part of the outline application and 
as such a detailed design has not been produced for these plots, but design principles 
have been established which will be developed further at a later date. The detailed 
mixed-use component (phase 1) proposals have been developed to a sufficient level of 
detail to support the full planning application element of the hybrid application. 
 
A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy accompanies the application.  It 
concludes that as well as the application site being within Flood Zone 1 and is within the 
low-risk area for reservoir, rivers and sea, groundwater, and surface water flooding. 

• Rivers and Sea - Very low risk 

• Reservoir - Low Risk 

• Groundwater - Low risk 

• Surface Water - Low risk 
Page 49



 
There are no historic borehole records located within the site boundary, however the 
accompanying Desk Study found the existing geology of the site is likely to consist of 
sandstone bedrock overlain by clays, sands, and gravels which in turn are overlain by 
made ground. Based on the presence of sandstone bedrock and sand and gravels, 
infiltration could be feasible and further investigations are underway which include 
infiltration testing to confirm. 
 
There are no watercourses within the immediate vicinity of the site. The site is currently 
served by a combined sewer and as such the intention is to replicate the existing regime 
discharging to the combined sewer but at a reduced rate.The site impermeable area will be 
reduced with the addition of soft landscape areas. 
 
A discharge rate of 23l/s has been proposed and approved by UU to discharge the surface 
water to the UU combined sewer, which also meets the LLFA requirement of a reduced 
discharged rate.  
 
The proposed drainage network has been designed to accommodate run off from the 1 in 
100yr + 45% climate change event.  
 
Both the Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) and United Utilities (UU) have reviewed the  
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy.  They raise no objections and confirm that 
the principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage Design Drawing 
2772-CIV-XX-XX-D-C-30003 Rev P 06- Dated 19.09.23 are acceptable in principle. In the 
interests of sustainable drainage, United Utilities recommended a condition specifying the 
surface water for phase 1A and phase 2 must drain at the restricted rate of 20 l/s and 
surface water for phase 1B must drain at the restricted rate of 3 l/s. Conditions are thus 
recommended to secure a more detailed Foul amd Surface Water Sustainable Drainage 
Scheme, SuDs, and an Operation and Maintenance Plan. 
 
The proposed development would not increase flood risk to the site or increase flood risk 
downstream. The proposed development would not impact adversely upon the foul and 
surface water drainage. Therefore, the proposed development would comply with Policy 
EN7/5 - 'Wastewater Management' of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, Policy JP-S4: 
Flood Risk and the Water Environment of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan 
and Section 14 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change). 
 
Carbon and Energy 
An Energy and Sustainability Report has been prepared by Hoare Lee in support of the 
application. The sustainability credentials of the proposed development have been 
accepted by the Council's planning policy officer. 
 
The ambition for the project goes far beyond policy requirements and aims to create an 
exemplar sustainable development. The proposals target BREEAM "Excellent" with an 
aspiration to achieve BREEAM "Outstanding". The proposals approach to sustainability 
has been developed in accordance with the five capitals framework which introduces the 
physical, social, economic, human and natural elements to sustainability. 
 
The proposals state that new buildings would be designed in line with the Building 
Regulations 2021, the Future Buildings and Homes Standard 2025 and the Heating and 
Building Strategy 2021, and each plot will achieve an EPC Rating of A. 
 
The Proposed Development would also be designed to be Net Zero Carbon Ready in 
operation. Space heating and/ or cooling and hot water would be provided by Air Source 
Heat Pumps, and Photovoltaic panels (PVs) would generate electrical energy.  Whilst 
Photovoltaic panels are shown on the south facing roof slopes of Plot B; the two storey 
retail building, no air source heat pumps are indicated on the proposals.  A planning 
condition is therefore recommended to secure details of these, which as well as ensuring 
compliance with PfE Policy JP-S2: Carbon and Energy, their location and noise output, to 

Page 50



ensure they would not harm the amenity of nearby residents. 
 
For the above reasons, subject to the matters above being secured by planning condition, 
the proposals accord with Policy JP-S2: Carbon and Energy of the Greater Manchester 
Places for Everybody Joint Development Plan. 
 
Planning Obligations 
Planning obligations assist in mitigating the impact of unacceptable development to make 
it acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations may only constitute a reason for 
granting planning permission if they meet the tests that they are necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the development, and fairly 
and reasonably related in scale and kind. These tests are set out as statutory tests in the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and as policy tests in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. It is considered that the obligations meet the tests.  
 
At the time the planning permission will be issued the Council will still be the land owner, 
therefore the legal agreement being entered into will be completed under section 111 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. Section 111 agreements are structured so as to require 
the applicant to enter into a Section 106 obligation in an agreed form appended to the 
Section 111 agreement, as soon as the applicant acquires a land interest in the site. 
 
A series of requirements have arisen through the consideration of the application that 
require them to form part of a legal agreement. These have been discussed in detail and 
any significant points that arise will be updated if necessary within the Supplementary 
Report. 
 
To accord with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), the  
legal agreement will cover the following: 
 

• The Applicant recognises that there will be some patronage of the Metrolink system by 
residents of, and visitors to, the development, and on that basis the Applicant agrees 
that it is appropriate that a reasonable and proportionate contribution should be made 
towards improving the access and lighting for pedestrians accessing the tram stop. 
TfGM seek a payment of £130,000, but this is considered by the Applicant to be 
disproportionate to the impact and use arising from the development. However, the 
Applicant considers a contribution of £80,000 is appropriate and reasonable. 

• Biodiversity Management - This is to become an obligation to ensure that the 
appropriate management as set out in the regulations (30yrs) is delivered. Monitoring 
and Enforcement would be easier to achieve through being a legal obligation and any 
variations of uplift in dealing with nature ensures appropriate compliance whilst 
maintaining flexibility. 

• To closely monitor the need for specific resident parking zones in the event of 
significant parking displacement arising from aspects of the development. This would 
require a scheme to be submitted and to be dynamic to reflect the changing nature of 
implementation of different elements of the scheme as they come online. The cost of 
this studies behind working up any necessary Traffic Regulation Order and 
implementing this would be the development's cost. The obligation at this point is to 
submit an appropriate scheme, to be dynamic as required and costs be the 
development's.  

• Improvement to the Fairfax Road / Bury New Road junction. The scheme's aims are to 
encourage greater sustainable movement. This junction is seen by the Council, Active 
Travel England and TfGM to be suboptimal currently. The development is expected to 
deliver circa a third of the likely cost of improving this junction to the amount of 
approximately £130,000. 

 
The legal agreement is being finalised to secure the contributions set out. Officers are 
therefore satisfied that the legal agreement will adequately reflect the resolution and 
recommend that delegated authority be given to completing and signing the legal 
agreement.  

Page 51



 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 
The application must be determined against the relevant statutory tests as set out in 
legislation cited earlier in this report. In terms of establishing the principle of development 
these set out that: 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that in considering 
planning applications the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states plans and decisions should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.  For decision-taking this means: 
 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date *Footnote 8*, granting permission 
unless: 
 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed *Footnote 7*; 
or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
In terms of housing delivery, the Borough has underdelivered against the local housing 
need, and as a result the 'tilted balance' is engaged. According to paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF, where the tilted balance is engaged, as is the case here, permission should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole. 
 
At a national level, the NPPF places sustainable development is at its heart and 
recognises that there are three dimensions of sustainable development: economic, social 
and environmental (Framework, Paragraph 11). These include: 
 

• An economic objective - to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy; 

• A social objective - to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities; and  

• An environmental objective - to contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural, 
built and historic environment. 

 
These objectives are interdependent and need to be pursued in a manner which is 
mutually supportive.  
 
Economic 

• Construction phase would provide 128 full time equivalent jobs. 

• Once operational, the proposed development would support up to 335 direct jobs 
(gross), which represents an additional 101 jobs to the jobs currently supported by 
the Longfield Centre offer. 

• The proposed dwellings would provide benefits from residents spending capacity 
within the area. 

• Provide a mix of commercial uses that would strengthen and diversify the 
economic base. 

• Develop links with local educational facilities and look to provide apprenticeships 
and work experience for local people through a local labour agreement. 

 
Social 

• Up to 210 new dwellings would be provided, which would contribute to the housing 
supply within the borough. 

• Increasing accessibility to healthcare services for the local community and 
Page 52



providing a hub for health and wellbeing advice. 

• Support health and wellbeing through quality in design, including indoor air quality, 
optimised daylight provision and thermal and acoustic comfort. 

• Provide new health and fitness uses to promote physical activity and improved 
wellbeing. 

• Provide active modes of travel to promote walking and cycling. 

• Provide new public spaces where people can exercise, walk and relax. 

• All the proposed buildings and spaces would be accessible for all. 

• The creation of a public square and enhanced public realm to allow events to take 
place. 

• Provision of the library within the community and retail hub. 

• Provision of community space where people can learn, study and interact. 
 
Environmental 

• Proposals would deliver significant environmental benefits when compared to the 
existing facilities with a BREAM rating of ‘Excellent’ and aspirations to achieve 
‘outstanding’. 

• The reuse, renewal and regeneration of a significant and underutilised previously 
developed site. 

• Good connectivity and accessibility. 

• Achieve a measurable net gain in biodiversity of no less than 10% as required by 
PfE Policy JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity . 

• Use of low and zero carbon technology, including air source heat pumps and 
photovoltaic array on the roofs of buildings. 

• Provision of 28 electric vehicle chargers as well as car club provision and safe and 
secure cycle parking to reduce the reliance upon the private car. 

 
The report has set out that the proposal as submitted can be judged to represent well 
planned and beneficial sustainable development as set out in the NPPF. 
 
It has considered the ES as a whole with Chapter 12 of the ES assessing the residual 
effects of the proposed development in EIA terms which concludes that with the 
mitigations proposed, secured by condition, the effects of the proposals would not be 
significant.  The LPA does not disagree with the conclusions within the ES and has 
recommended planning conditions where necessary to ensure effects from the 
development are minimised to a satisfactory level.  
 
It is recognised that the proposed development of this scale would have some negative 
impacts, such as its impact (less than substantial) on views of, and therefore the setting of 
the Grade 1 St Mary's Church, the impact of placing a Travel Hub on Fairfax Road car 
park, in the setting of Our Lady of Grace Parish Church and Hall, the possibility of car 
parking being displaced onto neighbouring roads and off-road parking areas, and, the 
proposed uses within the proposed development potentially affecting the closest 
residential occupiers.  However,, the development proposals have objectively identified 
the impacts and offers appropriate mitigation such that effects are appropriately 
determined and mitigated.  
 
The harm identified to the setting/ views of the Grade 1 listed St Mary's Parish Church are 
clearly outweighed by the public benefits outlined above. The impact of the identified harm 
is assessed to be less than substantial, particularly The proposals along with as the 
recommended planning conditions and planning obligations are such that the effects can 
be reasonably controlled and that long with the mitigation and compensation proposals 
ensure that the impacts are would be largely temporary and acceptable in planning policy 
terms. Therefore, the proposed development, including the public benefits arising from the 
proposed development, would represent a well-planned and beneficial sustainable 
development and the proposed development would be transformational for this part of 
Prestwich.  The proposals therefore accord with paragraph 208 of the NPPF. 
 

Page 53



The proposed development would deliver significant investment into the area and would 
also be a catalyst for growth to Bury New Road and the wider area, which would provide 
investor confidence and create a location for new inward investment.  
 
The proposal is bold and contemporary in design and would replace existing poor quality, 
dated buildings within the town centre whilst creating a public square and improved public 
realm. The proposed public square would create better legibility and connectivity 
throughout the town centre, which is welcomed. The proposed development would offer 
significant environmental benefits with the proposed development having a BREAM rating 
of 'excellent' with aspirations to be 'outstanding' and the provision of at least 10% 
biodiversity net gain.  
 
Therefore, having regard to all of the above and subject to the imposition of conditions, 
informatives and planning obligations set out within this report, the development would 
comply with the Unitary Development Plan, the Places for Everyone Joint Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework when considered as a whole and as 
such it is recommended the application be approved.  
 
Response to objectors 
 
Highway Safety matters 

• Servicing is proposed within the curtilage of the site; 

• Car parking charging is an issue outside of the planning process. 

• The submitted reports indicate that the proposed parking provision accords with 
SPD11, which should include 'MINIMUM standards for car parking provision for those 
who are disabled'. Some provision is to be provided within the curtilage of the site (for 
example, in the converted service yard accessed off the bend on Rectory Lane and in, 
as yet undefined, areas of the development itself, which would be part of the reserved 
matters for the layout of the site. 

• The proposals as set out do not intend to build the travel hub/car park in phases. The 
scheme is being considered on the basis of how it is submitted. 

• The Introduction of parking charges would be detrimental to local residents. This is not 
a planning matter but it does provide a degree of protection to those residents who 
may become affected by displaced parking should it occur. 

• Design prohibits bus linking to the Metrolink and development of new bus routes/stops. 
This would be for TfGM/bus operators to comment on but has not been raised as 
problematic in the Council's consultation with them. 

• Justification has been submitted for the amended levels of car parking provision for the 
proposed new development at Prestwich Village. This is part of the outline proposals 
and indicative only. Certain aspects of the design have been raised (for example use 
of nose-in parking close to bends, etc.) and will need to be conditioned as part of the 
first reserved matters application in due course.  

• The traffic, including commuter occupancy parking surveys  have been undertaken as 
part of the above Transport Assessment have not been queried by TfGM nor 
disagreed with by the LHA. 

• Comment: Active travel proposals are unambitious and not designed to Gtr Mcr 
Streets for All design guide. This is not correct, the proposals are (hence some of the 
planning and highway reservations/concerns initially raised). It is not clear what 
aspects of the full application do not meet the guidance (and it is only guidance). The 
'outline' highway works will be conditioned and can refer to this guidance. 

• Comment: Basic errors in the Transport Assessment e.g. #of trams per hour and it 
does not provide an insight of impact from the development. The errors are not fatal in 
consideration terms and various amendments have been sought and provided. As 
such, no concerns have been raised by the LHA, TfGM or Metrolink. 

• Comment: Should redesign Fairfax Road junction with Bury New Road and 
Poppythorn Lane; junctions will become blocked and unusable:- This is an active 
junction already under consideration by a wider transport CTRS scheme. The extent of 
any off-site improvements over and above (a) S106 contribution/ conditional 
requirements of any potential improvements to the Bury New Road/Fair fax Road 

Page 54



junction  and (b) highway works around the perimeter of the site on Rectory Lane 
(subject to the comments above) would need to be justified and agreed between the 
LPA and the applicant under advice from the LHA. TfGM schemes outside of the 
application site would need to address any wider deficiencies regardless of any 
development proposals. This notwithstanding, the sustainable modal shift emphasised 
by the scheme would without doubt bring additional usage of the junction one way or 
another. As such some degree of mitigation contribution will be required from the 
development. This would be secured by Condition/S106 as appropriate. 

• Comment: Close Rectory Lane to traffic and reroute bus/walking/cycle routes to 
improved bus terminus at Metrolink - This is not part of any current proposals and 
would affect many adjacent residents that might have a completely opposing view. 
Such proposals can be worked up independently of this application. 

• Comment: Don't narrow Rectory Lane - The proposals shown are included within 
Phase 2, the Outline proposals and are not part of the full application and are thus 
shown as being indicative and are therefore to be conditioned as part of the outline 
approval where the need (or not) for any widening will be considered at later date. 

• Comment: "Using town centre sites is not representative of the future development 
location and leads to the determination of trip rates that are lower than what would be 
anticipated for such a location." and in their letter entitled 'TFGM Comments', TFGM 
point out (again) that the traffic modelling used in the planning application contains 
significant flaws - TfGM are asked to make comments and recommendations. It is for 
the LHA to consider these as their role of statutory consultee on planning applications 
under consideration by the LPA. It is the consideration of the LHA that the centre of 
Prestwich (not Bury) is the appropriate centre for consideration in relation to transport 
impacts. It has excellent public transport links with Metrolink and Bus which provide a 
level of service compatible to a town centre. 

• Comment: "....TFGM maintain their previous comment namely that traffic growth 
should be applied to the assessments" - The comment related to traffic growth relates 
to the appropriateness of considering zero growth (which is a GM 2040 strategy aim). 
The developer has undertaken work that shows no traffic growth over the past few 
years, which is not doubted. The challenge is confirming that this will continue going 
forward. The GM 2040 strategy is designed to accommodate growth through 
sustainable modes. Whether this occurs or not is yet to be seen. The LHA suggested 
that a model run is made with 'normal' traffic growth so that the decision makers can 
make a fully informed decision based on zero growth (Policy on- as is 'designed to be 
achieved under 2040 Transport Strategy) and average growth (Policy off).  

 
Buildings 

• Concerns about height, size, appearance and not in keeping with the surrounding 

context; impacts on natural light from high rise, impact upon the residential amenity of 

Radius residents and Highfield Road houses and gardens. - These matters have been 

addressed in the report at ‘Amenity of existing neighbouring residents’.   

• Proximity to church on Fairfax Road, development too close and obscures it - This 

matter is addressed in the report at ‘Impact on non-designated heritage assets’ 

• Will block light and generate overlooking and impact upon privacy  – residential and car 

park - These matters have been addressed in the report at ‘Amenity of existing 

neighbouring residents’ 

• No light assessment done - A ‘Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing (Impact Upon 

Neighbours Letter Report)’ by has been undertaken by GIA. This is referred to in the 

report at ‘Amenity of existing neighbouring residents’. 

• Disagreement with the architecture chosen given surrounding context - This matter is 

addressed in the report at ‘Design, Amenity and Landscaping’. 

Page 55



 
Land Use 

• Noise arising from car park use and users - This matter is addressed in the report above 
under 'Amenity of existing neighbouring properties'.  

• Limited space for businesses to grow within the development - The proposals represent 
the ability for businesses over and above the current facilities.  Businesses are only part 
of the consideration of any regeneration scheme and the Planning Balance looks at all 
aspects of the development.  See also comments under the response relating to 'Retail 
space should not be reduced'. 

• Flats are not needed houses and gardens are - This is addressed in the report at the 
‘Principle of Development’ and ‘Affordable Housing Sections’ of the report.  It should be 
noted that the residential element of the proposal is in outline, with all matters reserved 
(acknowledging that this would likely be in the form of 1, 2 and 3 bedroom apartments).  

• Reduces amount of available community space e.g. library. This is not a planning 
consideration. 

• Type of dwellings p/acre instead of hectare - The density of the development would 
exceed the minimum requirements laid out within PfE Policy  JP-H4 - Density of New 
Housing. The exact mix of housing will be determined as part of future reserved matters 
application(s) but indicatively will include a mix of 1, 2 and 3 bed properties. PfE Policy 
JP-H 4 Density of New Housing seeks to deliver densities of new residential 
development at a minimum of 120 dwellings per hectare on sites that are within 400m of 
Metrolink Stops.  

• How will the redevelopment be managed and still keep activity going - This would be a 
management concern and is not a planning consideration. However, Phase 1A (Travel 
Hub) will be constructed first to ensure that there remains some level of parking provision 
whilst the remainder of Phase 1 i.e. Phase 1B (community hub, market hall, retail 
units/leisure provision and public realm) is delivered.  

 
The Council is in the process of looking for an alternative location for a temporary library 
to ensure that this provision remains within the area, as well as looking at potential 
options for temporary retail units for the businesses that wish to remain in the centre and 
continue to trade during the construction phase.  
 
The NHS building will remain open until completion of the community hub.  These 
services will then move to the new community hub building. 
 

• Approximately half of the borough’s housing delivery will come from this scheme – why 
all in Prestwich? - The residential proposals are in Outline only, with all matters reserved 
seeking three apartment blocks in Phase 2 of the proposed development.   No 
timeframe has been given as to how the three apartment blocks would be developed 
within Phase 2, however, Members will note that the timeframe for submission of a 
reserved matters application is recommended to be 7 years due to the scale of the 
development proposed and constrained nature of the site by highways, which would then 
allow a developer a further 3 years in which to make a start on the apartments, never 
mind complete them.   Accordingly, up to 210 homes would not be built within year one 
and would subsequently be phased over at least the next decade. 

• The food court will be noisy - This matter is addressed in the report at ‘Amenity of 
existing neighbouring residents’. 

 
Scale and layout 

• More appropriate to a city location – overdevelopment 

• Distance to walk from car park to shops 

• Walkways would be too narrow 

• Cramming too much in / inappropriate mix of residential against retail 

Page 56



• Shops are ok, rest of development isn’t providing sufficient uses for all age ranges 

• Car park too close and impacts negatively on Highfield Road houses 

• Metrolink and bus stops not integrated and too far apart to be a walking route 

• Apartments heavily skewed towards more city centre size rather than suburban town 

centre. 

• Consultation meetings residents preferred lower buildings than the Radius; 

disappointing that the scheme includes up to 7 storeys 

• Disappointing arrival from Metrolink 

• Insufficient provision for servicing and waste refuse storage 

• The car park is in the wrong place – distance from centre and relationship to OLOG 

• What will happen if the health centre does not move? 

The above matters are addressed in the report at the ‘Design, Amenity and Landscaping’ 

and ‘Highway Safety and Transportation’ sections. 

Other comments 

• What is the overall BNG from the development? - This is addressed in the report at 
'Ecology/Biodiversity' and Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is recommended to be secured by 
planning condition. 

• Health risk to local residents. Currently air quality stands at the 83rd percentile nationally 
(where 100 is highest) with PM2.5 (a key carcinogen) at 11.51mcg/m3 over double the 
WHO limit of 5mcg/m3 (addresspollution.org), a worsening of air quality. - This is 
addressed in the report at 'Air Quality/Climate Change'. 

• 2 x Petitions received containing 135 signatures against the development - These 
Petitions are reported within the  'Publicity' section of the report. 

• Build the residential and shops first, then this will determine levels of parking needed - 
These matters are addressed in the report at 'Highway Safety and Transportation'.  

• Gym space needs to be bigger - There is no ability to increase the size of the indoor 
leisure space.  However, there is currently no leisure provision in the centre of Prestwich 
Village, so this is a welcomed added benefit that should attract a local operator, 
alongside the overall design of the scheme that is also encouraging green active travel 
outdoors i.e. cycling and walking that will also be a health benefit to local people.  

• Increased demands upon local services, NHS and GPs who can't cope currently - This 
has been discussed under the Socio-economics section of the 'Environmental Impact 
Assessment' section of the report. 

• Oppose any new bars, cafes and restaurants as there are too many already - The 
proposal includes main town centre uses and relates to a town centre site.  The report 
includes a section on 'Safety and Security'. 

• Disappointing climate and environment perspectives - Sustainability and carbon 
reduction is fundamental to the proposals. Proposed measures include new energy and 
water efficient buildings to minimise carbon in operation, the use of sustainable building 
materials to reduce upfront embodied carbon, photovoltaic panels and air source heat 
pumps.  

• Re-introduce rooftop garden to the community hub - A green roof is proposed on the 
community hub in order to maximise opportunities for high quality landscaping and 
biodiversity. A condition relating to maintenance of the green roof has been suggested.  

• Retail and community space should not be reduced - The existing retail offer measures 
approximately 3,500sqm. However, it only has an occupancy rate of 65% and is set 
within a dilapidated environment. The proposals include up to 2,940 sqm of modern, 
flexible retail floorspace to include a range of unit sizes, with an emphasis on providing 
space for independent and local retailers. This new space has been designed to ensure 
the vibrancy of the retail offer so that it continues to grow in line with the vision for the 

Page 57



future of Prestwich Village.  Community space: The proposed development will deliver 
475 sqm of new community space including a library.  The existing space in the current 
library is not all regularly used. The new space has been designed to be flexible, 
including being useable out of hours for many groups to access. 

• What services will be available during construction in terms of phasing? - The likely 
significant effects of the construction phases have been assessed in the Environmental 
Statement. A condition requiring the submission of a phasing plan has been suggested. 
As such, it is not possible to say which services will remain available during construction 
at this stage until greater detail is provided on the phasing in line with this condition.  

• Rents not discussed and Insufficient engagement with businesses - Not a material 
planning consideration. 

• The rolls of honour to war dead should be retained and given a new pride of place - 
Consideration will be given to where best to display these existing and important framed 
rolls of honour that are currently displayed in the existing library. 

• Safety of pedestrians and concerns about crime and disorder from using the multi storey 
car park - The Travel Hub  has been designed to 'secure by design' principles and there 
will be the expectation that the operator will actively manage the building. The existing 
pedestrian crossing will remain in place.  Muse and the Council (the joint applicants) will 
consider enhancements to the crossing as part of the scheme, subject to further 
discussions.  Furthermore, Greater Manchester Police have also not objected to the 
proposal (see 'Safety and Security'). 

• Ensure swift bricks are incorporated - See Ecology/ Biodiversity section of report - 
Ecological mitigation is recommended to be secured by condition, which would include 
provision for nesting birds.  

• Details are lacking between ideas and aims and actuals of the scheme in the masterplan 
- The proposal is a Hybrid Planning Application and is therefore part outline and part full 
application. 

• Ensure that affordable housing is provided -This matter is addressed in the report at 
'Affordable Housing' and a condition is recommended to secure a satisfactory amount of 
Affordable Housing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. In this permission, the following definitions are applicable: 
Relevant Phase: to include Phase 1 (full detail) and Phase 2 (outline with all 
matters reserved) 

• Sub-Phase: to include the construction of individual plots or buildings, hard and 
soft landscaping, public realm, highway improvement works or other 
associated works of the development within the respective phases   

 
 

2. CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE OUTLINE APPLICATION - conditions  
 

3. Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the 
expiration of seven years from the date of this permission and the development 
must be begun not later than: (i) the expiration of seven years  from the date of 
this permission; or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved. 
 
Reason:  To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 

Page 58



Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 

 

4. Any application for reserved matters for any relevant phase or sub-phase relating 
to means of access, layout, scale and external appearance of the buildings and 
landscaping shall be sought from the Local Planning Authority and be in 
accordance with the principles and parameters set out in the approved plans, in 
particular: 
 
P1 - Land Use Parameter Plan 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001601 P01 
P2 - Max Site Heights Parameter Plan 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001602 P01 
P3 - Access & Movement Parameter Plan 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001603 P01 
P4 - Plots & Public Relam Parameter Plan 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001604 P01 
P5 - Site Levels Parameter Plan 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001605 P01 
 
Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 4 
of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 
2015 and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been 
submitted for consideration. 
 

 

5. Any application which seeks approval for the reserved matter of landscaping 
pursuant  to condition 3 of this permission shall include a scheme which 
demonstrates compliance with the landscaping strategy indicated on drawing nos 
Landscape Masterplan Phase 1 & Outline Area 3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0002 P13 
and Landscape Masterplan - Phase 1 3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0006 P05. The 
scheme shall include, but not be limited to, the following details:  
 
(i) all  trees, hedgerows and any other vegetation on/overhanging the site to be 
retained; 
(ii) compensatory planting to replace any trees or hedgerows to be removed as 
part of the development; 
(iii) the strengthening and/or introduction of landscaping buffers along the 
boundaries of the site with Rectory Lane; 
(iv) the introduction of additional planting within the site which forms part of the 
internal development layout and does not fall within (i) to (iii); 
(v) the type, size, species, siting, planting distances and the programme of planting 
of hedges, trees and shrubs.  
 
The duly approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out during the first 
planting season after each phase of the development is substantially completed 
and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas 
thereafter. Any trees, hedges or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged 
or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced by 
trees, hedges or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to 
be planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure the introduction of appropriate biodiversity rich landscaping as 
part of the development in accordance with the requirements of chapter 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

6. Prior to any above-ground works for any relevant phase or sub-phase pursuant to 
condition 4, of this permission an acoustic glazing and ventilation scheme to 
protect the apartments/ dwellings from noise emanating from passing road traffic, 
surrounding uses and uses approved under this application shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall identify 
the location of each plot/ apartment where noise attenuation measures are 

Page 59



required; and include specific details of the noise attenuation measures to be 
introduced for each plot/ apartment.  Where windows need to remain shut in order 
to achieve these levels other means of ventilation shall be provided. The 
development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the duly 
approved scheme.  
 
Reason: To ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation measures 
for the dwellings in order to achieve satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Policy EN7/2 
of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.    
 

 

Any relevant phase or sub-phase of the development authorised by this 
permission shall not begin unless and until the Local Planning Authority has 
approved in writing an Affordable Housing Scheme for the provision of affordable 
housing in that relevant phase or sub-phase of the development.  The Scheme 
shall be submitted as part of the relevant reserved matters application and shall 
include: (if relevant justified) a viability review to determine the amount of 
affordable housing to be provided in that phase; the number, location and tenures 
of the affordable housing to be provided in that phase, and a mechanism for 
phasing, delivery and management of the affordable homes, in accordance with 
Policy H4/1 - Affordable Housing and its associated SPG5 - Affordable Housing 
Provision in New Residential Developments, the First Homes Policy Position 
Statement and the National Planning Policy Framework. The development shall be 
delivered in full accordance with the relevant approved Affordable Housing 
Scheme. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the development would contribute to satisfying the need 
for affordable housing provision pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan Policy 
H4/1 - Affordable Housing, the associated Development Control Policy Guidance 
Note 5 - Affordable Housing Provision in New Residential Developments, First 
Homes Policy Position Statement and National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7.  
 

8. As part of any reserved matters application for Appearance and Layout for any 
relevant phase or sub-phase the use of the development hereby approved shall 
not commence until a Crime Impact Statement, detailing measures that will be 
incorporated into the development to prevent the opportunity for crime, disorder, 
and anti-social behaviour has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter operate in accordance 
with the approved strategy. 
 
Reason: To encourage the inclusion of Secured by Design principles and reduce 
the fear and risk of crime and anti-social behaviour, in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

9. Within 6 months of occupancy of each relevant phase or sub-phase hereby 
approved, a Full Travel Plan (FTP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority for that phase or sub-phase. The Travel Plan shall 
provide details of the objectives, targets and measures to promote and facilitate 
public transport, walking, cycling and car sharing to reduce the need to travel and 
to reduce single occupancy car use. For the avoidance of doubt, the FTP shall 
include: 
 
a.) Travel to work survey results for residents; 
b.) Management of the Travel Plan with a nominated Travel Plan Coordinator; 

Page 60



c.) Clearly defined targets based on the survey results for mode share; 
d.) Appropriate measures taken to improve and encourage sustainable travel; 
e.) An action plan including a timetable for implementation of each element; and, 
f.) Annual reinforcement of the Travel Plan by monitoring and review mechanisms. 
 
The annual monitoring report which assesses the effectiveness of the measures 
introduced by the FTP shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority annually for the first five years following the implementation of 
the FTP on occupation of any phase or sub phase of the development. The 
initiatives contained within the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented 
thereafter together with any additional measures that, after review, are found to be 
necessary to deliver the Travel Plan objectives. 
 
Reason: To promote alternatives means of transport and active travel pursuant to 
the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

10. No work shall take place in respect to the provision of cycle parking within any 
relevant phase or sub-phase until details of proposals to provide secure cycle 
parking facilities for the approved dwellings  have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Each dwelling within that phase 
or sub-phase shall not be occupied until the cycle parking facility for that dwelling 
has been provided in accordance with the approved details. The cycle parking 
facilities shall then be retained and shall remain available for use at all times 
thereafter. 
 
Reason.  To ensure the satisfactory provision of cycle storage facilities are 
provided to support the scale of the development pursuant to Policy JP-C8 of the 
Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan and the principles of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.   
 

 

11. Notwithstanding the proposed phasing of the future residential aspects of the 
development and the details shown indicatively on the submitted plans and 
supporting information, full details of the following shall be submitted at the 
reserved matters stage for any relevant phase or sub-phase to a scope and 
specification to be agreed on (where appropriate), a topographical survey of the 
site and adjacent adopted highways: 
 

• Access arrangements/proposed junctions onto the adopted highway 
incorporating adequate visibility splays in accordance with the standards in 
Manual for Streets; 

1. Retention of adequate levels of forward visibility at the bend in Rectory Lane in 
accordance with the standards in Manual for Streets; 

2. Proposed internal road/street layout incorporating adequate tracked servicing 
arrangements for the proposed mix of uses proposed ; 

3. A scheme of highway works/ traffic calming works to the adopted highways 
that abut the site, encompassing limits of Fairfax Road, Rectory Lane and 
Poppythorne Lane to be agreed, in accordance with the 'Streets for All' 
guidance. 

4. Details that demonstrate the delivery of additional parking provision necessary 
as described within the application documents that will be provided for: 

 (a) In curtilage to the residential elements; 
 (b) Servicing and drop-off facilities. 
 
The highway works subsequently approved for that phase or sub-phase shall be 
implemented to a programme to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the implementation of the development hereby approved. 
 

Page 61



Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site and to ensure good 
highway design in the interests of highway safety pursuant to Policies EN1/2 of the 
Unitary Development Plan and Policies, JP-C5 and JP-C6 of the Greater 
Manchester Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan. 
 

 

12. As part of the reserved matters for 'Layout', for any relevant phase or sub-phase 
the development of the site,  a 'Parking Management Strategy'  shall be 
submitted to and approved in by the Local Planning Authority for that phase or 
sub-phase. The approved scheme only shall be implemented. 
 
Reason.  To ensure adequate and appropriate levels of car parking are 
incorporated into the development pursuant to Policies JP-C5  and JP-C6 of the 
Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.. 
 

 

13. As part of the reserved matters for 'Layout', a scheme of car parking spaces and  
arrangements shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
in respect of that part of the site. No part of the development shall be occupied 
until car parking spaces and arrangements in respect of that part of the site have 
been completed and made available for use in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason.   To ensure adequate and appropriate levels of car parking are 
incorporated into the development pursuant to Policies JP-C5  and JP-C6 of the 
Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan. 
 

 

14. CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE FULL ASPECTS OF THE PROPOSALS - 
Conditions   

 

15. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 

 

16. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking or 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), except for the portion of retail 
(Class E(a)space shown on Drawing number: 207-JMA-A-00-DR-A-022400 Rev. 
P00, the Community Building - Plot A shall only be used for uses within Classes 
E(c), E(e), E(g), F1(a-f) and F2(b) and for no other purpose including any other 
purpose in Classes E or F of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent to that Class/ 
those Classes in any statutory instrument amending, revoking and/or re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification. 
 
Reason: In order to define the permission and to ensure that satisfactory 
community facilities are provided for with the development pursuant to the 
principles of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

17. Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans, within three months of 
development first taking place a landscaping scheme for the site which 
demonstrates compliance with the landscaping strategy indicated on the approved 
plans shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall include a scheme which demonstrates compliance 

Page 62



with the landscaping strategy indicated on drawing nos. Landscape Masterplan 
Phase 1 & Outline Area 3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0002 P13 and Landscape 
Masterplan - Phase 1 3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0006 P05. The scheme shall 
include, but not be limited to, the following details:  
 
5. all  trees, hedgerows and any other vegetation on/overhanging the site to be 

retained; 
1. compensatory planting to replace any trees or hedgerows to be removed as 

part of the development; 
2. the strengthening and/or introduction of landscaping buffers along the 

boundary with Rectory Lane; 
3. the introduction of additional planting within the site which forms part of the 

internal development layout and does not fall within (i) to (iii); 
4. the type, size, species, siting, planting distances and the programme of 

planting of hedges, trees and shrubs.  
 
The duly approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out during the first 
planting season after each phase of the development is substantially completed 
and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas 
thereafter. Any trees, hedges or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged 
or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced by 
trees, hedges or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to 
be planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate landscaping of the site in the interests of visual 
amenity, to enhance the character of the street scene and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements in accordance with the requirements of Policies EN1/2 and EN8/2 
of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

 

18. Prior to any above-ground works on any relevant phase or sub-phase unless and 
until, a scheme providing the positions, types and heights nesting/roosting 
provisions to be made for birds nesting within that phase or sub-phase, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the approved 
scheme and no dwelling within that phase or sub-phase shall be occupied until the 
scheme has been implemented in its entirety.  
 
Reason. In order to minimise the developments impacts on local wildlife 
populations pursuant to policies JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity, EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan and National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 

 

19. Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 
approved, the Travel Hub hereby permitted shall not be brought into first use 
unless and until a car park management plan has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
The car park management plan must be implemented in full accordance with the 
details approved under this condition before the development is first occupied or 
brought into first use and shall be maintained and operated in accordance with the 
approved plan in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate car parking arrangements are provided to serve 
the development in accordance with Policy JP-C8: Transport Requirements of 
New Development of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Joint 

Page 63



Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

20. Prior  to the first use of the development hereby approved, a scheme detailing the 
electric vehicle charging points in the Travel Hub shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The Travel Hub shall be provided with 
the approved electric vehicle charging points, which shall be retained for that 
purpose thereafter.    
        
Reason: In the interests of air quality and to promote modal shift and increased 
use of sustainable methods of travel in accordance with Policies JP-S5: Clean Air 
and Policy JP-C4: The Strategic Road Network of the Greater Manchester Places 
for Everyone Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

21. The green roof hereby approved on the Community Building, Plot A, shall be 
maintained and any plants, grass and flowers, dead, dying severely damaged or 
diseased must be replaced during the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the design and appearance of the building, visual 
amenity and securing biodiversity net gain, in accordance with the principles of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

 

22. Prior to any above-ground works of any relevant phase or sub-phase a scheme for 
(any relevant) highway improvement works shall be submitted and approved in 
writing by the LPA. The development shall commence in a relevant phase or 
sub-phase unless and until a scheme for the siting, layout, design, construction 
and drainage of the following highway improvement works has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase or 
sub-phase: 
 
5. All external alterations to the adopted highway within and around the perimeter 

of the site and implementation of an adopted hard and soft landscaping 
scheme to a scope and specification to be agreed, incorporating the 
provision/retention of adequate footway widths to be agreed at all locations, 
demarcation of the limits the adopted highway, demarcation of all landscaped 
areas for the blind and partially sighted pedestrians, relocation/replacement of 
all affected street lighting columns and street furniture in positions to be 
agreed, scheme of bollards to enable maintenance access/restrict 
unauthorised vehicular access to the pedestrianised areas and all associated 
highway and highway drainage remedial works;   

1. Improvements to/relocation of the existing pedestrian crossing on Fairfax Road 
and all associated works to form the junction table proposed at the Rectory 
Lane/Fairfax Road junction, including the need to incorporate the 
improvements/traffic calming measures within a wider traffic calming and 
carriageway resurfacing scheme;   

2. Confirmation of retained emergency access arrangements and route through 
the development on Poppythorn Lane, clear of the proposed hard/soft 
landscaping works, taking into consideration fire appliance access 
requirements to the existing and new buildings and the need for/type and 
operation of any access control bollards;   

3. Formation of all temporary highway works between the proposed full and 
outline phases of the development;   

4. Foundation/private hardstanding details for the proposed buildings to ensure 
compliance with the Highways Act 1980 and that no foundation encroachment 
under the adjacent adopted highway will occur;   

5. Any proposed surface water attenuation measures located under the adopted 
highway, in a position(s) and to a scope and specification to be agreed;   

Page 64



6. Review of affected traffic regulation orders required as a direct result of the 
proposed development, including details of the revocations required and new 
measures/orders proposed, all necessary modifications to road markings and 
signage and a timetable for implementation; 

7. Review of affected traffic regulation orders required as a direct result of the 
proposed development, including details of the revocations required and new 
measures/orders proposed, all necessary modifications to road markings and 
signage and a timetable for implementation; 

8. Submission of staged Road Safety Audits in accordance with national 
guidance . 

 
The details subsequently approved shall be implemented to a programme to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to the development in that phase 
hereby approved being brought into use. 
 
Reason. To secure improvements to the highway network in order to ensure safe 
and convenient access for pedestrian and vehicle traffic in the interests of road 
safety, and to promote modal shift and increased use of sustainable methods of 
travel pursuant to Policies JP- S1 Sustainable Development, JP-C5 - Streets for All 
JP-C6 Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan 
and the principles of the National Policy Framework. 

 

23. No development shall commence unless and until a photographic dilapidation 
survey of the footways and carriageways leading to and abutting the sites in the 
event that subsequent remedial works are required following demolition and 
construction of, and statutory undertakers connection to, the proposed 
development, has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. All highway remedial works identified as a result of the dilapidation 
survey shall be implemented to a programme to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved. 
 
Reason. To maintain the integrity of the adopted highway, in the interests of 
highway safety pursuant to Policies JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 Walking and 
Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.  
 

 

24. No development shall commence on any relevant phase or sub-phase unless and 
until a Demolition Management Plan has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority for that phase or sub-phase, where relevant. The 
approved plan only shall thereafter be implemented.  
 
Reason. To mitigate the impact of the construction traffic generated by the 
proposed development on the adjacent highways, ensure adequate off street car 
parking provision and materials storage arrangements for the duration of the 
construction period and that the adopted highways are kept free of deposited 
material from the ground works operations pursuant to Policies JP-C5 - Streets for 
All and JP-C6 Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development 
Plan.  
 

 

25. No development of any relevant phase or sub-phase shall take place, including 
any works of demolition, until a 'Construction Logistics Plan' for that phase or 
sub-phase has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The Construction Logistics Plan shall include details of vehicular routing, 
parking arrangements and be designed to minimise deliveries of materials and 
export of any waste materials within the times of peak traffic congestion on the 
local road network. Construction of the relevant Phase shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details for the duration of the demolition and 
construction periods. 

Page 65



 
Reason. To mitigate the impact of the construction traffic generated by the 
proposed development on the adjacent highways, ensure adequate off street car 
parking provision and materials storage arrangements for the duration of the 
construction period and that the adopted highways are kept free of deposited 
material from the ground works operations pursuant to Policies JP-C5 - Streets for 
All and JP-C6 Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development 
Plan.  
 

 

26. Other than those works associated with the demolition of existing buildings on the 
site, no development shall take place on a relevant phase or sub-phase until a 
Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase or sub-phase. The CMP shall 
include:  
 
9. Formation of all temporary highway works between the proposed full and 

outline phases of the development; 
1. Access route for all demolition/construction vehicles to the site from the Key 

Route Network; 
2. Access point/arrangements for demolition/construction traffic, taking into 

consideration the need to maintain safe pedestrian/vehicular access to Bury 
Market and 'Market' car park, and all temporary works required to facilitate 
access for demolition/construction vehicles; 

3. Hours of work for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction and 
number of vehicle movements; 

4. Arrangements for the parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors on 
land within the applicant's control, together with storage on site or on land 
within the applicant's control of demolition/construction materials; 

5. Arrangements for the turning and manoeuvring of vehicles within the curtilage 
of the site and/or measures to control/manage delivery vehicle manoeuvres 
including details of areas designated for the loading, unloading and storage of 
plant and materials; 

6. Details of the siting, height and maintenance of security hoarding; 
7. The provision, where necessary, of temporary pedestrian facilities/protection 

measures on the highway; 
8. A scheme of appropriate warning/construction traffic speed signage in the 

vicinity of the site and its accesses; 
9. Arrangements for the provision of wheel washing facilities for vehicles 

accessing the site; 
10. Measures to ensure that all mud and other loose materials are not spread onto 

the adjacent adopted highways as a result of the groundworks operations or 
carried on the wheels and chassis of any vehicles leaving the site and 
measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt during construction; 

11. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works; 
and 

12. a strategy to inform neighbouring occupiers (which as a minimum, shall include 
those adjoining the site boundaries) of the timing and duration of any piling 
operations, and contact details for the site operator during this period. 

 
The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and the 
measures shall be retained and facilities used for the intended purpose for the 
duration of the construction period. 
 
Reason.  Information not submitted at application stage. To mitigate the impact of 
the construction traffic generated by the proposed development on the adjacent 
highways, ensure adequate off street car parking provision and materials storage 
arrangements for the duration of the construction period and that the adopted 
highways are kept free of deposited material from the ground works operations 

Page 66



pursuant to Policies JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 Walking and Cycling of the 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.  
 

 

27. The use of the development on any relevant phase or sub-phase hereby approved 
shall not commence until an 'Access and Servicing Management Plan' has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase 
or sub-phase. The management plan shall contain, as a minimum: 
 
13. Travel to work survey results for staff and employees; 
1. All external he location of the height barrier (to prevent coaches and larger 

vehicles accessing the site; 
2. The location and details of any advance signage warning of the height 

restriction; 
3. How access by scheduled larger vehicles (such as waste vehicles) will be 

managed; and 
4. How unexpected access by larger vehicles will be managed. 
 
The development shall thereafter operate in accordance with the approved 
management plan. 
 
Reason.  To mitigate the impact of the construction traffic generated by the 
proposed development on the adjacent highways, ensure adequate off street car 
parking provision and materials storage arrangements for the duration of the 
construction period and that the adopted highways are kept free of deposited 
material from the ground works operations pursuant to Policies JP-C5 - Streets for 
All and JP-C6 Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development 
Plan.   
 

 

28. Prior to the occupation of any relevant phase or sub-phase of development, a 
Travel Plan will be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority for 
that phase or sub-phase. The approved Travel Plan (based on the submitted 
Framework Travel Plan) shall be implemented as approved, monitoring and 
maintenance requirements outlined within that document.  
 
Reason: To promote alternatives means of transport, active travel, promote modal 
shift and increased use of sustainable methods of travel pursuant to Policies JP- 
S1 Sustainable Development, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 Walking and 
Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan and the principles of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

29. Prior to any above-ground works within any relevant phase or sub-phase of 
development, vehicle turning areas within that phase or sub-phase shall be 
provided, surfaced and ready for use. The nature and duration of any temporary 
car and cycle parking arrangements that may be required due to phasing and 
construction logistics shall be first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Any parking areas, whether permanent or temporary, shall not be used 
for anything other than their designated purpose.  The duly approved details shall 
be implemented for the duration of the construction period of any phase, or sub 
phase of the development. 
 
Reason. In order to secure the satisfactory development of the application site in 
the interests of highway safety and to minimise the standing and turning 
movements of vehicles on the highway in the interests of highway safety pursuant 
to Policies JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 Walking and Cycling of the Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 
Page 67



31. Any relevant phase or sub-phase of the development shall not be first  occupied 
or brought into first use unless and until full details of the car parking (including 
accessible and Electric Vehicle charging point provision with 10% of all spaces to 
be provided with active charging points and the remainder of all spaces served by 
passive provision, (subject to an update in local policy standards which may 
exceed these requirements ahead of Reserved Matters approval), motor cycle, 
delivery and drop off space, and covered and secured cycle storage facilities to 
serve that phase of development hereby approved have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
The respective buildings within any relevant phase or sub-phase shall not be first 
occupied or brought into first use unless and until the on-site car parking spaces 
for the respective buildings within any phase, have been provided and made 
available for use in full accordance with the drawings, together with properly 
constructed vehicular access to the adjoining highway, all in accordance with the 
approved plans for that phase. 
 
The approved parking spaces shall be provided and made available for use and 
the accessible parking bays shall be clearly marked with a British Standard 
disabled symbol prior to the occupation of that part of the development and shall 
be maintained thereafter solely for the parking of occupiers of, visitors to and users 
of the development. 
 
Details of the provision of the car club parking spaces and electric vehicle charging 
points within a relevant phase or sub-phase shall be provided including number 
and location.  
 
Reason.  To ensure that adequate car parking is provided and retained to serve 
the development and to ensure that adequate cycle parking is provided and 
retained to serve both the commercial and residential development pursuant to 
Policies JP- S1 Sustainable Development, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 
Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

32. Prior to any above-ground works of any relevant phase or sub-phase, a scheme of 
off-highway bin storage facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing  
with the Local Planning Authority for that phase or sub-phase. The approved 
arrangements shall be implemented prior to each relevant phase or sub-phase of 
the development hereby approved being brought into use and/or being first 
occupied. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate bin storage arrangements are provided within 
the curtilage of the site pursuant to Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design 
of the Bury Unitary Development Plan, Policies JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 
Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

33. CONDITIONS IN RELATION TO ALL PARTS OF THE PLANNING 
APPLICATION SITE - CONDITIONS 

 

34. No development, including demolition, shall commence on any relevant phase or 
sub-phase unless and until a scheme to minimise dust emissions has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority as outlined in 
Annex I (Mitigation Measures for Construction - Tables I-1 to I-9) and Air Quality 
Assessment, Prestwich Village, Cundall, Reference: 
1039026-CDL-XX-XX-RP-AQ-40201 Revision P07, 17 January 2024 for that 
phase or sub-phase.  The scheme shall include details of all dust control 
measures and the methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the 
development. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Page 68



approved scheme with the approved dust control measures being retained and 
maintained in a fully functional condition for the duration of the development 
hereby approved.  
 
Reason: The information is required to reduce the impacts of dust disturbance 
from the site on the local environment, pursuant to Policy JP-S5: Clean Air of the 
Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan and Chapter 11 
of the National Planning Policy Framework - Conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment.  
 

 

35. No development works (excluding demolition) of any relevant phase or sub-phase 
of the development hereby approved shall take place until the applicant or their 
agents or successors in title has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological works for that phase or sub-phase. The works are to be undertaken 
in accordance with a Project Design submitted to and approved in writing by Bury 
Planning Authority. The Project Design shall cover the following:  
 
5. Informed by the updated North West Archaeological Research Framework, a 

phased programme and methodology of investigation and recording to include:  
      - an archaeological evaluation through trial trenching;  
      - dependent on the above, targeted open-area excavation and recording 
(subject to a separate Project   
        Design).  
1. A programme for post-investigation assessment to include:  
      - production of a final report on the significance of the below-ground 
archaeological interest.  
2. Deposition of the final report with the Greater Manchester Historic Environment 

Record.  
3. Dissemination of the results of the archaeological investigations 

commensurate with their significance.  
4. Provision for archive deposition of the report and records of the site 

investigation.  
5. Nomination of a competent person or persons / organisation to undertake the 

works set out within the approved Project Design. 
 
Reason: To record and advance understanding of heritage assets impacted on by 
the development and to make information about the heritage interest publicly 
accessible, in accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

 

36. Prior to the first use/occupation of any relevant phase or sub-phase of the 
development hereby approved, full details of all equipment to be installed for 
heating and ventilation of the building, the extraction and control of fumes and 
odours, including details of how noise and vibration will be attenuated together 
with a maintenance schedule for the future operation of that equipment have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority for that phase 
or sub-phase and implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
The scheme shall also be in accordance with current guidance from DEFRA and 
the Heating and Ventilating Contractors' Association (HVCA) For Kitchen 
Ventilation Systems. The use hereby permitted shall not take place other than in 
accordance with these approved details. 
Noise from ventilation and extraction shall be limited to 10 dB(A) below the 
background noise level measured and expressed as a LA90,15minutes at the 
boundary of the nearest residential property. This shall include penalties for noise 
characteristics such as tone, intermittency, etc. 
 
Background noise levels shall be established for the following periods: 

Page 69



" Daytime 0700 to 1900 
" Evening 1900 to 2300 
" Night 2300 to 0700 
In order to establish background noise level a representative survey shall be 
undertaken in accordance with BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 at the boundary of the 
nearest residential properties. This shall be undertaken by a suitably competent 
person. 
 
Prior to operation of any relevant phase or sub-phase post completion noise 
surveys must be undertaken by a suitably qualified acoustic person, and a report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that 
phase. Method statements should be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the survey being undertaken, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If the noise levels set out in the Report 
are exceeded, additional noise mitigation measures, (where necessary to ensure 
the appropriate noise levels can be met), shall be submitted to an approved in 
writing by the Local Authority and implemented in accordance with the approved 
details in full prior to operation. 
All noise mitigation schemes as approved shall be retained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers from undue noise and 
disturbance in order to protect their amenities in accordance with Policy EN7/2 - 
Noise Pollution and EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design of the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

37. No  development of any relevant phase or sub-phase shall commence until a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP Noise) for the control of 
construction site noise for that phase has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase.  
The approved CEMP (Noise) shall be operated and retained throughout the site 
preparation and/or construction period and shall include: 
 
6. The location of nearest sensitive receptors; 
1. A review of the plant and equipment to be used on site, including a 

consideration of the type of vehicle reversing alarms, and any other 
precautions that are proposed to minimise the noise from such equipment 
(acoustic enclosures/screens and non-metallic dollies for piling operations 
etc.);   

2. The proposed location of any fixed plant, buildings and storage yards;   
3. Details of a community engagement plan, to include a named individual 

chosen to liaise with the public upon receipt of complaints;   
4. Proposals for the hours of operation, including during which piling operations 

will be undertaken referenced to the location of noise sensitive premises;   
5. Details of the information that all those operating on site will be given regarding 

the control of noise;    
6. Any other measures proposed to control construction noise. 
 
Reason: A pre commencement condition is required to ensure that noise from the 
site construction operation can be mitigated by use of the appointed contractors 
through an appropriate noise management plan. The condition will protect the 
amenity of occupiers of adjacent properties from noise in accordance with Policy 
EN7/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

 

38. Before any construction works on any relevant phase or sub-phase of the 
development hereby approved a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan and Habitat 
Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) detailing, in full, measures to protect 

Page 70



existing habitat during construction works and the formation of new habitat to 
secure a measurable net gain in biodiversity of at least 10% across the entire 
scheme, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority for that phase or sub-phase. Within the Biodiversity Net Gain Plan and 
the HMMP document the following information shall be provided: 
 
7. Details of both species composition and abundance where planting is to occur; 

• Proposed management prescriptions for all habitats for a period of no less than 
30 years; 

• Assurances of achievability;  

• Timetable of delivery for all new and enhanced habitats; and 

• A timetable of future ecological monitoring to ensure that all habitats achieve 
their proposed management condition as well as description of a feed-back 
mechanism by which the management prescriptions can be amended should 
the monitoring deem it necessary. All ecological monitoring and all 
recommendations for the maintenance/amendment of future management 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

The development shall be undertaken and thereafter maintained in accordance 
with the approved Net Gain Plan and the Habitat Management and Monitoring 
Plan.  
 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory development of the site in relation to the 
protection of and mitigation for ecological habitats pursuant to Policy JP-G8 of the 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan and the principles of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

39. No development of any relevant phase or sub-phase shall commence unless and 
until:- 
 

• A contaminated land Preliminary Risk Assessment report to assess the 
actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks in that phase 
or sub-phase shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority; 

• Where actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks have 
been identified, detailed site investigation and suitable risk assessment shall 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for 
that phase or sub-phase; 

• Where remediation/protection measures is/are required, a detailed 
Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority for that phase or sub-phase. 

 
Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual contamination 
and subsequent remediation, which is required to secure the satisfactory 
development of the site in terms of human health, controlled waters, ground gas 
and the wider environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 
 

 

40. Notwithstanding the submitted Environmental Statement, prior to any piling work 
taking place within any relevant phase or sub-phase of the development, the 
following shall occur in consecutive order for that phase or sub-phase: 
 

• An assessment shall be undertaken to determine the levels of ground borne 
vibration associated with the piling works within the development which shall 
identify all affected receptors and detail how impacts can be mitigated and / or 
reduced. 

1. A scheme based upon the findings in part (1) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority outlining the type of piling, 

Page 71



its location, noise/vibration levels and details of mitigation measures to ensure 
that the impact of the piling works on the receptors identified in (1) are 
mitigated/reduced. 

2. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved 
scheme for that phase. 

 
Reason: To ensure impacts on amenity from are acceptable and to accord with the 
requirements of Policy EN1/2(b) of the Bury Unitary Development Framework, and 
the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

 

41. No above-ground works shall take place on any relevant phase or sub-phase of 
development hereby permitted until the following information on the proposed 
low/zero carbon energy sources (photovoltaics and air source heat pumps) has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority for that phase or 
sub-phase where relevant: 
 
a) System description, supported by site plans 
b) Installed capacity and estimated output 
c) Site specific design requirements 
d) Detailed plan showing where the technology would be installed 
e) Relevant operational considerations, for example, fuel storage and delivery 
arrangements, avoidance of nuisance and air quality issues, and arrangements for 
maintenance. 
f) Noise Output of air source heat pumps compared to site specific background 
levels. 
 
The development of that relevant phase or sub-phase shall be implemented in 
accordance with the respective approved details prior to occupation and shall 
thereafter be maintained. 
 
Reason: To secure low/ zero carbon energy generation and in the interests of the 
amenity of nearby residents, in accordance with Policy JP-S2: Carbon and Energy 
of the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

 

42. Following the provisions of Condition 39 of this planning permission, where 
remediation is required on any relevant phase or sub-phase, the approved 
Remediation Strategy must shall be carried out to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority within agreed timescales for that phase or sub-phase; and a 
Site Verification Report detailing the actions taken and conclusions at each stage 
of the remediation works, including substantiating evidence, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development 
being brought into use. 
 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment.  
 

 

43. Development shall not commence on any relevant phase or sub-phase until final 
details of surface water drainage proposals have been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority for that phase or sub-phase. The scheme shall be 
in accordance with the principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment 
and Drainage Strategy document and final detailed design must be based on the 
hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance and be 
designed in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 

Page 72



Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) (March 2015). This must include 
assessment of potential SuDS options for surface water drainage with appropriate 
calculations and test results to support the chosen solution. Details of proposed 
operation and maintenance arrangements for all SuDS features should also be 
provided. 
 
The detailed design of the proposed surface water drainage system shall be 
appropriately phased to ensure that the benefits of SuDS delivered under this 
development are appropriate to the needs of this phase of the development of the 
site. 
 
Each phase or sub phase of the scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 
the duly approved details before any of the buildings or dwellings hereby approved 
are first occupied or brought into use, and maintained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason. The current application contains insufficient information regarding the 
proposed drainage scheme to fully assess the impact.  To promote sustainable 
development and reduce flood risk pursuant to Policy JP-S4: Flood Risk  and the 
Water Environment of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan and 
Chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change of the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

 

44. Any commercial and retail uses hereby approved shall only take place between 
the hours of 7am -11pm Monday - Thursday, 7am-12am Friday-Saturday and 8am 
- 11pm Sundays. 
 
Reason: In order to define the permission and safeguard the amenities of 
occupiers of premises/dwellings in the vicinity, in accordance with Policy EN1/2 
and EN7/2: Noise Pollution of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

45. No relevant phase or sub-phase of development shall be occupied until a detailed 
lighting scheme for that phase of development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase or sub-phase. 
 
The detailed lighting scheme shall include site annotated plans showing lighting 
positions for the external spaces, facades, building elevations and structures they 
illuminate, site plans showing horizontal and vertical overspill to include light 
trespass and source intensity, affecting surrounding residential premises and 
details of the lighting fittings including: colour, watts and periods of illumination. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the scheme shall include lighting to be placed along 
the edge of the site close to neighbouring residential properties.  
 
All lighting works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
and shall be completed prior to the occupation of any part of the development and 
shall thereafter be retained and maintained. 
 
Reason: To ensure a high quality of external environment, to complement the 
development proposals, to protect and reinforce local character, and to protect the 
amenity of nearby residents from any light pollution pursuant to the principles of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

46. Prior to the commencement of the landscaping works for any relevant phase or 
sub-phase hereby approved a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) shall be submitted for that phase or sub-phase to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the 

Page 73



following: 
 
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.  
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.  
c) Aims and objectives of management.  
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.  
e) Prescriptions for management actions.  
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being  
rolled forward over a five-year period).  
g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan.  
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.  
 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism{s} by 
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer 
with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set 
out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives 
of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be 
identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully 
functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme.  
 
The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of 
visual amenity pursuant to Policies H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential 
Development, EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and EN8/2 - Woodland and 
Tree Planting, JP-G8 and chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment of the NPPF.  
 

 

47. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development of any relevant phase or 
sub-phase shall take place until a phasing plan for the construction of the 
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The phasing plan shall include a programme of works for the provision 
of:- each of the proposed land uses within the site; any highway infrastructure 
associated with those uses; and the area(s) of recreational open space and any 
other areas of amenity open space.  
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the duly 
approved phasing plan(s). 
 
Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate 
provision of infrastructure to serve each phase given the scale of development 
proposed. 
 

 

48. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development of any relevant phase or 
sub-phase shall take place (including ground works, vegetation clearance) on that 
phase or sub-phase hereby approved until:  
 
3. A detailed Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and Tree Protection Plan 

(TPP), in accordance with British Standards BS 5837:2012 have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority;  

1. Tree protection fencing has been erected in accordance with the details shown 
on the approved TPP, and; 

2. The Local Planning Authority has been notified in writing of the erection of the 
Tree Protection Fencing and its full implementation in accordance with the 
approved TPP.  

 

Page 74



The tree protection provisions set out in the AMS shall be fully implemented and 
the tree protection fencing shall be retained, in the locations and to the standard 
shown on the TPP, for the duration of the construction period and no works shall 
take place and nothing shall be stored within the area enclosed by the Tree 
Protection Fencing until demolition and construction works have ceased. 
 
Reason. A pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that adequate 
measures are put in place to protect existing trees which are to be retained as part 
of the development before any construction works commence, in the interests of 
visual amenity and to safeguard the ecological value provided by the trees on the 
site in accordance with the requirements of Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built 
Design and EN8/2 - Woodland and Tree Planting of the Bury Unitary Development 
Plan, Policy JP-G8 of the Places for Everyone Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

49. Prior to the occupation of any relevant phase or sub-phase a scheme of hard and 
soft landscape works for each phasethat phase or sub-phase of development shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority .These 
works shall be carried out as approved. 
 
These details shall include: 
1) A  scaled plan at 1:100 or 1:200 showing all existing vegetation and landscape 
features to be retained; and where used, locations of individually planted trees, 
areas of woodland, shrubs, hedges, herbaceous planting, bulbs, and areas of 
grass. 
 
2) Within ornamental planting areas, plans should be sufficiently detailed to show 
the locations of different single species groups in relation to one another, and the 
locations of any individual specimen shrubs. 
 
3) Planting schedules noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities, 
and details of the proposed planting implementation programme. 
 
4) Location, type and design of materials to be used for hard landscaping, 
including ground surfacing, paving, kerbs, edges, steps and furniture. 
 
5) Specifications, where applicable for the following: 
a) permeable paving; 
b) tree pit design - indicating root available soil volumes and matched to species 
demands at mature size; 
c) underground modular systems; 
d) sustainable urban drainage integration; 
e) surfacing within tree Root Protection Areas (RPAs); 
f) Green Roof and Rain Gardens  
6) Specifications for operations associated with plant establishment and 
maintenance that are compliant with best practice. 
7) Retaining structures, noting their height, design and facing materials. 
8) Minor artefacts and structures. 
9) Proposed and existing functional services above and below ground. 
 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
The works shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in 
accordance with a programme agreed with the Local Planning Authority and 
thereafter maintained. 
 
Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of two five years  from the completion 

Page 75



of the phase of development, die, are removed or become seriously diseased or 
damaged, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species. 
 
Reason: In order to secure the satisfactory development of the application site, 
ensure a high quality of external environment and reinforce local landscape 
character and to secure net gains to biodiversity in accordance with Policy JP-G8: 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the  Greater Manchester Places for Everyone 
Joints Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

50. Prior to the commencement of any relevant phase or sub-phase of the 
development, details of a Local Labour and Training Proposal for that phase, in 
order to demonstrate commitment to recruit local labour for the duration of the 
relevant phase of the development, shall be submitted for approval in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved document shall be implemented as 
part of the relevant phase or sub-phase of the development. 
 
In this condition a Local Labour and Training Proposal means a document which 
includes: 
 
i) the measures proposed to recruit local people including apprenticeships 
ii) mechanisms for the implementation and delivery of the Local Labour Proposal 
iii) measures to monitor and review the effectiveness of the Local labour Proposal 
in achieving the objective of recruiting and supporting local labour objectives 
 
(b) Within one month prior to construction work being completed for any relevant 
phase or sub-phase of the development, a detailed report for that phase or 
sub-phase which takes into account the information and outcomes about local 
labour recruitment pursuant to items (i) and (ii) above shall be submitted for 
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To provide local economic benefits to the local labour force pursuant to 
Policy JP-J1: Supporting Long-Term Economic Growth, of the Places for Everyone 
Joint Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

51. If within a period of 5 (five) years from the date of planting, any retained and 
provided tree is cut down, uprooted or destroyed or dies another tree shall be 
planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species and shall 
be planted, with the same type and of a heavy standard within the first planting 
season or at such time as may be specified in writing by the local planning 
authority. In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which is to be 
retained in accordance with the approved plans and particulars. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and to 
ensure that the development complies with Policy EN8/2: Trees and Woodland of 
the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Policy JP-G7: Trees and Woodland of the 
Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Plan. 
 

 

52. The drainage for any relevant phase or sub-phase of development hereby 
approved, shall be carried out in accordance with principles set out in the 
submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage Design Drawing 
2772-CIV-XX-XX-D-C-30003 Rev P 06- Dated 19.09.23 which was prepared by 
Civic Engineers, for that phase or sub-phase. For the avoidance of doubt surface 
water for phase 1A and phase 2 must drain at the restricted rate of 20 l/s and 
surface water for phase 1B must drain at the restricted rate of 3 l/s. Prior to 
occupation of the proposed development with any relevant phase or sub-phase, 

Page 76



the drainage schemes shall be completed in accordance with the approved details 
and retained thereafter for the lifetime of that phase or sub-phase of development.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding, in accordance 
with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance. 
 

 

53. Prior to the installation of any external finishing materials within a relevant phase 
or sub-phase samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of that phase or sub-phase hereby permitted shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the duly 
approved materials. 
 
Reason: No material samples have been submitted and are required in the 
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to 
UDP Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

 

54. No  construction shall commence (including demolition, site clearance and any 
earthworks) on plots A, B and C until details of the means of ensuring the water 
mains that are laid within the site boundary are protected from damage as a result 
of the development have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing.  
 
These details shall include the following:  
 
i.   Evidence that diversion works for the water main(s) have been agreed with the 
relevant statutory undertaker and that the approved works have been undertaken; 
and, 
 
ii.  Details of the means of ensuring the water main(s) is protected from damage 
as a result of the development. These details shall include the potential impacts on 
the water main(s) from construction activities and the impacts post completion of 
the development, including landscaping, on the water main(s) infrastructure, and 
identify mitigation measures, to protect and prevent any damage to the water 
main(s) both during construction and post completion of the development.  
 
Any mitigation measures identified by (ii) shall be implemented in full prior to 
commencement of development in accordance with the approved details and shall 
be retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interest of public health and to ensure protection of the public water 
supply pursuant to the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

55. No relevant phase or sub-phase of the development shall commence which 
requires the stopping-up or diversion of a public highway unless and until the 
required stopping-up order has been secured. 
 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of the legal 
stopping-up of all affected highways and in order to maintain the integrity of the 
adopted highway network in the vicinity of the site pursuant to Policies JP-C5 - 
Streets for All and JP-C6 Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone Joint 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Page 77



 
 

56. No above-ground works may be commenced on a Phase, or sub phase, unless 
and until the land interests in that Phase are bound by the planning obligations set 
out in the draft Section 106 Agreement appended to the Agreement under Section 
111 of the Local Government Act 1972 dated [XXX] or the obligations are secured 
by other means to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 

 

57. This decision relates to the following drawings:  
 

Drawing no. 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001601 Rev. P01: P1: Land Use Parameter 
Plan 
Drawing no. 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001602 Rev. P01: P2: Max Site Heights 
Parameter Plan 
Drawing no. 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001603 Rev. P01: P3 - Access & Movement 
Parameter Plan 
Drawing no. 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001604 Rev. P01: P4 - Plots & Public Relam 
Parameter Plan 
Drawing no. 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001605 Rev. P01: P5: Site Levels Parameter 
Plan 
 

Site location plan 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-000400 P00 
Second Floor (third and fourth similar) Proposed site plan 
207-JMA-MP-02-DR-A-001402 P01 
 
Site Plans 
Ground floor Proposed site plan  207-JMA-MP-00-DR-A-001400 P01 
First floor Proposed site plan 207-JMA-MP-01-DR-A-001401 P01 
Roof Proposed site plan 207-JMA-MP-RF-DR-A-001410 P01 
 
Demolition Plans 
Longfield Centre Demolition Existing Context Elevation 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-041500 P00 
Fairfax Road A Demolition Existing Context Elevation 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-041501 P00 
Fairfax Road B Demolition Existing Context Elevation 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-041502 P00 
Poppythorn Lane A Demolition Existing Context Elevation 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-041503 
P00 
Poppythorn Lane B Demolition Existing Context Elevation 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-041504 
P00 
Poppy thorn Lane C Demolition Existing Context Elevation 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-41505 P00 
Bury New Road Demolition Existing Context Elevation 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-041506 
P00 
 
Streetscene Elevations 
Clayton Street A Proposed Context Elevation 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042400 P01 
Clayton Street B Proposed Context Elevation 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042401 P01 
Poppythorn Lane Proposed Context Elevation 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042402 P01 
Rectory Lane Proposed Context Elevation 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042403 P01 
Village Square Proposed Context Elevation 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042404 P01 
Fairfax Road Proposed Context Elevation 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042405 P01 
 
Section Plans 
Highfield Road to Tramline Proposed Section 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051400 P01 

Page 78



Rectory Lane to Bury New Road Proposed Section 
207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051401 P01 
Fairfax Road to Rectory Lane Proposed Section 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051402 
P01 
Rectory Lane to Highfield Place Proposed Section 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051403 
P01 
 
Plot A: Community Hub 
Ground Floor GA Plan - 207-JMA-A-00-DR-A-022400 
1st Floor GA Plan - 207-JMA-A-01-DR-A-022401 
Roof GA Plan - 207-JMA-A-RF-DR-A-022410Village Square GA Elevation 
207-JMA-A-XX-DR-A-042400 
Calyton Street GA Elevation - 207-JMA-A-XX-DR-A-042401 
Poppythorn Lane GA Elevation - 207-JMA-A-XX-DR-A-042402 
Service yard GA elevation - 207-JMA-A-XX-DR-A-042403 
Section A - JMA-A-XX-DR-A-052400 
Section B JMA-A-XX-DR-A-052401 
Study Bay 1 207-JMA-A-XX-DR-A-104401 P00 
Study Bay 2 207-JMA-A-XX-DR-A-104402 P00 
Study Bay 3 207-JMA-A-XX-DR-A-104403 P00 
 
Plot B - Retail and Commercial Hub 
Ground Floor GA plan 207-JMA-C-00-DR-A-022400 P01 
First Floor GA plan 207-JMA-C-01-DR-A-022401 P01 
Roof GA plan 207-JMA-C-RF-DR-A-022410 P00 
Village Square elevation 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-042400 P00 
Clayton Street elevation 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-042401 P00 
Poppythorn Lane elevation  207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-042402 P00 
Service Yard elevation 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-042403 P00 
Section A 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-052400 P00 
Section B 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-052401 P00 
Section C 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-052402 P00 
Study Bay 1 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-104401 P00 
Study Bay 2 07-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-104402 
Study Bay 3 207-JMA-B-XX-DR-A-104403 P00 
 
Plot C: Market Hall 
Village Square GA elevation 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-042400 P00 
Village Square GA elevation 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-042401 P00 
Village Square GA elevation 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-042402 P00 
Village Square GA elevation 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-042403 P00 
Section A GA section 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-052400 P01 
Section B GA section 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-052401 P01 
Study bay 1 Village Square elevation 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-104401 P00 
Study bay 2 Retail front elevation 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-104402 P00 
 
Plot G: Travel Hub 
Ground floor GA plan 207-JMA-G-00-DR-A-022400 P01 
Typical ramp floor GA plan 207-JMA-G-01-DR-A-022401 P01 
Roof GA plan 207-JMA-G-RF-DR-A-022410 P01 
GA elevations and GA sections 207-JMA-G-XX-DR-A-042401 P01 
Fairfax Road /Highfield Place GA elevations 207-JMA-G-XX-DR-A-042400 P01 
Highfield Road Railway Elevation GA elevations & GA section 
207-JMA-G-XX-DR-A-42401 P01 
Study Bay 1 207-JMA-G-XX-DR-A-104401 P01 
Study Bay 2 207-JMA-G-XX-DR-A-104402 P01 
 
Landscape Plans  
Landscape Masterplan Phase 1 & Outline Area 3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0002 P13 

Page 79



Temporary Landscape Interface Works 3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0004 P05 
Landscape Masterplan - Phase 1 3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0006 P05 
 
 
Supporting documents 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Rev C prepared by Tyler Grange; 
Building for Life Assessment prepared by PlanIT; 
Ecological Impact Assessment (including Bat and Protected Species Survey); 
prepared by Tyler Grange; 
Environmental Statement prepared by Asteer Planning, including: 
3. Chapter 6: Socio-Economics  

• Chapter 7: Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment prepared by PlanIT; 

• Chapter 8: Transport Assessment, Framework Travel Plan and Parking Data 
and Parking Management Strategy prepared by Civic Engineers; 

• Chapter 9: Noise and Vibration assessment prepared by Cundall; 

• Chapter 10: Air Quality assessment prepared by Cundall; 

• Chapter 11: Climate Change prepared by Hoare Lea 
Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy prepared by Civic Engineers; 
Health Impact Assessment prepared by AMION; 
Sustainability and Energy Statement prepared by Hoare Lea; 
Topographical Assessment by Greenhatch Group; 
Highways and Car Parking Update Note Rev E prepared Civic Engineers 
Amended Framework Travel Plan v1.6 prepared by Civic Engineers 
 
The development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the drawings 
hereby approved. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan, the Greater Manchester Places for Everyone Joint 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
For further information on the application please contact Claire Booth on 0161 253 5396 
 

Page 80



Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

o

n

o

n

ADDRESS:

APP. NO 70449
Longfield Shopping Centre/Car Park, 
Fairfax Road Car Park and adjoining 
land at Bury New Road, Rectory Lane 
and Fairfax Road, Prestwich

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

TCB

TCBs

LB

LB

TCB

8

20

1

15

2

9

130 to 137

Depot

Quinn House

9

12

20

13

9

1a
3

7 9a

12

11

19

1

29
 to

 52

99
 t

o 
10

8

School

(aided) P
rim

ary

Distribution Site

Electricity

Church of E
nglandSt M

ary's

16
2 

to
 1

85

13
 to

 23

24
 t
o 

28

109 to 118

E
l S

ub S
ta

1

Garage

2

6

12
14

E
lectricity D

istribution S
ite

3
1

Longfield

Prestw
ich (Tram

 Station)

1

186 to 191

Job Centre

Shopping Centre

24

Hall

Library

21

School View

25

2

1

16

1
1

8

1
0

1
3

6

2

Bank

4

65 to 150

12

1

2

Radius

Cedar Court

Hall

Health Centre

4
6
6

3

1

4
6
4

PH

PH

4
6
2

2

1
 to

 6

7
 to

 1
2

2

438a

438

4
2
5

1
8

16

1 to 7

Poppythorn

Court

3
0

57

4

2
6

1
8

2
8

1

1
6

1

9

4
1

3
3

49

5
1

19

4
4

2b

2

5
1

6

2
2

9

1
1

51
4

5
2

0

20

5
0

8

1

9
a

3
4

3

1

2

4

46
3

45
9

Shelter

4
6
0

PH

Bank

15
0 

to
 1

61

13
8 

to
 1

49

119 to 129

Shelter

4
5
8 1

2
7 22

2
6

20

18

446

435

441

447

4
4
0

PH

4
4
2
 to

 4
4
4

433

431

63

58

52 to 57

to

Zinc Court

1 to 32

9

3

O
u
r L

a
d
y
 o

f G
ra

c e

R
C

 C
h
u
rc

h

11

Presbytery

33 to 64

Granite Court

46
8

1

4

3

4
5
1

44
9 a

45
7

1a

1 to 6

44
9

5 to 17

8

C
ourt

40 to 45

7 to 12

14 to 19

S
herbourne

Garage

4
6
7

2

4
8
5

47
9

46
9

49
1

4
9
9

8

47
7

47
3

47
2

4
9

2

49
4

50
7

Club

5
1

1

50
9

5
0

5

19

21 11

Albion M
ews

23

15

11

5

1 To 4

31

2
0

3

9

1

3

1
1

1

67 to 77

2
0 

to
 2

5

1

3

8

9

3

19

21

2
4

2

ESS

Studios

Bank

5

House

Post Office

2

1

5
1
9

40

25

42

23

1

37

Pond

Car Park

Bowling Green

Car Park

El Sub Sta

DW

Allotment

Gardens

Car Park

Car Park

(Park and Ride)

MP

MP

SL

0.75

SP

M
e
tro

lin
k

GLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDS
GLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDS
GLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDS
GLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDS
GLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDS
GLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDS
GLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDSGLEBELANDS

NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE

NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE

NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE

NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE

NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE

NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE

NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE
NEWLANDS DRIVE

NEWLANDS DRIVE

ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD

HEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROAD

HEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROAD

HEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROAD

HEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROAD

HEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROAD

HEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROAD

HEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROADHEYS ROAD
HEYS ROAD

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

PEN
N
A
N
T D

R
IVE

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E
P

O
P

P
Y

T
H

O
R

N
 LA

N
E

P
O

P
P

Y
T

H
O

R
N

 LA
N

E

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

FAIRFAX ROAD

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T
R

E
E

T

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET
STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET
STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET
STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET
STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET
STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET
STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

SHERBOURNE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

CLIF
TON P

LACE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

POPPYTHORN LANE

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

W
ARW

IC
K S

TREET

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

ALBIO
N PL

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

JA
M

E
S
 S

T

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

STR
EET

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y  L
A

N
E

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

HIGHFIELD PLACE

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

B
U

R
Y

 N
E

W
 R

O
A

D

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

STANHOPE AVENUE

ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD
ROADROADROADROADROADROADROADROAD

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON
CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

CLIFTON

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

ED
W

A
R
D
 S

TR
EET

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY GREEN

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

RECTORY LANE

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

GREENHILL

Longfield

Shelter

Ps

Subway

T
ra

c k

Posts

92.7m

93.6m

93.9m

92.4m

94.8m

89.3m

96.3m

98.8m

95.7m

7.
6.

4.

1.

3.

2.

5.

70449 - Viewpoints

Page 81



70449 

Photo 1: Longfield Centre Car Park 

 

 

Photo 2: Photo showing part of the Longfield Centre complex 

Page 82



70449 

Photo 3: Part of Longfield Shopping area 

 

Photo 4: View of Fairfax Road Car Park and Our Lady of Grace Church buildings 

 
Page 83



70449 

Photo 5: Photo from Fairfax Road Car Park of properties on Highfield Road 

 

Photo 6: View of nos. 1 and 2 Highfield Place and dwellings on Highfield Road 

 Page 84



70449 

Photo 7: View from Fairfax Road Car Park of the rear of Our Lady of Grace Church buildings 

 

 

Page 85



EXTENT OF FULL APPLICATION

EXTENT OF OUTLINE APPLICATION

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 

reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 

not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 

www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P00 16/01/2024       Planning

Prestwich Village Site location plan

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-000400S2 Information

1:1000
Masterplan

P
age 86



FUTURE PHASE 
DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE PHASE
DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE PHASE
DEVELOPMENT

1

2

3

4

5

2

3

4

5

G

C

B

A

DEF

BURY NEW ROAD

BURY NEW
 ROAD

REC
TOR

Y LA
NE

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

POPPYTHORN LANE

R
E
C
TO
R
Y 
LA
N
E

CLAYTON
 STREET

P
O
P
P
YT
H
O
R
N
 L
AN
E

C
LA
YT
O
N
 S
TR
E
E
T

PO
PPYTH

O
R
N
 LAN

E

VILLAGE
SQUARE

MASTERPLAN KEYMASTERPLAN KEY

EXTENT OF FULL 
APPLICATION

EXTENT OF OUTLINE 
APPLICATION

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G - MSCP

A

B

C

G

PLOT D - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

D

E

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

1

2

3

CHURCH

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP

4

5

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

F Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Extent of Full and Outline Components

ER JC 207-JMA-MP-00-DR-A-001310S2 Information

1:500
Masterplan

P
age 87



MASTERPLAN KEYMASTERPLAN KEY

EXTENT OF FULL 
APPLICATION

EXTENT OF OUTLINE 
APPLICATION

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G - MSCP

A

B

C

G

PLOT D - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

D

E

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

1

2

3

CHURCH

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP

4

5

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

F

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

3

4

5

G

C

B

A

DEF

FUTURE PHASE 
DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE PHASE
DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE PHASE
DEVELOPMENT

BURY NEW ROAD

BURY NEW
 ROAD

REC
TOR

Y LA
NE

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

POPPYTHORN LANE

R
E
C
TO
R
Y 
LA
N
E

CLAYTON
 STREET

P
O
P
P
YT
H
O
R
N
 L
AN
E

C
LA
YT
O
N
 S
TR
E
E
T

PO
PPYTH

O
R
N
 LAN

E

VILLAGE
SQUARE

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village First floor

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-01-DR-A-001401S2 Information

Proposed site plan
1:500

Masterplan

P
age 88



MASTERPLAN KEYMASTERPLAN KEY

EXTENT OF FULL 
APPLICATION

EXTENT OF OUTLINE 
APPLICATION

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G - MSCP

A

B

C

G

PLOT D - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

D

E

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

1

2

3

CHURCH

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP

4

5

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

F

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

3

4

5

G

C

B

A

DEF

FUTURE PHASE 
DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE PHASE
DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE PHASE
DEVELOPMENT

BURY NEW ROAD

BURY NEW
 ROAD

REC
TOR

Y LA
NE

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

POPPYTHORN LANE

R
E
C
TO
R
Y 
LA
N
E

CLAYTON
 STREET

P
O
P
P
YT
H
O
R
N
 L
AN
E

C
LA
YT
O
N
 S
TR
E
E
T

PO
PPYTH

O
R
N
 LAN

E

VILLAGE
SQUARE

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Second floor (Third and forth similar)

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-02-DR-A-001402S2 Information

Proposed site plan
1:500

Masterplan

P
age 89



BURY NEW ROAD

BURY NEW
 ROAD

REC
TOR

Y LA
NE

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

POPPYTHORN LANE

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

3

4

5

FAIR
FAX R

O
AD

RECTORY LANE

7

6

66

9 8

10

1010

R
E
C
TO
R
Y 
LA
N
E

MASTERPLAN KEYMASTERPLAN KEY

EXTENT OF FULL 
APPLICATION

EXTENT OF OUTLINE 
APPLICATION

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G - MSCP

A

B

C

G

PLOT D - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

D

E

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

1

2

3

CHURCH

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP

4

5

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK
(ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY)

F Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Existing site plan

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001300S2 Information

1:500
Masterplan

P
age 90



MASTERPLAN KEYMASTERPLAN KEYMASTERPLAN KEYMASTERPLAN KEY

EXTENT OF FULL 

APPLICATION

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 

reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 

not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 

www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Illustrative masterplan

ER JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-001450S2 Information

N/A
Masterplan

P
age 91



PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5

B 1 C E 5

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 

reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 

not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 

www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Clayton Street A

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042400S2 Information

1:300
Masterplan

P
age 92



AD5 3

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5 Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 

reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 

not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 

www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Clayton Street B

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042401S2 Information

Proposed context elevation
1:300

Masterplan

P
age 93



PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5

BAE C5 3

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 

reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 

not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 

www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Poppythorn Lane

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042402S2 Information

1:300
Masterplan

P
age 94



DAB 1

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5 Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 

reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 

not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 

www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Rectory Lane

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042403S2 Information

Proposed context elevation
1:300

Masterplan

P
age 95



1BA

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5 Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 

reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 

not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 

www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Village Square

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-042404S2 Information

Proposed context elevation
1:300

Masterplan

P
age 96



PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5

G

Level: G-02
FFL: +103.000

Level: G-01
FFL: +99.700

Level: G-00
FFL: +96.400

Level: G-RF
FFL: +106.050

5

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Highfield Road to Tramline

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051400S2 Information

1:300
Masterplan

P
age 97



E A C B

Level: B-00
FFL: +94.525

Level: B-01
FFL: +98.725

Level: B-RF
FFL: +105.110

Level: C-00
FFL: +94.130

Level: C-RF
FFL: +100.970

+115,225

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5 Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Rectory Lane to Bury New Road

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051401S2 Information

Proposed Section
1:300

Masterplan

P
age 98



G 4 F 1 E C D A 3

Level: C-00
FFL: +94.130

Level: C-RF
FFL: +100.970

Level: C-01
FFL: +97.130 Level: A-00

FFL: +94.525

Level: A-01
FFL: +99.100

Level: A-02
FFL: +103.300

Level: A-03
FFL: +107.500

Level: A-RF
FFL: +111.970

+115,225

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5 Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Fairfax Road to Rectory Lane

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051402S2 Information

Proposed Section
1:300

Masterplan

P
age 99



GFED BA 41C3

Level: G-02
FFL: +103.000
Level: G-01
FFL: +99.700
Level: G-00
FFL: +96.400

Level: G-02L
FFL: +101.350

Level: G-01L
FFL: +98.050

Level: G-00L
FFL: +94.145

PROPOSED  PLOTSPROPOSED  PLOTS

PLOT A - COMMUNITY HUB

PLOT B - RETAIL HUB

PLOT C - MARKET HALL

PLOT G -TRAVEL HUB

A

B

C

G

OUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTSOUTLINE PLANNING  PLOTS

PLOT D- RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT E - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

PLOT F - RESIDENTIAL BLOCK

D

E

F

EXISTING KEY BUILDINGSEXISTING KEY BUILDINGS

THE RADIUS

MARKS & SPENCER

SCHOOL

CHURCH

1

2

3

4

PRESTWICH TRAM STOP5 Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Rectory Lane to Highfield Place

LG JC 207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-051403S2 Information

Proposed Section
1:500

Masterplan

P
age 100



1 Structural glazing system with 
integrated glazed composite 
doorsets (composite frame).

2 Automatic curved sliding door 
entrance system with integrated 
barrier matt. 

3 Terracotta planks framed into 
carrier system. Integrated and 
overclad aluminium doorsets.

4 Hit & Miss terracotta planks 
framed into carrier system for 
mechanical ventilation.

5

6

Timber soffit. Runs into food hall 
where shown. Feature aluminium 
edge profile detail.

7

Pigmented and textured precast 
columns to accept feature steel 
frame at high level.

Feature steel frame with 
architectural connection 
details

10

11

Wildflower green roof.

Feature glazed rooflights. Clad 
internally with timber lining to 
match timber soffit.

12 Plant screen

II Outline Application
Plots D, E, F

13 Radius

B Plot B Retail Hub

A Plot A Community Hub

15 Back painted glass

Level: 00

FFL: +94.130

Level: RF

FFL: +100.970

Level: 01

FFL: +97.130

+101,270

7

11

12

VILLAGE SQUARE BARROW STREETPLOT B RETAIL HUB PLOT E (OUTLINE APPLICATION)PLOT C MARKET HALL

II

13

6

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:

Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

@ A1

P01 22/04/2023       Issued for planning

Prestwich Village Section B

ER JC 207-JMA-C-XX-DR-A-052401S2 Information

GA section
1:125

Plot C Market Hall

B

P
age 101



20

1

15

2

12
9

14

12
20

9
13

22

9

2

1a

33
41

12

3 7

18

9a
1

8

20

16

1

9a

31

1

SP

LOADING ONLY

G

B

A

RECTORY LANE

RECTO
RY LANE

OUTLINE AREA
(indicative only)

PHASE 1

PHASE 1

Drawn Apprvd.DateRevision Description © Planit I.E. Limited

A1

Size

Project Prestwich Village

Client Prestwich Regeneration LLP 

3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0002

Drg No.

1:500

Scale

10-05-23

Created on

SAB

Created by

LH

Approved by

Drg Title Landscape Masterplan
Phase 1 & Outline Area 

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND 
MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR PART 
WITHOUT WRITTEN AUTHORITY FROM THE OWNER.

C

Planit I.E. Limited

Suitability

S4

Revision

 

Stage 3

Workstage

 

NOTES:
1. Do not scale from this drawing.
2. Always work to noted dimensions.
3. All dimensions are in millimetres unless otherwise stated.
4. All setting out, levels and dimensions to be agreed on site.
5. The dimensions of all materials must be checked on site before 
being laid out.
6. This drawing must be read with the relevant specification clauses 
and detail drawings.
7. Order of construction and setting out to be agreed on site.

P13

E: info@planit-ie.com W: planit-ie.com
Manchester | London | Liverpool | Leeds | Standish

 

MANCHESTER 
2 Back Grafton St
Altrincham 
WA14 1DY
T: 0161 928 9281

 

Status

P13 10/05/24 PLANNING SAB LH

KEY

REDLINE BOUNDARY 

BOUNDARIES

REDLINE BOUNDARY 

BOUNDARIES

Page 102



1 Horizontal Flemish-
bonded brickwork with 
recessed headers 
(pattern TBC) 

2 Horizontal English-bonded 
red brickwork

4 Rendered blockwork

5 Flat roof timber canopy 
with exposed timber 
columns and beams. 

6 PPC metal decorative 
perforated panel. Decoration 
to be etched/ cut. 

7 PPC metal perforated 
modular panel to cycle hub 
facade with integrated doors 
to Cycle Hub & carpark

8 PPC metal horizontal 
louvre

3 Decorative brickwork to 
carpark entrance with 
brick motive

9 Steel column

10 Galvanized car barrier and 
1100mm high vertical  railing

Level: 00A
FFL: +94.150

Level: 01A
FFL: +98.050

Level: 02A
FFL: +101.350

Level: 00B
FFL: +96.400

Level: 01B
FFL: +99.700

Level: 02B
FFL: +103.000

+106,000

+104,525+104,790

+103,225

1

21

8

9

1

2

4 6 5

Level: 00A
FFL: +94.150

Level: 01A
FFL: +98.050

Level: 02A
FFL: +101.350

Level: RF
FFL: +104.525

Level: 00B
FFL: +96.400

Level: 01B
FFL: +99.700

Level: 02B
FFL: +103.000

+106,000

+104,525

10 8

2

9465

Level: 00A
FFL: +94.150

Level: 01A
FFL: +98.050

Level: 02A
FFL: +101.350

Level: RF
FFL: +104.525

Level: 00B
FFL: +96.400

Level: 01B
FFL: +99.700

Level: 02B
FFL: +103.000

+106,000

8

2

9465

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for Planning

Prestwich Village GA elevations & GA section

RA JC 207-JMA-G-XX-DR-A-042401S2 Information

1:200
Travel Hub

GA ELEVATION - WEST
HIGHFIELD ROADHIGHFIELD ROADWW

GA ELEVATION - EAST
RAILWAY ELEVATIONRAILWAY ELEVATIONEE

A

P
age 103



1 Horizontal Flemish-
bonded brickwork with 
recessed headers 
(pattern TBC) 

2 Horizontal English-bonded 
red brickwork

4 Rendered blockwork

5 Flat roof timber canopy 
with exposed timber 
columns and beams. 

6 PPC metal decorative 
perforated panel. Decoration 
to be etched/ cut. 

7 PPC metal perforated 
modular panel to cycle hub 
facade with integrated doors 
to Cycle Hub & carpark

8 PPC metal horizontal 
louvre

3 Decorative brickwork to 
carpark entrance with 
brick motive

9 Steel column

10 Galvanized car barrier and 
1100mm high vertical  railing

Level: 00A
FFL: +94.150

Level: 01A
FFL: +98.050

Level: 02A
FFL: +101.350

6 5

73

+104,525

Level: 00B
FFL: +96.400

Level: 01B
FFL: +99.700

Level: 02B
FFL: +103.000

+104,790

12

A
042401

Jon Matthews Architects
Union, 2-10 Albert Square, Manchester, M2 6LW

Project: Title: Scale:

Drawn: Checked: Drawing No:

Rev:
Copyright of this drawing is vested in Jon Matthews Architects and it must not be copied or 
reproduced without  written consent. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing. Do 
not scale from this drawing. For full company disclosure please visit 
www.jonmatthewsarchitects.com

Notes:

Status: 0161 974 3690

Details:

 @ A1

P01 03/05/2024       Issued for Planning

Prestwich Village GA elevations

RA JC 207-JMA-G-XX-DR-A-042400S2 Information

1:200
Travel Hub

GA ELEVATION - SOUTH
FAIRFAX ROADFAIRFAX ROADSS

GA ELEVATION - NORTH
HIGHFIELD PLACEHIGHFIELD PLACENN

P
age 104



Page No 1

Ward: Prestwich - Sedgley Item  02

Applicant: McCarthy & Stone Retirement Lifestyles Ltd

Location: Fairways Lodge Hotel, George Street, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9WS

Proposal: Demolition of existing hotel building and erection of a block of 52 no. retirement living
apartments including communal facilities, landscaping and car parking provision

Application Ref:  70484/Full Target Date: 12/06/2024

Recommendation: Minded to Approve

It is recommended that this application is Minded to Approve subject to the signing
and completion of a Section 106 agreement including an overage clause relating to
future profits. If the agreement is not signed within a reasonable timeframe, then
delegated authority is sought by the Development Manager to determine the
application.

Description
The application relates to a hotel and leisure centre located to the south and west of
George Street. The complex comprises of hotel rooms, function rooms, a bar, in house
restaurants, a gym which includes squash courts and on site parking. The site is accessed
from George Street that runs along the northern boundary of the site. Footpath 9PRE runs
along the western boundary of the site.

The site is located within the Mountheath Employment Generating Area (EGA) as
designated under Policy EC2/1 of the adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP). A
substantial amount of the EGA has been redeveloped for housing. Residential properties
are located to the south, east and north of the site with a golf course located to the west of
the site.

Planning permission is sought for the demolition of existing hotel building and erection of a
block of 52 no. retirement living apartments and associated internal resident's lounge, guest
suite, managers office and reception. There would be a mixture of 1no. bed and 2no. bed
apartments with 30 x 1no. beds, and 22 x  2no, beds proposed. The proposal would consist
of a three storey "L" shaped property with parking located to the north of the site accessed
from George Street and shared amenity space for the residents largely provided to the
south and east of the proposed building.

Relevant Planning History
45692 - Internal alterations to existing hotel complex to replace existing fitness and leisure
facilities with a ground floor function suite and a first floor banqueting suite and external
alterations to form 2no. first floor emergency exit doors with new steel escape stairs to
ground level - Refused 20/02/2006

46993 - Conversion work to existing hotel with 44 bedrooms and fitness and sport centre to
from 102 bedroom hotel without sports and fitness facilities - Approve with Conditions
24/01/2007

Publicity
Letters sent to 58 neighbouring properties on the 27th March 2023 and 9th April 2024.

Page 105



Page No 2

Site notice posted on the 3rd April 2024.
Press notice published in the Bury Times 4th April 2024.

128 objections received in relation to:
Not just a hotel and would be a loss of Community hub, leisure, gym and squash club
facilities without replacement.
Produced a number of grass roots and professional, national squash players. Essential
training facility.
Pub is popular within the community and has served as the local of 30+ years
Only pub left in the area - no pub within 400m of the site.
Most weekends the Fairways is at full capacity.
NPPF has policies designed to protect pubs and protect their loss.
Should invest in the youth and mental health and well being of the community.
Retirement home does very little for the community.
With the upcoming redevelopment of the Prestwich Village in the pipeline, local hotels,
amenities & social hubs will become more critical for local residents, families & young
children's health & wellbeing
Existing use should be invested in now houses have been built next door.
Increase in traffic and also Impact of traffic during construction.
Impact of the proposal on the junction of George Street and Bury New Road and on the
junction of Jesmond Avenue and George Street.
Can parking permits and traffic regulation orders be reviewed where there are no
residential properties.
Little detail in relation to existing public right of way - this should be clearly shown on
plans.
Missed opportunity to improve footway permeability through the existing residential
development and golf course.
New pedestrian link should be created to the south of the application site, linking the
existing right of way with the bend of Teeside Avenue.
Outdoor play area/park for children should be considered.
Concerned about how the proposed location on a slope might affect surface water
management and flood risks downhill if it's converted into a compact residential
building.
Loss of views and privacy.
If approved, this planning application raises significant questions as to the relevance
and integrity of the planning system.
There has been no consultation with the community.
Loss of jobs.
Don't need anymore apartments which will be out of the price range for most.
Retirement flats are only in demand because of the current demographic and will not be
needed in the future.
Too many houses in the area.
Will be an eyesore.
Should preserve the unique character of the community and enhance quality of life of all
residents.
Loss to local and small business that provide services to the hotel and leisure facility.
There is far better things to be spending resources and time on than something the
community did not call for and are clearly against.
The proposals do not adequately provide public benefit that will be lost from the
demolition of Fairways lodge.
Why hasn't the applicant been required to submit an assessment relating to the loss of
these sports facilities and why is there no requirement to provide equivalent
replacement facilities as part of the development?
Statements that the Fairways is non-viable contradicts what the community are saying.

Page 106



Page No 3

The employment report states that the site has been marketed for 6 months with
interest only shown from residential developers, this is misleading since the site has
been marketed at a cost which is only financially feasible for a medium to high-density
residential development.
The Fairways lodge was identified in the SHLAA 2023 as having constrained potential.
The inclusion of Fairways land in the SHLAA should not undermine its value as
employment land and the current uses on the site.
The employment uses have existed on the site for 40+years and has been constant use
throughout this time. This proves that this is to be a viable employment site despite the
facility.
It is clear to me that viability of the employment use of the land has been seriously
undermined by the valuation, marketing campaign and sale.
How dare this even be considered.

1 comment in relation to:
A three storey building in this location, close to other Swift colonies in Prestwich would
be an ideal opportunity to help this iconic summer visitor.
Urge the council to make integrated swift bricks a planning condition to this
development.

Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations
Traffic Section - Access acceptable in principle.  Conditions to follow.

Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - Request conditions to secure the
submission of preliminary risk assessment, site investigation, detailed risk assessment,
remediation strategy and site verification report.

Public Rights of Way Officer - Users of the PROW appear to have access to the full width
of the grasscrete access road and that there are no parking spaces on the line of the path.
Satisfied that the PROW has been fully accommodated.

Borough Engineer - Drainage Section - No comments received.

United Utilities (Water and waste) - No objections raised subject to condition in relation to
implementation of the proposed drainage scheme.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - Conditions requested in relation to nesting birds, bats
in trees, landscaping and invasive species.

Transport for Greater Manchester - Comments received in relation to a highways
overview and site accessibility. Travel Plan requested via condition.

Waste Management - No response

Planning & Building Regs Consultation Fire Protection Dept - The proposal should
meet the requirements for Fire Service Access.

Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - No comments received.

Environmental Health - Pollution Control - Do not have any comments to make.

Pre-start Conditions - To be agreed with applicant/agent

Unitary Development Plan and Policies

Page 107



Page No 4

EC2/1 Employment Generating Areas
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design
EN6/3 Features of Ecological Value
EN7/3 Water Pollution
EN7/5 Waste Water Management
EN8/2 Woodland and Tree Planting
H1/2 Further Housing Development
H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development
H4/1 Affordable Housing
RT1/1 Protection of Recreation Provision in the Urban Area
RT2/2 Recreation Provision in New Housing Development
RT3/3 Access to the Countryside
RT3/4 Recreational Routes
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development
JP-C1 Our Integrated Network
JP-C2 Digital Connectivity
JP-C3 Our Public Transport
JP-C5 Streets For All
JP-C6 Walking and Cycling
JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development
JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing
JP-H4 Density of New Housing
JP-S2 Carbon and Energy
JP-S4 Flood Risk and the Water Environment
JP-S5 Clean Air
JP-P1 Sustainable Places
JP-P6 Health
JP-G7 Trees and Woodland
JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity
JP-G1 Landscape Character
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
SPD1 Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision
SPD5 DC Policy Guidance Note 5: Affordable Housing
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury
SPD14 Employment Land and Premises

Issues and Analysis

The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material
planning considerations.

The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to
be in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically
mentioned.

Principle (Employment)
The site is located within an Employment Generating Area (EGA) under UDP Policy EC2/1

Page 108



Page No 5

and specifically under EC2/1/17 (Mountheath).

UDP Policy EC2/1 states that within the Mountheath EGA, the Council will only allow
development for B1, B2 and B8 uses.  Other uses will only be permitted where they
constitute limited development or do not substantially detract from an area's value as an
Employment Generating Area.

In coming to a view on this proposal, it is necessary to consider the change in
circumstances at Mountheath since the EGA designation was originally made. In particular,
the former Mountheath Industrial Estate has now been redeveloped for a mixed of uses
involving 124 dwellings and employment floorspace on the former Mountheath Industrial
Estate. The redevelopment scheme effectively means that the former industrial units at
Mountheath that previously adjoined the Fairways Lodge Hotel site have now been replaced
by residential uses.

Nevertheless, the Fairways Lodge Hotel remains designated as an EGA and should be
considered within the context of UDP Policy EC2/1 but, in doing so, needs to take account
of the change in circumstances arising from the redevelopment of a significant part of this
EGA.

The key consideration is to determine whether, following the redevelopment of the former
Mountheath Industrial Estate, the proposal would substantially detract from the area's value
as an EGA and, in particular, to consider the relationship of the hotel site with the remaining
employment uses within this EGA.  In this respect, the hotel site sits on the outer edge of
the EGA and is no longer adjoining employment uses and the remaining employment uses
within the EGA are now significantly detached from the hotel site.

As such, it is considered that the proposal would not substantially detract from the EGA
and, consequently, would not be in conflict with UDP Policy EC2/1.

Principle (Residential)
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be treated as a material planning
consideration and it emphasises the need for local planning authorities to boost the supply
of housing to meet local housing targets in both the short and long term. The Framework
states that unless they have an adopted plan that is less than five years old that identified a
five year supply of specific deliverable sites at the time of conclusion of the examination,
then local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific
developable sites to provide either a minimum of five years' worth of housing, or a minimum
of four years' worth of housing in certain circumstances set out in NPPF paragraph 226.

The joint Places for Everyone Plan was adopted with effect from 21 March 2024 and sets
the up-to-date housing requirement for Bury against which the deliverable supply of housing
land must be assessed. PfE Policy JP-H1 sets the following stepped targets for Bury:
- 246 homes per year from 2022-2025;
- 452 homes per year from 2025-2030; then
- 520 homes per year from 2030-2039.

Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment sets out the latest housing supply
position, which is made up of sites that have an extant planning permission and sites that
have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. This shows that there are a
number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a significant amount of
housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the deliverable land supply
calculations as many sites will take longer than five years to come forward and be fully
developed (e.g. some large sites could take up to ten years to be completed). In addition to

Page 109



Page No 6

the housing land supply in the SHLAA, the joint Places for Everyone Plan allocates
significant strategic sites for housing within Bury and will accelerate housing delivery within
the Borough to meet housing needs.

Following the adoption of Places for Everyone, the Council is now able to demonstrate a
deliverable 5 year supply of housing land when assessed against the adopted PfE housing
requirement.

The National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test, which is
an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years against
the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially
below (less than 75%) the housing requirement over the previous years, this needs to be
taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published by the
Government show that Bury has a housing delivery test result of less than 75%, and
therefore, this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining applications for
residential development.

Therefore, paragraph 11d) of the National Planning Policy Framework states that where
there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important
for determining the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted
unless:
i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular
importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, taken as a whole.

In terms of housing delivery the Borough has underdelivered against the local housing
need, and as a result the 'tilted balance' applies and planning permission should be granted
unless the above points Para 11(d) i or ii apply.

The site is considered to be in a sustainable location for housing within the urban area and
sitting outside the Green Belt. The national requirement to significantly boost the supply of
housing under the NPPF is a material consideration that would favour the residential
development of this site in principle.

Principle (Recreation)
The proposed development would result in the loss of the existing ancillary sports facilities
(gym and squash court) and bar/drinking facility.

The NPPF states that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land,
including playing fields, should not be built on unless:
a. an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space,

buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or
b. the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or

better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or
c. the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of

which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

Policy RT1/1 states that development would not be allowed where it would result in the loss
of:

existing and proposed outdoor public or private recreation facilities (as shown in the
proposals map), including playing fields, sports grounds, parks and gardens, children's
play areas, allotments and golf courses;
recreation space within settlements located in the Green Belt;

Page 110



Page No 7

indoor facilities (not shown on the proposals map) for which there is a recreational need;
and
any other unidentified recreation provision such as playing fields, sports grounds, parks
and gardens, children's play areas, allotments and golf courses, including sites created
during the period of the plan.

Exceptions to this policy may be permitted where:
sports and recreation facilities can best be retained and enhanced through the
redevelopment of a small part of the site;
alternative provision of equivalent community benefit is made available;
it can be demonstrated that there is an excess of sports pitch provision and public open
space in the area, taking account of the recreation and amenity value of such provision.

The local area is served with alternative hotel facilities including The Hazeldean Hotel (0.6
miles), The Westlynne Hotel (1.4 miles) and the Premier Inn (Prestwich) (1.8 miles). The
fitness and sports facilities within the existing building are privately-run facilities that are
ancillary to its main use as a hotel.  It is noteworthy that planning permission was granted in
2007 for the replacement of the sports facilities and the creation of additional hotel bed
spaces.  Nearby facilities with squash courts include Cheetham Hill Sports Club (1.1 miles),
Manchester Tennis and Racquets Club (3 miles) and the National Squash Centre (5 miles).
Whilst not an exhaustive list, other nearby sports facilities include Prestwich Golf Club
which adjoins the site, facilities in St. Mary's Park (1.2 miles), Salford Sports Village (1.5
miles) and Prestwich Cricket, Tennis and Bowling Club (1.7 miles).

In addition to the above facilities, there are numerous shops, eating and drinking
establishments and other facilities on Bury New Road to the east of the site.  Hence the
local community would still be able to meet its day-to-day needs and access alternative
sports (including squash) facilities.

Furthermore, the introduction of the proposed Retirement Living development would
generate additional local spend that will help sustain local facilities. Research within the
independent studies carried out by WPI Strategy for the Homes for Later Living Group
entitled "Silver Saviours for the High Street"  published in February 2021 has shown that
retirement housing creates more local economic value and more local jobs than any other
type of residential development. Based on a typical development size of 45 apartments (i.e.
slightly smaller than the 52 units proposed at this site)  people living in a retirement
development generate £550,000 of spending per year, £347,000 of which is spent on the
local high street. Some £225,000 of this is new spending in the local authority, directly
contributing to keeping local shops and facilities open.

Therefore, the demolition of the hotel and its ancillary fitness and sports facilities would not
adversely impact upon the local community's ability to meet its day-to-day needs (including
access to sports and recreation facilities) and there would be no conflict with Policy RT1/1
of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and the NPPF.

Layout and Design
Policy JP-H4 requires new housing development to be delivered at a density appropriate to
the location, reflecting the relative accessibility of the site by walking, cycling and public
transport and the need to achieve efficient use of land and high quality design. Policy
JP-H4 sets out minimum densities that should be considered.

The minimum density for the site would be 50 dwellings per hectare. The application form
states that the site area is 0.62 hectares. The proposal would therefore lead to a density of
84 dwellings per hectare. The proposal would therefore exceed the minimum density
required. As such, it is considered that the proposal would achieve efficient use of land.

Page 111



Page No 8

Policies H2/1 and H2/2 provide the assessment criteria for detailed matters relating to
height, appearance, density and character, aspects and finishing materials for new
residential developments.  Policy JP-H3 - Seeks to provide an appropriate mix of dwelling
types and sizes reflecting local plan policies and having regard to relevant local evidence.
Development across the plan area should seek to incorporate a range of dwelling types and
sizes, including for self-build. Policy EN1/2 seeks to ensure that development proposals
would not have a detrimental effect on the visual amenity and character of a particular area.
Policy JP-P1 Sustainable Places aims to promote a series of beautiful, healthy and varied
places.

The Bury Housing Need and Demand Assessment demonstrates a need for specialist older
person accommodation (use Class C3), which the proposed development will provide.

The buildings that surround the site are largely depicted by a mixture of detached,
semi-detached and terraced two storey residential dwellings. A two storey flat roof
commercial property (Fairways House) faces the site, and Rico House a three storey
commercial property is located approximately 75 metres along George Street separated
from the site by two storey dwellings.

Whilst the proposal would be three storey's in height, it would be reduced to single storey,
and two storeys in height adjacent to the boundary No. 31 George Street so that it ties in
with the residential scale of these residential properties increasing in height to three storeys
approximately 14 metres off the shared boundary. As the site is located at the end of a
street, and is set back off the main frontage with the highway it is considered that three
storey design is acceptable and would not appear incongruous or overly dominating within
the street scene.

The proposal seeks to use a mixture of red facing brickwork and white render for the
external elevations. The use of render, and brick heads gives the external elevations
elements of interest. The canopy above the entrance door makes it clear focal point within
the elevation that faces towards George Street. The pitched gable roofs would replicate the
shape and style of neighbouring residential properties. 

SPD 1 states that should viability be raised as an issue to the satisfaction of the Council,
the Council may accept the provision of onsite amenity space for residents similar to that
required for category C2 schemes to meet the requirements of the SPD. Amenity space for
the future occupiers would be provided through a mixture of  private balconies and terraces,
and a shared garden area that would be connected via circulation paths that run through
the grounds with access to a potting shed and gazebo. Benches are shown throughout the
site. It is therefore considered that there is adequate onsite amenity space for the residents.

The existing public right of way that runs along the western edge of the site would not be
obstructed by the proposal. The landscaping scheme shows an area of native shrub
planting alongside the grasscrete which the public right of way would run along and the
applicant has confirmed that they consider that this will create an area defensible space
alongside the PROW.

Policy JP-H3: states that all new dwelling must:
1. Comply with the nationally described space standards; and
2. Be built to the ‘accessible and adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building
Regulations unless specific site conditions make this impracticable.

The applicant has provided a nationally described space standards schedule (NDSS) for

Page 112



Page No 9

each of the floors, and each of the apartments within the proposal. Each unit would exceed
the minimum floor area, and bedroom areas required. Bedroom widths would also exceed
those required by NDSS. A condition can be used to secure compliance with Part M4(2).

It is therefore considered that the proposed development would not be a prominent or
intrusive feature in the streetscene, and would provide suitable living and amenity space for
future occupiers. The proposal would therefore be in accordance with Policies EN1/2, H2/1,
H2/2 JP-H3 and JP-H4 of the Development Plan.

Amenity
UDP Policy H1/2 states that the council will have regard to various factors when assessing
a proposal for residential development, including whether the proposal is within the urban
area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of the site, with regard to amenity,
the nature of the local environment and the surrounding land uses. There are no adopted
aspect standards for new build residential properties however, Supplementary Planning
Document 6 provides guidance on aspect standards between residential properties and as
such, would be a reasonable guide in this case.

For clarity the following aspect standards would be applicable:
20 metres between directly facing habitable room windows;
13 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed two storey blank
wall
6.5 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed single storey
blank wall
7 metres between a proposed first floor habitable room window and a directly facing
boundary with a neighbouring property.

Any assessment will take into account significant change in levels or new accommodation
to be provided at a higher storey. In this regard, there should be an extra 3 metres of
separation for each 2.5m or one storey of height or level difference in each of the above
cases.

The proposed south facing, east and west facing ground floor windows would be screened
by the proposed 1.8 metre closed boarded fencing. The front ground floor windows would
face towards the proposed parking and would be separated from any directly facing
properties by the highway to the front of the site.

The sections indicate that the dwellings that are currently under construction to the south of
the site would be located at a level that is approximately 1 storey lower than the site. As
such an additional 3 metres have been added to aspect standards.  The proposed habitable
first floor south facing windows would be located a minimum of approximately 11.8 metres
from the rear boundaries of the properties along Teeside Avenue exceeding the 10 metres
required by SPD 6.  The balconies relating to units 31, 32 and 33 would be located
approximately 10 metres from the rear garden boundaries of these properties complying
with the 10 metres required by SPD 6. The balcony associated with unit 34 would have an
onward view of the shared gardens associated with the development.

The proposed habitable first floor east facing windows would be located a minimum of
approximately 14 metres from the shared boundary with the properties on Teeside Avenue
exceeding the 10 metres required by SPD 6. The balconies relating to units 18 and 19
would be located a minimum of approximately 13 metres from this shared boundary
exceeding the 10 metres required by SPD 6. The balconies associated with units 17 and 35
would have an onward view of the shared garden, or the bin access to the rear of the
properties on Teeside Avenue.

Page 113



Page No 10

The proposed habitable first floor west facing windows would be located a minimum of
approximately 11.9 metres from the shared boundary with the golf course exceeding the 7
metres required by SPD 6. The balconies relating to unites 20, 21, 22, 23 and 24 would be
located a minimum of approximately 10.1 metres from this shared boundary exceeding the
7 metres required by SPD 6.

The proposed habitable second floor south facing windows would be located a minimum of
approximately 12 metres from the rear boundaries of the properties along Teeside Avenue.
The balconies relating to units 49 and 50 would be located approximately 10 metres from
the rear garden boundaries of these properties. Due to the differences in levels SPD 6
requires 13 metres from these windows and balconies and the directly facing boundary. It is
noted however that there is already an existing relationship between the dwellings and the
existing hotel which is located in much closer proximity to the boundary of the gardens of
these properties, particularly in relation to No. 10 - 16 Teeside Avenue which would have
the closest relationship with the proposed balconies. Given that this overbearing
relationship would be improved, as the proposed building would be located further off their
boundary than the exiting hotel and planting of native trees is proposed along the rear
boundary it is considered that the relationship is acceptable.

The proposed habitable second floor east facing windows would be located a minimum of
approximately 14 metres from the shared boundary with the properties on Teeside Avenue
exceeding the 13 metres required by SPD 6. The balconies relating to units 38 and 37
would be located a minimum of approximately 13 metres from this shared boundary
complying with SPD 6. The balconies associated with units 36 and 52 would have an
onward view of the shared garden, or the bin access to the rear of the properties on
Teeside Avenue.

The proposed habitable second floor west facing windows would be located a minimum of
approximately 11.9 metres from the shared boundary with the golf course exceeding the 10
metres required by SPD 6. The balconies relating to unites 39, 40, 41, 42 and 43 would be
located a minimum of approximately 10.1 metres from this shared boundary exceeding the
10 metres required by SPD 6.

The proposed front first floor and second floor habitable room windows would be separated
from directly facing properties by a highway, soft landscaping and the proposed parking
and as such no undue loss of privacy is foreseen.

The proposed front elevation of the stepped down two storey element of the development
would project beyond the front elevation of No. 31 George Street.  This elevation would not
impact on a 45 degree line as taken from the midpoint of the nearest ground floor habitable
room window of this property and as such would not be unduly overbearing.

The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the aspect standards and guidance as
set out within SPD 6.

Highways, Access and Travel
Policy EN1/2 requires the consideration of the design and appearance of access, parking
and service provision. This is further supported by Policy H2/2 that requires proposals to
demonstrate adequate car parking provision, access for both vehicles and pedestrians, and
provision for public transport and the existence of any public rights of way. Policies JP-C5
and JP-C6 require streets to be well designed and managed to make a significant positive
contribution to the quality of place and support high levels of walking, cycling and public
transport.

Page 114



Page No 11

The proposal will be served by the same vehicular access arrangement onto George Street
that serves the existing site. The vehicular access will be slightly widened and modified to
tie in with the layout of the development.

Transport Requirements
Policy JP-C8 requires new development to be located and designed to enable and
encourage walking, cycling and public transport use and to reduce the negative effects of
car dependency.

Surveys are presented within the Transport Statement of similar retirement apartment sites
throughout the country, which have been used to generate the likely trip generation of the
development. This demonstrates that the highest trip generation is likely to be
between 12:00-13:00 where 14 two-way trips are predicted. Additionally, it is noted
that when compared to the trip generating potential of the former Hotel use, the
number of trips associated with this development would be further reduced.

The nearest bus stops to the site are located along the A56 Bury New Road, around a
6-minute walk away. These stops provide services to Manchester City Centre and Bury
Interchange at regular intervals. It is therefore considered that there are some genuine
public transport options available as an alternative to the private car

The proposed development is in a sustainable location within easy access of bus routes on
Bury New Road with local amenities close by which will encourage and enable people at the
development to make sustainable transport choices. The proposal is therefore considered
to be in conformity with Policy JP-C8.

Parking
In terms of parking standards, in addition to Policy JP-C8 and Policy HT2/4 requires all
applications for development to make adequate provision for their car parking and servicing
requirements .  Supplementary Planning Document 11 provides parking standards for
developments.

The Transport Statement notes that on site car parking will be provided and that each
parking space will be capable of providing electric vehicle charging facilities. There is no
specific parking standards for this type of development within SPD11. However, the
maximum standards for sheltered housing, which is a similar use, is 1 space per 3 units.
This equates to 17.33 spaces.

The proposed car park contains 37 spaces, which would provide 17-18 spaces for residents
and visitor spaces and 10 staff spaces. The scheme is aimed at the older population who
will require an increasing level of care, which means that a significant proportion of the
residents of this scheme are unlikely to be car drivers as the average age is 85. It is
anticipated that some of the staff will live locally or use public transport and there are bus
stops  in close proximity to the site.  As such the proposals would not conflict with Policy
HT2/4 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and SPD11.

Active Travel
Policy JP-C1 requires developments to be located and designed to deliver a significant
increase in the proportion of trips that can be made by walking, cycling and public transport.
Developments should prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users. In order to
encourage walking and cycling, it should be ensured that the pedestrian and cycling
environment, within and around the site, is designed to be as safe, attractive and
convenient as possible, including natural surveillance where possible. This should provide

Page 115



Page No 12

sufficient links to the surrounding pedestrian and cycle networks

There are good quality pedestrian routes to the site with a pedestrian crossing on George
Street which provide safe links to the existing bus stops and local amenities on Bury New
Road. Given that the scheme is for retirement living it is acknowledged that there will be
less need for cycling facilities. SPD 11 is silent on the provision for cycle parking for this
type of development. It is also acknowledged that the Transport Statement has assessed
existing similar developments and noted that the number of cycle movements to and from
retirement living developments is extremely low. However, the Transport Statement states
that sufficient cycle parking is to be provided on the site to accommodate the anticipated
cycle usage associated with the proposed development and sufficient to encourage
residents to pursue an active lifestyle through walking and cycling where they are able. The
proposal is therefore considered to be in conformity with Policy JP-C1.

In addition to this footpath 9PRE is located along the western boundary of the site. As such
UDP Policy RT3/3 - Access to the Countryside is also applicable as it requires the Council
to seek to improve and extend the existing network of Public Rights of Way. This policy also
supports the aspirations of the PfE policies listed above. The users of the public right of
way will have access to the full width of the grasscrete access road and there are no
proposed car parking spaces in the line of the path. As such it is considered that the
existing public right of way has been fully accommodated within the proposed layout.

Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain
Policy JP-G8 states that through local planning and associated activities a net
enhancement of biodiversity resources will be sought. This is supported by Policy EN6/3
that seeks to retain, protect and enhance the natural environment and seeks to retain
features of ecological or wildlife value. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that the planning
policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment.
Policy EN8/2 supports and encourages new woodland and tree planting within the borough.
This is further supported by Policy JP-G7 that aims to significantly increase tree cover and
requires 2no. replacement trees for each tree lost or other measures that would also result
in a net enhancement in the character and quality of the treescape and biodiversity value in
the local area.

Bats
A valid bat report has been provided, in line with the recommendation of the bat
assessment.  Two dusk surveys during the peak activity season have occurred.  No
evidence of bat roosting was recorded.  It can therefore be concluded that demolition of the
existing building is very unlikely to have any negative effect on the conservation status of
bats in the locality.  As individual bats can on occasion turn up in unexpected locations and
bat activity was recorded around the building, and as such an informative should be
attached to any permission in relation to this.

GMEU have considered the external lighting proposed, and are satisfied that there would
be no significant effect on the ability of bats to forage and commute around the area.

Nesting Birds
Trees and shrubs will be lost which are potential bird nesting habitat. Birds may also nest
on the building though none have been noted in the ecological report. All British birds nests
and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife &
Countryside Act 1981, as amended. GMEU therefore recommend a condition to restrict
works to trees and shrubs and demolition within the bird nesting season.

Three bird boxes are also requested by GMEU to be provided through condition.

Page 116



Page No 13

Other Wildlife
The site is generally very low risk for other wildlife such as badger, hedgehog and for
amphibians, with no evidence on site and no records within the zone of influence of the
development and limited cover on the site. The site is currently occupied by a hotel and
does not serve as a connection between habitats. GMEU have confirmed that they satisfied
that the risks are low enough that it would be unreasonable to request reasonable
avoidance measures. 

Himalayan Balsam
This species is listed under schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended), was recorded on the site.   It is an offence to introduce or cause to grow wild
any plant listed under this schedule.

Prior to any earthworks a method statement detailing control measures for himalayan
balsam should be supplied to and agreed in writing to the LPA.  The agreed method
statement shall be adhered to and implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the LPA.

Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment & Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)
The submitted Biodiversity Metric Report and Metric Tool indicate that a net gain in
biodiversity will be achieved on-site as follows:
- Habitat Units +0.36
- Hedgerow Units +1.34

The site is primarily hard standing and building with small areas of soft landscaping
primarily ornamental.  This will be replaced with similar habitats, but with an overall increase
in the percentage of the site that is vegetated.   

GMEU have reviewed the BNG metric that has been submitted and are satisfied that the
defra metric is robust, with the baseline values appearing reasonable. GMEU have
concluded that even if some of the proposed condition targets are failed for the created
habitats more than 10% BNG will be achieved on the site for area based habitats.

As no bats were found, GMEU have recommended as mitigation for loss of bat roost
opportunities two bat boxes via condition.

Trees
12 trees will be retained on-site and the habitat creation will involve woodland bulbs,
ornamental planting, native shrub planting, grassland, wildflower meadow planting, 50 small
trees and native and evergreen hedge creation.

This equates to a 15.25% gain in habitat units and a 1131.56% gain in hedgerow units. The
trading rules of the metric have been satisfied, as habitats lost have been 'traded up'. As
such, the proposal meets the requirements of Policy JP-G8.

PfE Policy JP-G7: Trees and Woodland requires replacement of lost trees, on the basis of
two trees for each tree lost, or other measures that would also result in a net enhancement
of the character and quality of the tree scape and biodiversity value. The proposal to
provide 50 small trees on-site satisfies this policy.

The development should protect trees and woodland during the construction phase of and
this can be conditioned to ensure full compliance with Policy JP-G7.

Page 117



Page No 14

Carbon and Energy
JP-S2 - Carbon & Energy sets out the steps required to achieve net zero carbon emissions.
The proposed development is designed to utilise a high performing thermal envelope to
minimise heat loss, as well as efficient heating and lighting systems, which will drive energy
efficiency in the building to meet the targets for space and water heating demand. This is
augmented by the use of an Air Source Heat Pump system to provide hot water to drive low
carbon, efficient energy usage within the building design. Photovoltaic panels (PVs) will be
fitted for the communal areas to generate electrical energy. A detailed Energy Statement
has been submitted with the planning application. The proposal is therefore in conformity
with Policy JP-S2.

Digital Connectivity
JP-C2 - Digital Connectivity - this policy requires development to have full fibre to premises
connections unless infeasible or unviable, with multiple-ducting.  The policy supports the
provision of free, secure, high-speed public wi-fi connections, particularly in the most
frequented areas. The applicant has confirmed that the development will be provided with
full connections in accordance with the requirements of Policy JP-C2.

Drainage
Any proposal should include a surface water scheme that must be based on the hierarchy
of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance and include assessment of
potential SuDS options for surface water drainage with appropriate calculations and test
results to support the chosen solution. It must be designed in accordance with the
Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015).

United Utilities have reviewed the submitted drainage strategy and confirmed that the
proposals are acceptable in principle.

Health and Wellbeing
JP-P6 - Health - this policy supports improvements in healthcare facilities. Where
appropriate, the provision of new or improved health facilities will be required proportionate
to the additional demand generated. 

The applicants have provided an independent study carried out by WPI Strategy for the
Homes for Later Living Group entitled "Healthier and Happier" which demonstrates that
people living in all forms of housing for older people have significantly greater well-being
than those living in other types of accommodation. 

In addition, having better to access to housing, improvements in the environment and
access to on-site communal indoor and outdoor space are considered to have a beneficial
impact to health. The proposals are therefore in accordance with Policy JP-P6. 

Planning Obligations
An independent review of the submitted Financial Viability Assessment has been
undertaken by Capita.

The full open market shows a negative position on viability when the Residual Land Value
(£2,458,260) is compared to the Benchmark Land Value (£3,360,000). A deficit of minus
-£901,740. This is on the basis of no affordable housing provision or off-site contribution
and also no additional section 106 asks/obligations.

Any inclusion of affordable housing provision/off-site financial payment and/or section 106
obligations will only increase the deficit meaning the site is even less viable.

Page 118



Page No 15

The independent review concludes that the development is unviable and any additional
requirements for affordable housing or section 106 matters could not be accommodated.
Due to the outcome of this review a section 106 overage clause is sought to secure a
financial contribution if the GDV is higher than anticipated.

Response to Representations
The existing site is in private ownership. The owners of the site can close this site,  and the
associated leisure facilities at anytime without the need to re-provide them elsewhere.

The impact of the proposal in relation to traffic has been covered within the main body of
the report and a Construction Traffic Management Plan condition has been included.

The existing public right of way to the west of the site has been maintained.

Residential and visual amenity has been addressed within the main body of the report.

United Utilities have assessed the drainage proposal and requested a condition to ensure
compliance with the drainage plans submitted. This has been included within the
recommendation. 

The need for this type of housing and the principal of development have been addressed
within the main body of the report.

The submitted Financial Viability Assessment has been externally assessed.

Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015

The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to
identify various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal
comprised sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and
environmental conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan.
These were incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning
condition. The Local Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement
in Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation: Minded to Approve

Conditions/ Reasons

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the
date of this permission.
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act
1990.

2. This decision relates to drawings numbered NO-2953-3-AC-PL01 PL1,
NO-2953-3-AC-PL02 PL1, NO-2953-03-AC-PL03 PL1, NO-2953-03-AC-PL04
PL1, NO-2953-03-AC-PL05 PL2, NO-2953-03-AC-PL06.2 PL2,
NO-2953-03-AC-PL06.1 PL2, NO-2953-03-AC-PL06 PL7, NO-2953-03-AC-PL07
PL3, NO-2953-03-AC-PL08 PL3, NO-2953-03-AC-PL09 PL2,
NO-2953-03-AC-PL10 PL2, NO-2953-03-AC-PL11 PL2, NO-2953-03-AC-PL13
PL2, NO-2953-03-AC-PL15 PL2, NO-2953-03-AC-PL16 PL2,
NO-2953-03-AC-PL17 PL2, NO-2953-03-AC-PL21, NO-2953-03-AC-PL22,
NO-2953-03-AC-PL23 PL1, NW-2953-3-LA-101 Rev D, NW-2953-3-LA-201 Rev

Page 119



Page No 16

C, 882746 LDE P1. FLP/BS/01, MCS-2953-PRESTWICH,
40-01-LDE-DR-D-01-01-P4, 40-01-LDE-DR-D-01-02-P2,
40-01-LDE-DR-D-01-03-P2, 40-02-LDE-02-01-P4, 40-02-LDE-02-02-P2,
40-02-LDE-02-03-P2 and the development shall not be carried out except in
accordance with the drawings hereby approved.
Reason.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
design pursuant to the policies of the Development Plan listed.

3. Details/Samples of the (materials/bricks) to be used in the external elevations,
together with details of their manufacturer, type/colour and size, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the
development is commenced. Only the approved materials/bricks shall be used for
the construction of the development.
Reason. No material samples have been submitted and are required in the
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to
UDP Policy EN1/2  - Townscape and Built Design.

4. No development shall commence unless and until:-
1. A contaminated land Preliminary Risk Assessment report to assess the

actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks at the site
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority;

2. Where actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks have
been identified, detailed site investigation and suitable risk assessment shall
be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority;

3. Where remediation/protection measures is/are required, a detailed
Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual contamination and
subsequent remediation, which is required to secure the satisfactory development
of the site in terms of human health, controlled waters, ground gas and the wider
environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 -
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

5. Following the provisions of Condition 4 of this planning permission, where
remediation is required, the approved Remediation Strategy must be carried out to
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within agreed timescales; and
A Site Verification Report detailing the actions taken and conclusions at each
stage of the remediation works, including substantiating evidence, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
development being brought into use.
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human
health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment.

6. Prior to occupation the applicant shall provide:

1. 1 no. electric vehicle (EV) charging point (minimum 7kW*) per unit for
dwellings with dedicated parking; or

2. Electric vehicle (EV) charging points (minimum 7kW*) for a minimum of 20%
of car parking spaces for dwellings with unallocated parking; or

3. Electric vehicle (EV) charging points (minimum 7kW*) for a minimum of 20%
of the proposed parking spaces.

Page 120



Page No 17

Photographic evidence of the installation of the agreed electric vehicle charge
points shall be submitted to Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the
development being brought into use.

*Mode 3, 7kW (32A) single phase, or 22kW (32A) three phase, and for 50kW
Mode 4 rapid charging may be required. British Standard BS EN 61851-1:2019 to
be used. Further information regarding minimum standards can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/transport/low-emission-and-electric-vehicles.

Reason. To encourage the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles and ensure the
development is sustainable and to safeguard residential amenity, public health
and quality of life with respect to Local Air Quality, in accordance with paragraphs
111e, 116e, 180e and 192 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December
2023) and Places for Everyone Policy JP-S5 (Clean Air).

7. The removal of tree T1 may has the potential to cause harm to bats as identified
in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal , e3p ref. 81-460-R1-1 and shall not in any
circumstances occur unless precautionary measures or further survey have been
provided to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to policies JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity
and EN6/3 – Features of Ecological Value of the  Development Plan and Section
11 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

8. No works to trees or shrubs shall occur or demolition commence between the 1st
March and 31st August in any year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably
experienced ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance and
written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has been
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species
pursuant to policies JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity
and EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Development Plan and National
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment.

9. Prior to the commencement of any earthworks full details of a scheme for the
control of Himalayan Balsam (Impatiens Glandulifera) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved management
plan shall include a timetable for implementation. Should a delay of more than one
year occur between the date of approval of the management scheme and either
the date of implementation of the management scheme or the date of
development commencing, a further site survey must be undertaken and
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.
Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual extent of
Himalayan Balsam in the interest of Development Plan Policy JP-G1 - Landscape
Character and pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 -
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

10. The landscaping scheme hereby approved shall be implemented not later than 12
months from the date the building is first occupied and shall include the provision
of 2no bat boxes, 3no. bird boxes and swift bricks.  Any trees or shrubs removed,
dying or becoming severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5
years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of a similar size and species

Page 121



Page No 18

to those originally required to be planted to the written satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of
visual amenity and protected species pursuant to Policies EN8/2 – Woodland and
Tree Planting and JP-G8 -  A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity
of the Development Plan and chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment of the NPPF.

11. All trees to be retained on site shall be protected in accordance with the approved
Arboricultural Method Statement TRE/FLGSP and BS 5837:2012 "Trees in
relation to design, demolition and construction". The development shall not
commence unless and until the measures required by the British Standard are
implemented and all measures required shall remain in situ until the development
has been completed.
Reason. To avoid the loss of trees which are of amenity value to the area
pursuant to Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, JP-G7 - Trees and
Woodland and EN8/2 – Woodland and Tree Planting of the  Development Plan.

12. The Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the Biodiversity
Metric Report dated 5th March 2024 and prepared by e3p and must include:
1. information about the steps taken or to be taken to minimise the adverse effect

of the development on the biodiversity of the onsite habitat and any other
habitat;

2. the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat;
3. the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat;
4. any registered offsite biodiversity gain allocated to the development and the

biodiversity and the biodiversity value of that gain in relation to the
development;

5. any biodiversity credits purchased for the development; and
6. any such other matters as the Secretary of State may by regulations specify.
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

13. The development shall not commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring
Plan (the HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain
Plan and including:
1. a non-technical summary;
2. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the

HMMP;
3. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve

habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved
Biodiversity Gain Plan;

4. the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion
of development; and

5. the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority,

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

14. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until:

Page 122



Page No 19

1. the habitat creation and enhancement works set out in the approved HMMP
have been completed; and

2. a completion report, evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP.
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

15. Monitoring reports shall be submitted to local planning authority in writing in
accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the approved HMMP.
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity.

16. Within 6 months of the occupation of the development hereby approved a Travel
Plan shall be produced for the development, with the objective of reducing
reliance on the private car, particularly single occupancy use and shall be
submitted to, and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel
Plan should be designed to raise awareness of opportunities for reducing travel by
car and should feature a range of measures and initiatives promoting a choice of
transport mode, and a clear monitoring regime with agreed targets.

The details subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed
programme.
Reason. Information not submitted with the planning application. To encourage
sustainable travel choices pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan Policy
Policy JP-C1 - An Integrated Network and JP- C3 - Public Transport.

17. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water
Drainage Design Drawing 40-02-LDE-02-03-P2 Dated December 23 which was
prepared by LDE. For the avoidance of doubt surface water must drain at the
restricted rate of 6 l/s. No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or
indirectly into the public sewer. Prior to occupation of the proposed development,
the drainage schemes shall be completed in accordance with the approved details
and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
Reason. To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. To promote
sustainable development and reduce flood risk pursuant to Development Plan
Policies JP-S4 - Flood Risk and the Water Environment, EN7/3 - Water Pollution
and EN7/5 - Waste Water Management and chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of
climate change, flooding and coastal change of the NPPF.

18. The dwellings hereby approved shall be built in accordance with the ‘accessible
and adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations.
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site pursuant to Places for
Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-H3: Type, Size and Design of New
Housing.

For further information on the application please contact Helen Pressley on 0161 253 5277

Page 123



Fairways

House

18

Hotel

2

1

Posts

66.0m

66.3m

70.6m

2

4

11

10

8

9

3

7

1

5

6

Viewpoints

Page 124



70484 

Photo 1 

 

Photo 2 

 

Page 125



70484 

Photo 3 

 

Photo 4 

 

Page 126



70484 

Photo 5 

 

Photo 6 

 

Page 127



70484 

Photo 7 

 

Photo 8 

 

Page 128



70484 

Photo 9 

 

Photo 10 

 

Page 129



70484 

Photo 11 

 

Page 130



P
age 131



P
age 132



P
age 133



P
age 134



P
age 135



P
age 136



P
age 137



P
age 138



P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�����������	


�
��
������������������������

�
�
��	�

�
������������� �

�
�������	�

�
�����
��������������

�
�����������	�

�
��
������������������
�
�������

�
����
����������	�

�
�
�����
����

� �

�
����������������	�

�
���������
�

�����������
������
�������
���	�

 !"#
$%$&'
"#
(")!"*
)!&
$+,-".
/01%"*




�
����
��	�

�
 !&
'&$0')
-"#)#2

3&.&*)
/&-&4%)&/
$-%**"*4
/&."#"0*#
#"*.&
)!&
-%#)
566�

�
��������7�
�������������������



 !&
6011"))&&
"#
'&.011&*/&/
)0
)!&
*0)&
)!&
'&$0')

%*/
%$$&*/".&#


�
������
�����	�

�

�
�89:89;<=�
>?@��8�>A��
�9;?=B89C	�



D0
)!&
$'0$0#%-#
%..0'/
(")!
)!&
50-".E

F'%1&(0'GH

 I&#
 
 


�<;<=?=J<�K��<L=��MNM��OO>A=9	�
�>J;JA>;���?:�>A;<>8J@�;JP��>@C�
�8J@>P=9;<>8J@	�



QR&.+)"S&
D"'&.)0'
0T
3&#0+'.&#
)0
%/S"#&

'&4%'/"*4
'"#G
1%*%4&1&*)


�
�<;<=?=J<�K���U=A�<>V=��>9=A<89�
8O��=@8�9A=@	�

�
WXY

�

�
�Z�;�><���>V=9@><��>?:�>A;<>8J@	�



W0
 





�
�8J@>P=9=P�K���8J><89>J[��OO>A=9	�



\]̂

�
�

�
_;9P@�
OO=A<=P	�

�
Y--
-"#)&/


�
�A9�<>J���J<=9=@<	�
�

�
WXY


�


[=JP;�
�<=?�

`

������������������
a


Page 141

Agenda Item 5



���������	�
����

 
 ������
��




�����������������
������ ���!��"��#��$�

%��&�

����������
'�&(���������

)��"�'�&(��#� *���+��#�

�
�

� � �

������+,��-&&������ �-&&������ �-�+��.� �



�


 
 



 � � �

�
/01
 2�����
3��

�
%��#��#���&-+��.,���$-����-�����*.�++�+ ��-+��-.��-&&������-������"�.� ���"�$.�++�+ �
"���#�-+#�&�"��(,�����-������#�-�������-�+��.4��
�
501
 �
��63��
�


�
%�����������&�(��+-��"4

�
�

�
6789
:;
2<=>?@:ABC
	<DE@8�F�:BE

�
�:B9<=9
�E9<7G8�F

�
H���"�'��+-I�J��"�-��H���.-$&�+��'�+� �&�+���
*.�++�+ ��������#I�H�$���&�+���-��K�#-����#��+"�K� �.���-+�
L�M+-N#.�,�*.����
O��,�O!P�Q�R�


�EG�
1/S/
5TU
T5V/

�W<7G�
C0W<@B:XYA@Z0?:[0A>




\
]

Page 142



����������������	�
����
���
���������
�
��	
���
�
���

�
	�

��� ���������������� �����������

���� !"#$�%&'()�

*++,-./�0123�4-56121-57�89:8;:<8<=�

>?,21?@�6/A-@121-5�?56�,/+@?B/A/52�-C�9�5-D�60/@@15E�

9�FGC-,6�H2,//2I�>1A3-@/I�JK,LI�JMN�;OM�
PQM�R��S�TU�
V�;8=;8�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

*++,-./�0123�4-56121-57�99:8;:<8<=�

Y?,1?21-5�-C�B-56121-5�5-D�<�Z?++,-./6�+@?57[�C-@@-015E�?++,-.?@�-C�+@?5515E�+/,A1771-5�\\]9̂ _�
/̀+@?B/�aH12/�M-B?21-5�>@?5a�?56�ab/71E5�?56�*BB/77�H2?2/A/52a�2-�?A/56�23/�+,-+-7/6�
,/+@?B/A/52�2,//�+@?5215E�@-B?21-57�

P?1,C1/@6�c/5/,?@�d-7+12?@I�̀-B36?@/�F@6�̀-?6I�JK,LI�JMN�;eb�
PQM�R��S�TU�
V�;8;;N�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

*++,-./�0123�4-56121-57�99:8;:<8<=�

>,1-,�?++,-.?@�C-,�+,-+-7/6�6/A-@121-5�-C�+?,2�-C�23/�/G17215E�fK7�72?21-5�B?5-+L�23?2�?fK27�23/�
/G17215E�*6A1,?@�J15E-�d?@@�Z>,15B/77�>?,?6/[D�

=;�g?,h/2�H2,//2I�JK,LI�JMN�8Jd�
bOg�R��S�TU�
V�;8]\9�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

���� !"#$ i jkk�#lmn�%&'()�

*++,-./�0123�4-56121-57�8=:8;:<8<=�

H15E@/�72-,/L�,/?,�/G2/571-5o�?@2/,?21-5�2-�/G17215E�,--C�?56�,/A-.?@�-C�E,-K56�C@--,�B31A5/L�

=pN�q?@A/,7@/L�̀-?6I�JK,LI�JMN�̂OQ�
PQM�R��S�TU�
V�;8\̂ 8�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

*++,-./�0123�4-56121-57�89:8;:<8<=�

H15E@/�72-,/L�/G2/571-5�?2�716/�

<99�q?@A/,7@/L�̀-?6I�JK,LI�JMN�̂bP�
PQM�R��S�TU�
V�;8;]\�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

���� !"#$ i rnms"tn#�%&'()�

*++,-./�0123�4-56121-57�8̂ :8;:<8<=�

H15E@/�72-,/L�716/�/G2/571-5�2-�/G17215E�6/2?B3/6�E?,?E/�

<�4-5172-5�b,1./I�JK,LI�JMN�N>u�
PQM�R��S�TU�
V�;8;9<�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

>,1-,�*++,-.?@�̀/vK1,/6�?56�̀/CK7/6�8p:8;:<8<=�

>,1-,�?++,-.?@�C-,�+,-+-7/6�B3?5E/�-C�K7/�C,-A�-CC1B/7�Z4@?77�O[�2-�<�5-D�60/@@15E7�Z4@?77�4p[�

JK,L�P?A1@L�4/52,/I�;<w;=�e/52/,7�H2,//2I�JK,LI�JMN�8dM�
>px>*�R��S�TU�
V�;8;=]�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

>,1-,�*++,-.?@�y-2�̀/vK1,/6�w�OG2/571-5�89:8;:<8<=�

>,1-,�?++,-.?@�C-,�+,-+-7/6�715E@/�72-,/L�,/?,�/G2/571-5�

\8�J,1/,@/L�H2,//2I�JK,LI�JMN�NJ̀ �
c>bO�R��S�TU�
V�;8]89�R������	�
��W
SV�

X
��	�
�V�

��
�
���V�

z{|}~|{}{���&���z������
Page 143



����������	�
���
�������

���������������� !�"#$"%$&"&'�

�������(�������� !�)�*!+�+)�!����*��,+-!+ .�-+ .���-!�*�/�*��*��,!� -+� �

0&1�2��(�3!*��!4�5�*/4�5�6�&78�
��9:�;<<=>?@<AB�%"%C"�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

P��*�����+!Q�9� (+!+� -�"0$"%$&"&'�

R+*-!�����*�-+(���,!� -+� �

'"�2��(Q+���R��(4�5�*/4�5�6�0ST�
RS��;<<=>?@<AB�%"%#"�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

����������	������������

���������������� !�"0$"%$&"&'�

�������(�������� !�)�*!+�+)�!����*��*���-�(�)� -!*�)!+� ����-+(��� (�*��*��,!� -+� -�

U��*�V��-�4�'&�9�)W�/�U��*�X��(4�5�*/4�5�6�&V5�
��9Y�;<<=>?@<AB�%"%C6�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

Z���[�\]
���������

P��*�����+!Q�9� (+!+� -�"'$"%$&"&'�

9� ��*-+� �����,+-!+ .�0� �̂�(����+ .�+ !��'� �̂�-���*�!��(����+ .-�

2��(�U+��4�2��(�X��(��� �4�3����*-��!4�5�*/4�5�#�17P�
RS��;<<=>?@<AB�C#&CC�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

P��*�����+!Q�9� (+!+� -�"'$"%$&"&'�

X�+ -!�!��� !�����+(_!�**�)�(�Q��-���!� �̂�1�:�-!�̀+���������+ .�)�����!��)�����-����!�*�
�,���-+� �� (�*���(+�����*W-�!���,!�* ���� ��������!� �̂�'�:�-!�̀+���

'�a�1�:�-!�̀+��4�3����*-��!4�5�*/4�5�#�1Yb�
RS��;<<=>?@<AB�%"'6&�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

P��*�����+!Q�9� (+!+� -�&6$"C$&"&'�

�����+!+� �����,+-!+ .�)� -�*��!�*/c�3+ .���-!�*�/�*��*��,!� -+� c�*�+-�(�(�)W+ .��!�*��*c�
9� ��*-+� �� (��,!� -+� �!��.�*�.��� (��+(� + .����(*+����/�� (��,!�* �����!�*�!+� -�

0%�P-Qd�* ���*+��4�3����*-��!4�X��-d�!!��4�5�*/4�5�#�1Y��
RS��;<<=>?@<AB�%"C"%�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

P��*�����+!Q�9� (+!+� -�"#$"%$&"&'�

3+ .���-!�*�/�*��*��,!� -+� c�9� ��*-+� ����.�*�.��!���+�+ .��))����(�!+� ��+!Q�-+ .���-!�*�/�
-+(���,!� -+� $)� ��/�� (� ����+!)Q�(�*���c�:,!�* �����!�*�!+� -�

e�f*��!��-�P�� ��4�X��-d�!!��4�5�*/4�5�"�#Xg�
RS��;<<=>?@<AB�%"C##�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

P��*�����+!Q�9� (+!+� -�00$"%$&"&'�

f���3!�*�/�3+(��:,!� -+� �!��+ )��(��.�*�.�c�R*� !�)� ��/c�3+ .���3!�*�/�X��*�:,!� -+� c����!�
9� ��*-+� ��+!Q�*��*�(�*��*�

06�h� (���X��(4�X��-d�!!��4�5�*/4�5�"�#3Y�
RS��;<<=>?@<AB�%"%''�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

5�*��.Q�Y�.�� (�:)� ��+)�����i��+)�*�"1$"%$&"&'�

:*�)!+� ����b�*(� $P  �,��d�+�(+ .�!��!Q��-+(��

&0�5��!� �X��(4�f�!!+ .!� 4�5�*/4�5�6�'Vj�
RS��;<<=>?@<AB�%"%1%�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

klmnomlnlp�q�rstltuvtw�
Page 144



�����������	
��	���


��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������������

����������������� ��!�� "��#$%�
&'"�())*+,-)./�
	
0#�())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�


����=������������������	#�	
��	���

>��������������������������

��#�?������������ ��!�� "��0�"�
&'"�())*+,-)./�
	
�
�())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�


����=������������������	#�	
��	���

>����������������������������������

#��� �����������@���������A������� ��!�� "	���'�
&'"�())*+,-)./�
	B�B�())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�

CDEFGHIJKLMLNOPQDOOR�STUVW�


����=���������������������	
��	���

�������������������X����������=���������������!���������X�YZ[��������������������=���������
������!��


�� ��!�\���������@�����������?�����������?�#�0] �

Ŷ �())*+,-)./�
	
�	�())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�

"������Y�=���������	��	
��	���

"��������=����������������������������������������������������������������!���������������_�
���=����������������������������A����������������������������������������������X�

�0�?�����[���������[����������?�����������?�#���Y�
"Y�[�())*+,-)./�
	
B̀�())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�

CDEFGHIJKLMLaERbPEQ�STUVW�

"������Y�=����������B�	0��	���

"������Y�=�������������������������������������=����������̀���X�����������������������������

#̀�c����������������[����������?�����������?�#��$d�
"Y�[�())*+,-)./�
	00��())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�


����=���������������������	
��	���

�̂�����������������������X���e�����=��������f�����������������X�̀�e�����������������=�!f�
���������������=��������������������������0B0
B�Z�$���������������������������A������������
��������A��g������������������������������������=���!�

�	�����������"�����[����������?�����������?�#�	 $�
&'"�())*+,-)./�
	0B��())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�

"������Y�=���������	��	
��	���

"��������=����������������������������������������������������������e&�f�

�	0�h�����������[����������?�����������?�#�	&i�
"Y�>�())*+,-)./�
	
#B�())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�


����=�������������������B�	0��	���

��������������������������A�����������=�������

���?��A��!�
=������[����������?�����������?�#�	"[�
&'"�())*+,-)./�
	
#��())12345267+86*/�

96345267/�

:;6)6<41/�

jklmnlkmko�pTqrstsuvsw�
Page 145



���������	
	��	�
�����������

������������� �!"����!#�$%&$'&($(%�

)�*�+����!��,��-�#��!.�"��++�!.&�/�0/�+"�!.#�1!"����2���!��,�%�!�3�"��12��"�"��++�!.#������
"��12��"�.1�1.�#�

41�!#�/.�� ���1.�5�6�41�!#�/.��7���5�8��#���2�5�91!2��#���5�9(6�:;<�
=<>�?@@ABCD@EF�GHIGJ�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

>1�,/+�)���+��*�!��$I&$'&($(%�

>1�,/+�"���+��*�!��2����,�21���,��������#�"�2�1!.���,�/#��,��*�"��++�!.�W +1##� JX����
��#�"�!��1+���*��W +1##� (X�,���*1-�*/*��,�(�!�3�2��+"��!�W1.�"�:YI:X�1!"�/�����(�!�3�21���#�
������/+"�#+��������!�.����!�1����1�01#�#�

J�;������++#5�8��#���2�5�91!2��#���5�9(6�HZ7�
>) 8�?@@ABCD@EF�'$'J6�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

[
\�]�̂̂�	
	_̀ ���	
a\	b�a��̀ ����������

������������� �!"����!#�(:&$G&($(%�

;�!.+��#����c�,��!�����2��1!"�+�,��2�!���#��!������,��!��1!"���1��"��*��#�

'I�7/�c�d+"�4�1"5�7/�c5�7�+��!5�7>(�6;)�
=<>�?@@ABCD@EF�'$G(I�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

������������� �!"����!#�(:&$G&($(%�

4��+12�*�!��122�##��1*�e��-���!1+�+�.���!.����1++��+��1���!#e�f��2���!��,�(3J6*�,�!2�����
�-��!"��-�#��!.�c1�"�1��1�1!"�(!�3�1""����!1+�122�##�0+���1�g�!.�01c#�

��!#��������*#5�%G6�7/�c�h�7�+��!�4�1"5�41"2+�,,�5�91!2��#���5�9(G�%>i�
=<>�?@@ABCD@EF�'$GJ6�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

������������� �!"����!#�$6&$'&($(%�

j!#�1++1���!��,�I!�3��-���!1++c��++/*�!1��"����+12�*�!����2����1+��1!�+�����-�#��!.�.�00��e�
��+�21����-�#��!.��!���!1++c��++/*�!1��"�,1#2�1�0/�+"�!.�#�.!5�I!�3�!�!Y�++/*�!1��"���#��*�/!��"�
"�/0+��#�"�"�21���1�g�"���2���!1+�#�.!�

��!#��������*#5�%G6�7/�c��!"�7�+��!�4�1"5�41"2+�,,�5�91!2��#���5�9(G�%>i�
�)k�?@@ABCD@EF�'$:$(�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

[
\�]�̂̂�	
	l����������

������������� �!"����!#�(:&$G&($(%�

4��+12�*�!�����,#����1++�,+1�#5��!2+/"�!.���*��1+��,������-�#��!.���+c21�0�!1���1��-�.+1m�!.�
#c#��*�1!"���#����+12�*�!��������1,���#��-��!"�"����1�!�����".��0�1*�1!"�,/++c���+�"5�1+�!.�
�����,/++����,�!.�1!"�k�+/-����,�+�.��#��!#�1++�"�����������-�#��!.�.+1m�"�1��1#5��!2+/"�!.5�
�!#�1++1���!��,��!��.�1��"�#�+1���������+�1�2#��!�����#�/���,12�!.����,�#+���#3�

=+1�#�IYJ6��!2+/#���5�9���,��+"5�n��"#���������!/�5�41"2+�,,�5�91!2��#���5�9(G�JZo�
=<>�?@@ABCD@EF�'$%G(�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

l����̂��]\	p	qa��̀ ���	
	r������������

������������� �!"����!#�(:&$G&($(%�

f��2���!��,��/�0/�+"�!.�1��������1�����0��/#�"�1#�1�!/�#��c�W4����#��2����X�

:�9�##�>1!�5�n����,��+"5�91!2��#���5�9%6�:)o�
=<>�?@@ABCD@EF�'$$HH�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

������������� �!"����!#�$6&$'&($(%�

;�!.+��#����c�#�"���-��!#��!�

6G�d1g�>1!�5�n����,��+"5�91!2��#���5�9%6�:fs�
=<>�?@@ABCD@EF�'$':$�?@@KLMNOLPQBRPAF�

SPMNOLPQF�

TUP@PVNKF�

tuvwxvuwuy�z�{|}y}~�}��
Page 146



�����������	
	��
�����	�	��
������������

����������� �!�"#����"$�%&'()'&(&*�

! +",���-�.$�����-��/���$�#�"��+0�#��00�",���� �+##����"$'+0���+���"$����-��"�'$�#���0��+���"$�

%&1�!��-��2+"�3�4.�53�421�678�
9:2�;<<=>?@<AB�)(C**�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

����������� �!�"#����"$�(%'()'&(&*�

9��$��-0����$�#���P��"$��"�

)�4���Q#�"��R�+#3�4.�53�421�6ST�
9:2�;<<=>?@<AB�)(U&*�;<<DEFGHEIJ>KI=B�

LIFGHEIJB�

MNI<IOGDB�

	VW	�X��Y�	Z[\]��	��	̂__��̀Y����
	a�̀����b�

cdefgedfdh�i�jklmlnolm�
Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�����������	


�
��
������������������������

�
�
��	�

�
�������������

�
�������	�

�
��
������
���
���

�
�����������	�

�
��
������������������
�
�������

�
����
����������	�

�
�
�����
����

� �

�
����������������	�

�
���������
�

�����������
������
�������
���	�

 !"#
$%$&'
"#
(")!"*
)!&
$+,-".
/01%"*




�
����
��	�

�
2-%**"*3
4$$&%-#5























6780/3&/





















679&)&'1"*&/




















:*;0'.&1&*)
4$$&%-#

6780/3&/
























679&)&'1"*&/



















�
��������<�
�������������������



 !&
=011"))&&
"#
'&.011&*/&/
)0
)!&
*0)&
)!&
'&$0')

%*/
%$$&*/".&#


�
������
�����	�

�

�
�>?@>?ABC�
DEF��>�DG��
�?AECH>?I	�



90
)!&
$'0$0#%-#
%..0'/
(")!
)!&
20-".J

K'%1&(0'LM

 N&#
 
 


�BABCECOB�P��BQC��RSR��TTDGC?	�
�DOAOGDA���E@�DGABD>OF�AOU��DFI�
�>OFDUC?ABD>OF	�



:V&.+)"W&
9"'&.)0'
0;
X&#0+'.&#
)0
%/W"#&

'&3%'/"*3
'"#L
1%*%3&1&*)


�
�BABCECOB�P���YCG�BDZC��D?CGB>?�
>T��CF>�?GCF	�

�
[\4

�

�
�]�A�DB���DZC?FDB��DE@�DGABD>OF	�



[0
 





�
�>OFDUC?CU�P���>ODB>?DÔ ��TTDGC?	�



_̀a

�
�

� �


̂ COUA�
�BCE�

7

������������������
b


Page 149

Agenda Item 6



����������	
���� �

�
������

�
�	��
������
����
��
�

�
����

�
������ !"#�$�%���� � &��%��$���
�

'(��)�*+�,-��.���
/�01��2�,�3�1��0�(�4�

5�16�

*+�,-��.��
7�68�0�'(1�0�

910��7�68�0�� :10�;�0��

�
�

� � �

/,0-��;<�'=66������ '=66������ '=-;,�
� �

�
�

� � �

� � � �

�
>?@� A���!�$B &�
�
5(������1�6=;�(
<�0�4=0���=��(��'=66������=)��(��:
1;;�;2��44�1
��
=�2���121�;���
��,���=;��=)��(��1-�(=0��<�1;��121�;���*;)=0,�6�;���=��,�����0.���1;���(=����(1��
(1.��8��;��-8��C-�;�
<�����06�;���8<��(��:
1;;�;2�D;�4�,�=01��E��
�
���1,(����=��(��0�4=0��10���(��D;�4�,�=0��F�,���=;��1;��1�.�081
�0�4=0��G�

�8��
40���;�����=��(��'=66������=;��(���64
�,1��=;��=)��(����,���=;��=;��(���44�1
���(1��
G�0��-4(�
�E�
�
H?@� �$ �IB��$ ��
�
5(1���(�����6�8��;=���E�
�

�
I��
�J��A�	KL�J����#�M����N��
�
�J�
�	
�&�
��O��N�
F1.���710;=P�Q�1��=)�F�.�
=46�;��71;12�6�;��
:
1;;�;2�/�0.�,��P�F�410�6�;��)=0�R��=-0,���1;��R�2-
1��=;P�
S�T;=G�
�<�:
1,��PU-0<�����U3V�W*X�
��O��@>Y>�HZ[�ZH\>��
%]��O���?]���Ĵ _���?LJ̀ ?�K�

Page 150



�

����������		
�����
��
���
��
��

����������������������������

��
	
����

����� !"�#$%&'�() !"*+,-'�.%/,- !" )'�.0��123��
4���
��

5+& �&$)6 )7��# %)�&$)6 )7�5+/89 �!"$) :�) %)�;+",-�)$$<�"$�<9%"�)$$<�*+"-�;%)%; "�
*%99�

�		��4���=�

�		
����
��
�=�>?@>A@B>BC��

.)�D /��%)& / )�

E
4���
���
F
�=�GHI�

J
4
KK
��
��E
4���
�=�LMNOPM�
�		
���QR	
=��

�		��4���
��S
T=�A>U>>@VWI�

��
	
����

X %"$/�X$�! '�D)+ )9 :�5")  "'�D�):'�DYZ�ZX[��
4���
��

\9" )%"+$/!�"$�<+)!"�<9$$)�"$�,$6]+/ �"*$� ̂+!"+/8�X$�! �+/�.�9"+;9 �_,,�;%"+$/��/+"!�
X̀._a�+/"$�$/ �b�] &)$$6�̀!+/89 �$,,�;%/,:a�X$�! �+/�.�9"+;9 �_,,�;%"+$/�̀X._a�

�		��4���=�

�		
����
��
�=�>c@>A@B>BC��

[$)"-9 "�.%/%8 6 /"�Y"&�

E
4���
���
F
�=�GHI�

J
4
KK
��
��E
4���
�=�LMNOPM�
�		
���QR	
=��

�		��4���
��S
T=�A>UAd@VWI�

Q
����SeK�
��
f��		
�����
��
�=���

Page 151



�
����������		
�����

��
���

��
��

����������������������������

������� !�

"#$$%&'($�)'*+�,-(('&$.�/*'01#'2�3-'0.�4'51#'2.�6-((78&(-8.�/9*:.�/;<�=>;�?�@�AB�C!�

D-07E7F'(7-81�(-�*--EGE7*1(�E5--*�*--E�$H($817-8�(-�'FF-++-0'($�'007(7-8'5�57I78&�
1%'F$�(-�E7*1(�E5--*J�>-*F#�(-�E*-8(�$5$I'(7-8J�3$09F(7-8�78�17K$�-E�$H71(78&�&'*'&$J�
LH($*8'5�'5($*'(7-81�(-�78F590$�1-5'*�%'8$51�(-�E*-8(G*$'*�*--E�15-%$1.�8$2�
1(-8$G*$80$*�E7871#�(-�$H($**8'5�$5$I'(7-81�'80�'5($*'(7-81�(-�
0--*1G2780-21G&5'K78&�27(#�M�8-N�O957$(�P'5F-87$1�(-�*$'*�$5$I'(7-8�

Q�� B@�CA!�

���
R�STGSUGMSMV�

D*�W7'55�X988�

�

���Y���
Z
�R�[L;�

\

Y]]
��
���

���Y�R�3$E91$� �		
����̂	
R�4*7(($8�3$%*$1$8('(7-81�

�		��
���Y��_ỲR�aTb<cG)d;� �		
����

���Y�R�[71+711$0�

Page 152



��

�
������������	
���
��������	��������
�����

�
�
�

������������� !��
"����������#�$��
��%&�'�����(&()��
*+�,�-�!� .�/��0, !�1�23��24567�

�!�7!����8 .���� �!8�9�*+�8:��-��.�8�.+� ;�-8�8���

������ !�9�8�<�=�>?�+�@A@B�

�
�������4�;<��66C5B@DAC�C@BCEEEFEBD�
-:���G�8��H�.I�3 88�G�J�/.�9�:�K�4 �9J�5 88�!G8 !J�/?.+�/LM�E6L��
NO P�������������#�$����$��������
��QR�
S�����P
�����$�T
����U�V������	�'���WXX&�Y���
�#��$�$Z��	����������S������
�	������������	����#����
���

NO P�������������#�$��[U�\��]�����̂�����	����������$�����
��
S�_��U�\���
�
������_
�
�	��
T
�������

NO P������������
��̀�S����aXbRW��
NO P���$����
�#������
�
��$��������

S���$��

S���������
�S�	�����
���c����������#
$�����	�
d�����	��e��	��

������ !� �

W�OP�������������$��#����$��

6.���I�!�.+�2�88�.��

(�O"����������������������[#����$f�����T
�������$
���$�����V������S
��g���U
���
h����
�#����V����h
��#����
��(W�\�����(&()��P���#�����������������	�����
����
��
������U��
��
##����
������f�������c��������
������
����
�������#U�
$�����
���

2��!�7��?���

%�OP���#����������������
NO��������������
�
�����
��$�[��������
�������$����
�#�����������̂�����
_���������	���	��$��
�����]���
����V������	�V
���U�i��#��
�
�Y����
i��#��
�
Z���$���U����������$����
�#����������
��������

NO�����SS����
������
��������
S�����̂�����_�����
NO�����SS����
S�������
�
����
������������
S����$��
����������
S���������������
��	��$��
�������Uf���$�

NO����������U����#�[U�����
��
S�������
����������f���$���U�
��������#f�
�
��$�[��������U�
�����	��$�[U�
������
���$�����
��f��
�����
��#
�����
�
�������U��������������#����������j����$��
�k����SU�������
�
�����

4��� !��

lmnoopqoprnstuvtwtxqoytmsuu

)�OP�������������������������������$���	����$�̂�����_������$�����������
���U�
�z���$�$�$������	�����������#������������
S�$������	���P����������$������$�
	���	���
������
����
S���������������
����S���$���
������������

b�OV���	�����W)(�
S�����i��#��
�
�
������������S��$�#��������#�
S�̂�����_����
�
���U�����������
�����������[����������[U�
�����	����$����#������U�
������
P�����������������������������
S�̂�����_���������������
����������$�������
���#��������P���i��#��
�
f��������	������Wb)���$�Wbbf������
�������

Page 153



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
����
�����������	����
��������������������������������

�����
���	�
 �!����
�"����������"�#�$�������!�!��	��
��������
��������������
%�����&���'�	�$(�����
����������
�!���
�	��

)�*�����������+��,�	��	�
������������$���!���	������������%�����&��������
������
�����������		������-���	�
��
����������
��
 ���$���!����!
�	��
����	�������
!�	��
�
���
������!!���
�	�
������!��$
�������	�.��
 �����
��������$���!������

��*����/��"��
���!
�	��
��!� �����������!�	��
�
���
������!!���
���
��!�$������
�		�		"����
 ���������������
�
	����
��!�$��!�	��
�
���
������
�����
��������
$���!�����	������ 
�����"������
 ����������(�!��"����$�������
�������	�.��
 �����
$���!����0�������������"	�
 � 

������'� �

�	�����
���
��"�,��	�������#����
�"�
������ ���
������
��������$���!���'�����/��"��
����-�����	'��	���$���!�����	�
����-�	��!�
����1��#��2�3�
�'�� ������	��
�	������!�� ���������!���'��	������	�$�����

��������#���
���#�45�
��
 �����&��#�6�����#������
�"���������0�22�,�06��,�
��!����!���������������
"���#����7���&���!���	���!��		
�����!������
�"����
�������%�����&����8�����"�����#�����������
��"����0����,�08��,�	�����
�
��
���������%�����&����$#���"����������������	�����	�.���
�����
�������!�
 �����
�
��"��
 �����
��������!����������

3�*9�����	���	���������	�!�	�����"������������-�����
 �����
��������$���!�������������
���������������!�������������
�	��-���	�
�	�������������
��"�����������
�	��
:
�����'� �
"��������!�����$� 
���"�'�9��
�	�!�������
��������$���!�����
�$��
����	"�����������
 �8���������/��"�;
��������������	�"
!�	��������"	�
 ���	�
	�.����!������������������-���	�
�	��
����
�
	�!'�����!!���
���
���
	��
�����!#��
�	������!��
��!�	���� ������#�������	�������
��"����!�"�		����
 �����

��������$���!�����������
�
	�!��-���	�
�	��
��!������ 
���$����
!�	��
�
���
������!!���
���
������-�	�����$���!������

2�*9�����
���!��������������
�
	����
��!������!����"
����
 ����
�	�����
�#���!�
������!����
���������	�.��
 ������-�	�������������:
�����'�9��"��
��	���	 ��!�
��������	��
��!��
"���	���� 
������������	�����	�.��
 �����
��������!�������'�
$�#
�!��-�	������-���	�
�	'���!��������"���������	��
��!����	���
�����%�����
&������

���*������������$
��� ���
�	����
����
���'�������
�
	����
��!�$����
!�	��
�
���
������!!���
���
�����!����������!��
��!��
������� 
��� ���������������
�-�����
��	���
�����������������+��,�
 �����/��"��
����9������� 
��� 
��
�	�
���������
��!�$��������
�������!����
�"�����������%�����&�����9���
��!���	
�$��
�
�����#��
��
���#�45�
��
 �����6�����������	�	�"�������"	��

<=>??>@@AA

���*���� ��!�"��������"�
 �%�����&�����
���#��	��
�����������$���	������$#�
�����������!����"������#�
����������		�����������������	���	�����������

�����		���!����"������������
�����		�
 �����%�����&������	���	��������	�
������	�����	�����	����'�	
�������#	�������!���	�������	�����
 �$����� 
�"	�"�#�
�  ����
�����		���

���*������"���!�!�����	��������� 

�������
 �����!����������!������
 ������������
�
��!�������
���!��������	��������"�����
 �����!����
�"�����������%�����&�����
:
�����'�����������	��
������

 ����
���������!!���
��
 �����$����
����� �
���
��!�������
��!�������	������"�		���!�$����
 �����$���!������� ��	�� �

���������
���	��
��!����������������������
 �����$���!�����������
��!�$��"
�����	�$���
��!���
"�������;
�	�B�����#'���$�����
�����"���!�!�����'�������
�
	����
��!'����
��	�������"	'����"�����
�����		�
 �����%�����&�����

Page 154



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
����
�����������	����
��������������������������������

��� !������"
����
����#�����������#����
�$�����
��#����#��
������$"����
		�
"�
%�����&����
�����		'��
�����(��
�����$������$	�
"�����%�����&�����
���(�	���
���
�������)��$��
����

*+,-./01

��� 2�����$�����(�����������
��$����3���������
�	���#�45���	�
�	��
�6�	�#�������
��
������	�7����8�72��8���9����	���#�	������
"��$�:�����������"��	��"�

��
�5���	�
����:���:������#
�	���#�����#������(�"������:
��#��(��
���������

����

�����
"����������:
��������
����(��������
�
	�#��5���	�
���
��#�:��
��
	���
�����:
��#��(�
"����������:
��������
����(���#�����	�������������
�
:���#���	�
���������#'���#�����	��������������:���'���������������#
�	��
�������
�
���
��
���������

�;� !��������������������������������#(����#
�	����"��	��"�

�������"�����
���#	����	�
���#��<���������		'���������
#����
��
"���=������:���
�(��
��#����#��
�����������
��
	�����
"�
�������	�
"�������
����(�	���#����
��	�������"
���
�������
#	���#�
�

�����
���
�����������#������
����
��#����	
��:�(��5�����"�
$����#
�	��
����
���������������
�:���#���	�
�����������:
���������#��#>�������
�����
���������
����(��������
��#�:��#����������	�
���
������#��������#��	��
���������

����	����
"�����������������

�3� )
�����	�����	
�	'�!��
����#�������������
�
	����
��#������������������:�(�
���$"����""����
�������	��	�
"����#��
����������
"�����	��������������#��
�
������(��!���
��#��
�"�����������
���(�?�
��
"�����@����������$
��	��
�����
$�����	�	���	��
���	����#����
�$������	������#��
������$����(�
"��#>������
��
������	��!���
��#���	
��
�"�������������#������������2�����������	�	�$�����
��$	��

ABCD+1EFGH,ID+.B,FGH11

��� ����:���#�����	�������#�
"����
����
����#�$
#����	���
����#�������
�
	����
��#�
�����#���������#������
"�����:���#�����
�$����������#>
�������
�	���!���	
�
����
���#���������������
�"�������
��
"�����#���������
��#�����
����	������
���������	�������#����
��������
����(��
�:��	����:���"
��"�$��(��	���?
�����'�
�������	��
�	�:	�����������#�����:�"
���$���
�	����	����������	�����#	��
��#�

��(�:��$���:(�������
�
	�#�#����
�$������#��
��:(�
������
��������(���		�
���$"���$���	���	�#�	��		�#��:
��'�������#����
���������"

�������
"�����:������
#����
�$�����
��#���#��������	��������$�����
"�������
�
	����!��������
$
#��������������
����	��$�����	��

JKLMNOPQKKMNO

�R� ����������������	�	����#�������������������
���#�������	�	
�����:���#�#��
��
�����#������"����#�����	�
"������5���	�
�	��!�$�	���
�	�#�������$����	�
"�������	��
:�"
���$����#����������
��(���$���#���������
�	����#�	��		�
�	���

SNMMTOUMVKOWQVQTXMOQTYOZ[TXV\]̂[TO

�_� ����)��$��
�����#�����	������������
�������#����
�$�����	'�:(�#�"�����
�'�
���$"����
�����%�����&������#�	�
��#��
��:������
��#��5�����������(�	�������
�����$	�����	�������������;��
"�����)��$��
���	����	������	�:	���������������
	�
��#�:���������
���(����$��
�����%�����&���������)��$��
���	����	������
àbcdefgbhijkehichlmfnjohbfpeqikkeornebsifnelokbffentbetjcmenrentbeucbboevbknewde
���	
��
"�������
��������		'���#���(�
��������$���	�������"�
$�����
#����
�$���'��	�������(�
��������#�:(�
������
�	�#�����
�	��

Page 155



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
����
�����������	����
��������������������������������

��� !
���������	
�	�	���
����"
��#�����$����
�%�����
�	������	�������
�������
$����
�%�����������&�����'�����!������%
��#��������
��$�"����%���$����%��
�
����
�����		�
(�����&�����'������$��
�����������)�
(������	��	�
(����$��
�����
�����
(�����	���������
������
�	�$�����
�	�����(
����$����	���
���
(�������
�
	���
��������%
$����������������(��
���
(�������
�
	����

��� *��
����$�����������
������
�	�$�����
�	�������	���	��$
��
��������)�
������������
���%������*�������$����(��$��+
�	�,�����)#��������)�	������������%	�����	�
����		��)��
�-�	��()�����$����
�%����$
��
���.�	����$�������
�
	����
��$�
�
�(��������������!��%��
�����$��
���)�/0�
��
(�����1����������
�������	����
�
���
���������&�����'�����

��� ������
�
	�$�$����
�%�����
�(����	����������$����
�%�����������$�����
%���������
�	�$�����
�	�$
��
����$����������������������	�
��$�"��$���$�$�
�����
�����������
�$��������������!
���������	
�	������������������	�
��$�"��
$�	%�		�$��

2345678933

*:;�<+�/=�

�
�

Page 156



�

��������	
���
	
��������������������	���
�
��

�����������������������������������

��� !�" "#�

$%&'�%'(%)*&+�,�--�.+/**+0�1/**&234&+0�54/60�5$7�#58�9	����	�:�

;��<�:�

�������������	�:�

=&%4+>3/�?*'�@4�-'�&A�B3/C?�

D4%?>*'�

E����F�
:�

 G!H� ""�I�

 #� !�" "#�

$%C*�J�--0�K%-?>%B�83%'0�54/60�5$7��LM�9	����	�:�

;��<�:�

�������������	�:�

=&%4+>3/�?*'�@4�-'�&A�B3/C?�

D4%?>*'�

E����F�
:�

 �7G� "G�I�

NOPQRSRTURS�VOWQRTURXQYTZWR[RS\I]̂I\]\_�
Page 157



��

�
������������	
���
��������	��������
�����

�

������������� !��
"����������#�$��
��%&�'�(�%)%*��
+,�-�.�/�0��1.��23 !�4�-5��-6789�

�!�9!����: ;���� �!:�<�+,�:=��.��;�:�;,� >�.:�:���

������ !�<�:�?�@@�AB�,�CDCE�

�
�������6�>?��88F7EC@DF5FCGFGGCEHH@�
I�!<��:�: �:=��J��:� >�-����.:;��:K�7 ::�!0: !K�1B;,��
LM N�������������#�$����$��������
��OP*�
Q�����N
�����$�R
����(�S������	�T���OUU)�V���
�#��$�$WV����T��W��N�������������#�$��X(�'��"�#
��Y�����	�����������Q
���#�����
�����
�����$�X(�Z��(�'���
�
������Z
�
�	��R
�������

LM N����
��������������$�
��%%�'�(�%)%[���
LM N���X������
Q��������	��
���
���������	�$���������
������������#������������	��
Q�����
Q�
�������$�Q�
#�
�����
����(��$���
�����$��������������
�	������������
��
Q���#X���
X���$��	�\���������
�������
�(���$�	��$�����
��	�������������Q
������$�����������
�����

LM N�����]����#�����
Q������
����������
���
�WMR�������������
Q��������$�Q
������$�����������
����
XWM̂ �#
�������$����#������(���#
���������#X���X���$��	�����������
�������
�(���$�����
	��$�����
��	�������������Q�
#��������$��

�WM_
��
���	�$�#
����
����]����$�X(������̀VXW��X
��\���#
���������������	�#���������
Q�
#�����a��$���$������������
�����Q
�#����
�$���
���

LM N�������
$�Q
���
#�������������������]����#���������b������$���#
�����
Q������c
������
LM N���������������
���$��	�
������	�
��$������
�����������
��OP*V%WVXW���$�V	W�
Q�����
N
�����$�R
����(�S������	�T���OUU)�V����#��$�$W���

������ !�

O�MN�����Q
���#�����
��������]�����$��

-�::�;��� !��;!�!0�:=��! :����

%�MN�������������������������$�
QQ�'����"�����\�������Q

���������������
���
��$���
��������
�����#X���
Q�X���$��	�O������������
����$�
����$�����������������\������
defgfehijkfglkfglfgmigfnoikfedmfpqifopdmgrifdefsjglpoftupqifvhkimfohpiwxyfzqif
���������������
��
������������#���$���
Q�����Q���$���$�������#���$���
Q�����
��������$�V���������#��
Q�#(������W�Q
��������
��	��
Q���������T�#�����	����
��
��$�����������
����������������
#�����������#X���
Q���#X���X���$��	���
�̂���	�#(�������{������X����
���������$�������
Q�����X���$��	���N�
�
Q�����
X���$��	�������X���	����$�Q
����#�����X�����
�\������
�����X���$��	��X���	�
���$�Q
����
��	��
������
�����	�
Q����#����V�������$�����
���W��T��
�(�������
��$����
�X����������$�Q
������	�
���	�
Q����������

[�MN�������������$
����
��$����������(����������	������������\�
����������(������
������$�����#X���
Q�X���$��	���
�Q��������������������$�����������
Q��������$��N���
��������������������(�Q����������$�����������
���(��
��
#������������
������#����
��$��Q����b�#
����\�������$������	�������#����(��
���
������������#���������	����
N���������������������������
�����$��
Q�������X���$��	�������
���(��
��
����
���#���\���$���������X�
�$�(��
�������������������{�����
���������

*�M"����
��̀ �̀VOW�
Q�����T��������
�������#�����	�
Q�$����
�#�����̂����
�#����
�
#���������
���#X���VOW�N�������(��	�
���
Q�X���$��	\���	�������	\�#����	�
��

�����
������
�����\�
�\�
����
����$������$|���$�V%W�N���#�
��	�
Q���(�

�
O�}��������������#��
Q�#(������������$�$���X���$��	����������
##
$���$�$��
�\������X�����$���X


���X���(��

Page 158



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
����
�����������	����
 �������������������������������

!��� �������������������	��
"���#�$���%���	�
 �
��� ����%�������
���������� 	��
�
�
�"�����������
���!$	�
"�%����
�!���&������������!��� �����������
"��	���
�
 �	�%��������	��'()*+,(-'(.-/!#��!���	�	0�� ����
��
"���!$� �$���%���	&���
��1���
�	� ���
 #���%��� %��
	�
 ����	� ���� �	���

2�3���� ��	
�	�"
 ��		����������
�����	��������������$ �����
"�����������
�� 
����	�

���  �%��������������	������#�� 	�&� ���� ������"
� &��������
��%�$������
�!!����#��� �
%�"
 �
�� ���
����%����
�!����������	���	�������	�	���
 �	�����
�
	���
������������
������	������������!��� �����������
"��	�� ���� ������

�� ���
����%����
�!�����4
���� &�����	����� �" 
!�����56789:;<=>?@A=68=>B6?>
���������"
 ��!��������
�����������	��
��� ��%����������� ����
��
"�����$���%���	�
��%����������	� �C�� �!���	&������
������ �C�� �	�����$���%���	��
�$�� �!
��%�
" 
!��������%���

D�3����
�������
�����!�#� �C�� ��������� #�
 �����%�������
 �	��������� ����  ��%�

����
�"������������!��� �����������
"��	���
�$�� �!
��%&����	�%
�	��
���E���%�
�
�
�� ���
����%����
�!�����������	�"��%�!�������
�
 ����	������
"������������

"��	��/��%��������	���� �"
 ���
��������� #0��F�����	���	�&������ ����
��
"�
$���%���	�"
 ���!�����$�����
���	���	��� ����%����
�!���������&����!#�����&�
	�
��%�$���%����"��%�	��� ����#��������������"
 ��!�����
�������

G�3F�������
�	�%� �%������� �����
��%�$���
		�$����
��
  ���������
�����	
����������
��������
���E�������#� �"� 	��
�����
�� ���
����%����
�!�����4
���� &�����	��
��
���� &�" 
!�����"
� ��
 �� 	�
"������
����&�������$���%���	������
�������	�
�
��� ��%������������
������	����	�	������	�	����!������������ ��� ��H�
	� ���� �	�
������	���&���
"�������� ������� �
������%�
 ������$����
������%�
��%���
"�������� ���	�%�"
 �	�
 ����
 ����!�����	$��% #����������������	����	�
��� ��� ��
��#�G�$���%���	�
��	������

H�3IJ@>@8B6?9@K@8L>86L:9@>?@B@?=>L6>ML:KN@?>N7:;O:8P=Q>A>7RS9��
�	� ���
 #���%�
�� %��
	�
 ����	� ���� �	�T*)�UVWXYVZ[X\]̂_̀ U_aWVWb-/!#��!���	�	0������
����������%�	����	��������������	� ���� �	�� ���	�%�"
 � �	�%��������� �
	�	&������
	
!��$������	�%�	
���#��
��
�	�����!��	��F���	���� �"
 ���
������ ����������
�����������
��%���
����������#�������
�%
��
��
!��#�����������
�������

��3c� ��� !
 �&��� ��F��
��
  ���������
������
� �"� ��
�
�� ���
����%����
�!���&�
����
��%���	
�$������		� #��
��
  ����������!����!���	���
������	����
����
"�����
�
����&�	
��������� �"� 	��
�"
� �#�� 	�"
 �����$���%���	����������������!�#������
��	��%��
��%����������	����%� �� 
��%�/%0&���%�	
��
  ������������
�����������	�
��#��
��%����	������������������d�	��������

���3F��������	
��
�	�%� �%������� �����
��%�$���
		�$����
��
  ���������
������
�d�	��
 �"� ��
�����!��� �����������
"��	����%�%������ �C�� �!���	�/$0���%�/�0��
4
���� &���� ��� ����	
�%�""�������	����������!��� �����������
"��	����������
�&�
������F�	�����%�	��		�$��
����

���3e����������"
 ��!�����
�����%
�	��
�����%��
�$����!�%����������
���
"�����
�������������&�������
�	�%� ���������� ���!��� �����������
"��	����	�

���  �%&�����	�����		� #��
��	�� ����������
  �����������������&���%������ �	����
��%�� ���
�	�� �!� #��	�	�
"�������������������� ��� �����	����������!��� �����#�

"��������	�
��%�$���		�		�%������ !	�
"�������
���	�����
��� ��%������
���������������	��	����#����������
"�
�������
�&�����		���	!���� �� �������$��

�
��f����
���G�g/�0�
"����������
��f����
���G�g/�0�
"����������

Page 159



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
����
�����������	����
 �������������������������������

�!����"��!������#��	���$���� �
"�"������!�!�� ��#��	���%	�����%�	��� ������!�
!�	�����#���!�
������!�"
 �!�""� ������!��� �����!��� �
	�	���

���&' 
$��������!�������!�" 
$�$%���	�����
��
"�����	���#��������� 	����������
"�

�������
���
�	�(�%
�!����� �!������(
��!� %��!����"��!������������
��"
 ��$�����
�������!������!�	������ ���
"����!�(������������������	������!�
�
�� �'� $� �"�  �!��
��(
���)������!� �	���*������
������$����������� 
��!�	�
	
$��!��������
�#����!
�	��
���
����!����������� �!������(
��!� %�
"�����	�����
'� ��� $
 �#������������������� �%��	�	��������� ��	����"
 �������������
"�
���$��	#��$
��	��
��� ������	�������
��������	
�$����
�	���� ��(�����
+,+-./0-0.12345263.+/27+8.+45+592:/;<2.=+2>.3?,+2?,;-@A2B42<12C0+6D2.=+23EE+3,2
>0.+234527.=+2605+/2>0.+92-;<E/0>+232>04F,+2E,34404F2G40.A22�

���&H
�������������������!������
������ �"� ��
������ �	�����
"����$��	������������
�������	�����I�!��!#��������������� �"� 	��
�����	�����	����7���$���	������ %9�
��!���7	$����"� $9�345234204.+/+>.+52E3/.12/+:+/>2.;2.=+23EE+,,34.2=3C04F27<3412
340<3,>2;42.=+2,3459A2B42.=+2J;G4-0,9>2>.3.+<+4.D2.=+2;::0-+/25+>-/0?+>232C0>0.2;42
���K
��$(� �����#�!� �������������%�	�������$(� �
"�	��!	���!�	����	��	�!�
"
 �	�
 ������!��
�	�������$��	�)��!
����!����� �����$(� �
"�(��������	*������
����������	����	�	���� ��� ��� 
��!��L�
 ��M����	��������	�������!����	��	�
( 
�!�%��
�	�	���������������I�	���
��	������

���&N�������������������	����	����%�!
��
����	������7	������ %9�
 ����$��	��
�(��
$����
��!#������"
 ��$�����
�����	�
��!�	�����"�� �%#����������������������	�
!
���� 
�����!���������%�$�	��!
��
� �$�!%���������
����������������
"����	�
����� �	�!�������� �$�	�	��	��
�����	���#�������$(� �
"����	�(������
�	�!����
����	����� ����%��O���!	�������������
��!�(��"
��!�������%������ �	�!�������
!���������'� ��� $
 �#�����$(� �
"�(���!���	������ ��
�(���	�!�	
���%�"
 �����
��������
"����	��������������
"�	
�$��%����	��	������%��
����� �����
�	�#�
!
� �
��!���	����������	��
���%������
"��� �	�!�������!������������	��	��
�#����$%�����#�
����!�������
����� �	�!��������	��
"�����(���!���	�(����	���� �$� %��	�������	�
���
 �������!�	�
��!�(���!����"��!����������������
����

�P�&I����	� �	�
�	���
�� 
��!�)�*#������
��������	
��
�"� $	�������� 
!����
��
"�
3>>;/.+52,0C+>.;-@D204-,G504F2.=+27/+-+4.204./;5G-.0;42;:2-=0-@+4>9A2B.20>2G4-,+3/2
:/;<2.=+2J;G4-0,9>2>.3.+<+4.26=+420.2-;4>05+/>2.=+273>>;/.+52,0C+>.;-@9263>2
��� 
!���!��
�����	�������������������	����	�	�����Q""��� ���	��
�!��������$��	�

��	���������!�!�!���	���!��������	�
������ ���	������K
��$(� �������R�"� �����
�	���	
�$�!���
�����	�������
"�����������!�!�������	#��������	�	����!��
������
?++42042E,3-+2:;/2.=+27,3>.2.=/++21+3/>9A�

�S�&��������	����	�T3F/0-G,.G/+U204-,G5+>2=;/.0-G,.G/+V.=+2?/++504F23452@++E04F2;:2
����	�
���)�����!������%�� ���� �������"
 ������ 
!����
��
"�"

!#��

�#�	���	�
 �
:G/D2;/2:;/2.=+2EG/E;>+>2;:20.>2G>+2042.=+2:3/<04F2;:2,345WV2�����	��
"��������!�
"
 �������������
"��������	���!�!���	�)��(��������!���	��� ���
����!�
�����!�

��	�!������ �!������(
��!� %�!� ����$%�	������	��*��	������%��
�(������� ������ ���
�	����!�����	�������
"����� ����	�������� %��
�������	�������� 
�����
"������	��	�
��	
������%��
�(������� ������ ����	����!�����	�������
"����������	�� 
��#�
������� %��
�������	����

�L�&��� ���	���	
���	��(����
����!�
��	�!��
"����� �!������(
��!� %�)(��������������
��!� �	���*���!���"���!�)
 ���!!
��*��������	���	
��� ��%�������������������	���#�
�������	������%��
�(���	�!�"
 ������O� ��	����
"��
 	�	������
�����
 	�	�� �X����

�
��Y+:+/+4-+20>23,>;2<35+2.;2ZZ2/+>-G+52-3.>2042.=+23EE+,,34.9>2040.03,25;-G<+4.>A�

Page 160



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
����
�����������	����
 �������������������������������

�������!��
��!�"���
�	�!� �!������ ������ ����	�#�$��
�	�!� ���������%�����	��"��	�
� ���
&� �	�!������������	�&�����������������	��������!��!����'��!�������� �!�
�����"
��!� %���

�(�)�!*�������
�����	��"��	��	���"���!�+,-./01-2-345067-/+8/920/+,-/0-/5-2-:;766-<44=-
>/<727?@A-:BC67?82?-DE2F-04-G3F@H-I0-2336275A-;74F-016-6C/86+96A-0120-016-5/06-/5-
����		�!�"%�&�&"� 	�
'�������"���������
������ �	�!�������� 
�� �%�&�%�
 ���������	��
 	�' 
&��� �����
'���!���!���	#�������&"� �
'���	��
 	�	����	��!��
�
�����"�����
�����	�����	�	����'������%�!�''� �����
������$��
��!��J����������
 �	�!�������!���������$���	��
������ ������� �����"

����" � %���	�KLMNKOP�"%�����
!����
'��		���
'�������'
 ��&�����
����#�
 ������J������
�����������	������	�
����		�!�"%�&�&"� 	�
'�������"������

���)$��
�	�!� ���������%#�
���������!�����"�'
 ��&����!�' 
&�&%���	�����
��
'�����
	���#�������������������������
&� �	�	���&�J�!��	��
'� �	�!������#�������������
'�
���	#��� ������ ����!��Q��	� �������� ���	��&"�����%��	��
������� �������!� �
	���������!�!�����"

����" � %�
 ������J������
������������	��	�!�"%�&�&"� 	�
'�
������"����"%�����!����
'��		���
'�������'
 ��&�����
�������!���� �'
 �������� �
����&�J�!��	��	�
��!���	
� �'� ��
����	�����&���	���

���)R�� ����� ���	���&�J�!��	�#�����	��
��
�����
������
�����������������
 ��%��
�
!��
��������&���	�
'���S������	���	���	������&�J�!��	�������������	��
&�
�����
���������	��$�������
�	�!� �!������� �����
��!�"���
		�"����
��
  ���������
�����
�
� �'������������������	�������� ��
���  ����"%�����!����
'��		���
'�����
��'
 ��&�����
������T
���� #������������&"�����%��"
��#�����	��
������ �
� ���	��%���������	�	�
��!������!���U� ��� &
 �#�����	��
������ ����������
�&�������
���
��!�"������� &	�
'�����!�''� ����"���!���	�
��	���#�
 ������ 
��!	�

'�����������������������������
��!��������
	����
��������
���

���)U
 ��J�&���#���������������&�%��������
	����
����������!� �� 
��!�V�W����
 �	�����
'���
	��"���!���	������������"����� ����!�	
���%�'
 �������������
'�
����	�
��#�	�����"���!���	�'
 ��� ������ ����!�'
 �	� %�� ���!����'��!��	�
�J�����
�	���������� �� �����X��
'�����U �&��
 ��'
 ��
�	�!� ��������
�
�	� ����
��
'�����"���!���	��	������ 
� ������������Y ����Z�����$���	���	
��
��
���� ����������2336>>2+0@5���	���
��!������"������� �	�����
'�������������
'�
���	#�
 ������Q��	� �����	����
  ������������
������
� �'� ��
���&�J�!��	���
��!�
��� �'
 �����	������������������*�	��������

���)Y����������&"�����%� ��� !��������� ���	��&�J�
'��	�	�������������������������
�����������������������&�������
�������	��		��!#�$�������
�	�!� �!������� ����
�
��!�"����� 
� ������
�������������������� 
��!� ���
����"���!�	��		�
���
�
������������T
���� #�����������	����'�������
��� �	�$������ ��� !��������
�
����#�$��
�	�!� ���� ���
��!�"���������&� �������������������� 
��!� ���'�����
�
������	������%��
�"��Q��	��!���%��%���

���)������������
����!� �Q�� �&���	�� ��" 
�!�%�	����!���!�	
#�$�!
��
���
�	�!� �
�����
������
�"����������%��T
���� #�������������
���
�'����	�&��� �����������
'�
�	����!�
�� ���
����!����
�&������!�!
�	��
���!����'%����������	������&�J�!�
�	�#��
 �!
�	�����!����'%���������!�''� �����
&�
����	�
'�����&�J�!��	���U
 �����
 ��	
�	��������"
��#�$�������
����!�!�����������
���������
��"���
  ����!�
����
������	������*�	������
�����������������!��	���� �'
 ��������!�"�%
�!�
�
  ����
�����

Page 161



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
����
�����������	����
 �����������������������������!�

"#$%&'()#$*

���+,
 ����� ��	
�	��������-
��.�/��
����0�������������1
 ��2�����
�����0
�	��
��
	����13������	�11���������� ��3�����������0�- �����
1�����������
�� 
��
 �����	���	�
 �4�� �0�1
 ��
2���������/���	��
��
�����
�2���
��
  ���������  
 �������
 0�����
�����23��
�� 	���0� �	����
���567�87�8�
1��������������7�	��2��0�08.�	�����
��9�	������
��0�-�����	�0��� ��/��
�0
�	
��������1
 ��2�����
������	�������0�
��0������-��4��	��0��

�!�+/�����	���� ��2	�����	.������������
������� 
��0	�	���
������	����
���5�7�87-8�
��0�7�8�
1��������������7�	��2��0�08�0
��
��1�����
�-���
�	�0� �0��

:;<=>=?@;;

/AB�C��DE�

�
�

Page 162



��

�
������������	
���
��������	��������
�����

�
�

������������� !��
"����������#�$��
��%&�'�(�%)%*��
+,�-�.�/�0��1.��23 !�4�-5��-6789�

�!�9!����: ;���� �!:�<�+,�:=��.��;�:�;,� >�.:�:���

������ !�<�:�?�@�AB�,�CDC@�

�
�������6�>?��88E7@CFDE5EC@EGGGHFIJ�
K�L��3����M���=�N�6 �<O�1B;,�1KP�F87��
QR S�������������#�$����$��������
��TU*�
V�����S
�����$�W
����(�X������	�Y���TZZ)�[���
�#��$�$\��S�������������#�$��](�̂�_�
����̀
�$��	��̂�$��	�����������V
���#�����
�����
�����$�](�a��(�'���
�
������a
�
�	��W
�������

QR S����
��������������$�
��Tb�c
��#]���%)%d���
QR S���]������
V��������	��
���
���������	�$���������
������������
����������	����#����
�e�
���$�������]����������$��
�����V�
�����$����������������
���
V�����]���
�$������	�
����
��$��������$
�����$�����
�$

��������]������������$��
�����V�
����������
��
V�����
]���$��	������������
��
V�����#�����������������
���
������$���������
��������
��
V�����
�_�����	�$������	�
�����S���������$���������#
����
V���
����$���
����]�(����$
��������
�������

V���
�����V�
���	�
��$�V�

���������
����$�������#
����
V�
������	��	���
���
���]����������
���
��]���
��
�]�����
�����V�����V�

�����$
����

QR S�����f����#�����
V������
����������
���
�\RX��#������(���#
��������������$����
�����V�
�����$����������������
���gV�����
]���
�
�
���$���������������$����	����$�#�	�$e����������(�$�#�	���
�����
hijklmnilopqroisjqtupusounojuvtowtjkxoyiszjn{toknqrjujnq|�

]\R}�#
�������%��
��]�(����$
����
�����V�
���	�
��$�V�

���������
��
V�����
$������	�
������$��������������%��
�����$���
����]�(����$
���������������

V����

�\R}�#
�����������
��������$
�������
�$

���
������	�
��$�V�

����$�V�����V�

��
V�����
V�
����������
��
V�����$������	�
������$������������$
���������������
�����	����������
����������
V�����]���$��	���$�����
V���#����������������
V�������#
��$����$
���
[��
�
��������$�
V��
������]���$��	��


�$�]�V
��������
�
���


������\��S���V�����
V�

�����$
�����
��$����
��
�����
������	��	���
������]����������
���$�
��]���
�
�
�]������

QR S�������
$�V
���
#�������������������f����#���������b)�$�(���V���������
�������
���
�VV�����

QR S���������������
���$��	�
������	�
��$������
�����������
��TU*[%\[�\e�[]\e�[�\e�[�\e�[V\�
��$�[	\�
V�����S
�����$�W
����(�X������	�Y���TZZ)�[����#��$�$\��"�������������������
]����]�
�	���
��	�
��$�[�\e�������������
��V
���������	����#����
�����$��#�$��
������
]����#�$����$��������
��TUU[~\�
V�����Y����

������ !�

T�RS�����V
���#�����
��������f�����$��

-�::�;��� !��;!�!0�:=��! :����

%�RY����V
���#�����
�������
��$�]��$��V��$��
�����
��������������������V����(e������
�������$
�����
�	���$���������#����$
��
���#�$(�����S�������
���������������
$�����$�V�
#���������������������TZbd��%�� }̂�%%~��������������
��������
��nys�stt��op�hj�{n{topqro{qksiupjqotnou�puou�sonmqsionionkk{yjsiokn{�roqnuo
��������������������������������	�$�����������$�$����
��$��������$�����
���
���#����
��
�����������
��$��
����������������
��]�����������(���������������
�prounouplsounois�sr�ou�sop��s�srohispk�stv|oS���������������		���������
��V
���#�����
����������������(���$�����$�����#(��������
���
����������
���$����
����siinit�ors�skutopqro��nntsvomnirjq�ojqot{yyniuon�o����������

Page 163



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
��� 
��������!��	����
"�������������������������������

��#������$
"��%�����
�����&''()(*+,-&,+.(/0(.+-&*+1((/+&22'3(0+,4+,-(+56.4/,+&/0+
��	��"���������
�	78��9(6(.(/:(+,4+5,-(+6.4/,+&/0+(&*,(./+('(;&,34/*8+*<))(*,*+
%
"�������
����������
���	������ �=�>?������
��������"����%?���	���@�	��������
"��=�"���	�>����������=��
�����
���"��������
�	�������"
��"�?��	��
	���
��=����
��������A�������
���
$������������
�	���"$����?�$�������
��"=	��
"��A�	
���A�
��	��
"���	����

��#B���"�����		A������
��������	��������=�����
�
�"����
$�����5$"
����������
�8��
�
������$
"��%�����
������C���������$"
����������
���	�����
��?��������
�������A����
%?�����A��
��=�>���
�	�=�"�=��
�$�����
��"=	�������	�A����$
��
�	����������
�
���������
��?�>������� ����������������
���@����"�$
"���
�	�=�"������
�����
�
��=�>���
""����=��
�%� ���������"�����	�
��?�����$"
����������
���������	�>�����
����� �=�>?������
������C��������	��
��=��
���D���=�����	�
���
$������
�����
"�
%� �����%
"��
��"
�	��
��
%��?�����A�@��
�	�=�"�	�������
""����
���
��=��
��
���	�������"���"�?���E�	���������

��#������������
��	����	�������������=
�	���=�����
�=

"	������>������	�����=��
F
����"A��
�%?�%��=A������"����
��
$�����>�?����=
�	�A�������������	���	��
�
��=���������
���=�	����$������>���=�����
" 	A��
�	�>�?
�=�������	�������
��
$�
�����=
���G����������
�����������	�����HIJKLMN�46+5,O4+,.&03,34/&'+1&P+O3/04O*+
O3,-+*'&,(+.446*8+3,+04(*+/4,+&''()(+,-(+IHIQRSKT�
$���>�?����=
�	������	��	�
���
�	�	����������"�U��"�%����V>WA�������"�U��"�	����������������
�"�%
���������
�
��>�?����=
�	��
�����$"
����"
��=�$�

"��������
��
$�����=��������
�	����

��#X�"���"%
"�A�"�U��"�%����V>W�"�U��"�	�����"���������
$������
������
�5"�������
��������
���"�=���
����>�?����=
�	������	�����"

$	8��B
���$
"%���
���	��"
��=�=�
&*+,4+O-&,+,-(*(+5,.&03,34/&'+1&P+O3/04O*+O3,-+*'&,(+.446*8+*-4<'0+'44Y+'3Y(�
"�
����"�=�%��	�
�	A��
"��	����:'(&.+O-&,+3*+Z(&/,+1P+,-(+,(.Z+5,.&03,34/&'8[+@�����	�
"���"=A�@�$��=�����"�U��"�%�����%>���
�	������
��������
��=�>���
		�>����
�
�
""���������
������
�"�$�"��
�������
�
�"���A����	��
��=��
���=="�		�����
���
�	�	����?�>�������������������
����=�����"�U��"�%������
""�����������
��������
���
�"�$�"��
������"����
��
$���>�?����=
�	��
��=����"��	������	�
���
$�
�����
����A��������
��=����	������������������E�	�������

\�#]�U��"�%����V�W�"�U��"�	�����"���������
$������
������
�"�%
���5��������
���"�
���=
�	
����
�=

"	�
�������"
��=�$�

"�
$�����$"
����������
����=���	�����
���=
�	�������"����� �������������������"����"�
$�����>���=������=��"��
$�
	�%���"������"�����
$�����"�%
��=����=
�	8��F
����"A�����	��
������"��
��
%��?����=
�	����������������	�"�U��"�=��
���	����A����������"�=�%��	�
�	�	�
��=�
>��
"�������"����=
�	�	�
��=�>��"���	�"��=����"�����"����	��"���
�	�?��
�
���=
�A�$
"��D�%���A��>
�������>�?����=
���
�������$��
$�����$"
���=

"����

�̂#����.(_<3.(Z(/,+,4+3/*,&''+O3/04O*+,-&,+&.(+53/+Y((23/)+O3,-+,-(+:-&.&:,(.+46+
����1<3'03/)8+3*+&,+400*+O3,-+,-(+.(_<3.(Z(/,+,4+3/*,&''+O3/04O*+,-&,+&.(+546+
*3Z3'&.+&22(&.&/:(+46+,-(+.(Z4;(0+O3/04O*8̀+*3/:(+���=
�	���=�
������	����
����
���"��������
�	�
$�����>���=�����"��	�%���"����	�?�����=������"������
���
	��
������������$
"��%�����
������	�	�� �����"��"�%
��=�
������$"
����������
����

��#����$"
���=

"���=�$"�%���"��	�""
��=�=�>?���	�"��	�
$����		������	������=

"�
�	��
������� �=�>?������
����A���=�����	��
������"�������"�����$"�%�A��������	���
	�>	��������$����"����=���������	
�$"�%�	���	�"��	�
$����		������	A��
��=����=�
�
�>��"�%
��=�����	������	�����"���������
$������
�����������"��	��
���������?�
������
�=
��@���	��
������"��
�%������������
���������>���
""����=��
��=="�		����	�

�
��a4,O3,-*,&/03/)+,-(+&22(''&/,8*+&.)<Z(/,+</0(.+).4</0+b1c����������>�?����=
�	������>����%
=�$��=����

Page 164



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
��� 
��������!��	����
"�������������������������������

����"�����#�����
������	������$�	�������
""������������
������
������%������%

"�
��%���	�&"�'���������������������
����%�"�(��"�'���	��
��%����"��	������	�
���

&������
�������%�'� �����'
"��
��"
�	��
��
'��#�����)����	������������������
��$�	�������
""������������
������
�	����&#��������		������	��������������������
��
��%�"�(��"�'���	��
��%�����������&"�'�������������%����	�������
������
��$�	�������

���*+�(��"�'����,�-���	
�	����	�����&�"	��&�

"����%
�	�	�
��%����
"�
"����

��"��������	�
���	��.����	�	���
"��%�
��."�� ��
".��	��/
����")������	��
&�����
012345671893:468;;<6=64=7<42<>?@?<A=431<64A1=47BC<4=1431�����D�"���"'
"�)�����	�
�
������"���������	��	�
��%��

 ��� �)�
"�����"�%�'��	�
�	������
��������
"�(��"�'����"�&�"	��
�����
�
�"�������"�	�����
&��������%
�	)����%
�	��
��
"�(��"���������	��
�.���	�	�
������������
�
�"������

���*E���������"�'
����
&����	��	��%����&��%�	���"����#����������������
�)�����
"�(��"�'����	�
��%�'� ���������"����������"���������
&������
�����'�	��%
������
"�	������
��������	��F���������
��%�.���
		�.����
��
""���������
������
�"�&�"��
�
������
�
�"���)�3<9<=?A;4=7<4012345671893:4BA34?A6<2=?A;4=7<401234567B99:4018934
'� �������
�����'
"��
��"
�	��
��
'��#��������%��
��%����	����������������
��$�	�������

���*E�����������������	��		
�����%������&����"���
��
'��#�����������&
"��'����
�
����)�����	��		����������������"�(��"�'���	�
&������
������"������"��/
����")����
���	���	�)�G�&��%���������#��"���
���F�����G������&
��%������
���������.��
�
""����%��
��%%"�		�	
'��
&������
���"�	�"��	�%��.
�������
������	����
��$�	����)�����"�����#��
��%�"�'������

���*��������������	����	�	������
������	���������#���%���	�%"����'#��������
���
�
HIJKLMNMOPQMIKRMSILTUVWXXJMSYS�Z���[\�]�̂���[)����"�������	����%������
�������"�����%������
����	�
������������&
"��'�����
�����%�%��
���
'��#������
	����
���[��,
&��������-)�����G�	����
"���%��
��
��"��
���"#���	���"'	�.����	��
�����
�������	���������#���

���*G��'�'��%&�������)�����������."��%���
&�����	�����
"#��
��"���%�"�	����
���[��

&����������
��
""�����""
"�
��������)�����_WXXLT̀_LIR����"
�����
�������#�	�
��%�
.���
�&���%��
���
	����	�	����"������&����"���
��
'��#����������	�����
"#�
"�(��"�'���	����	����
���[���	�����"����
������&����
&�������&
"��'�����
�����
��	��&��F�����"���%�&����"��%�"	������
�������������#��	���'����"�
&�$�%��'�����
a
'��%��"���
&�����"�����#�
"�
���"�%�&�����������"��������	����
��
&������
�����
%
�	��
��'������������"���	��
�!�
'�����������������	�����
"#�"�(��"�'���	��
������������
����%�"�(��"�'���	��"��."
�%�#�	����%���%�	
)�G�%
��
���
�	�%�"�
�����
������
�.����������#��/
����")�&
"�����"��	
�	��������.
��)�G��
�	�%�"�����
�
������	�������%�.�#
�%��
""����
����

bcdefghicdj

���*D
"�����"��	
�	��������.
��)�G��
����%�������������&
"��'�����
�����%
�	��
��
	����&#������	�&&����������"��#�����	���	�"�(��"�%�&
"��
'���������G���	��
��
����
�
�'���
��
""���������""
"�������
"%����������'#��
��"	���%�"�	����
��
�[�,�-,�-�
&��������������,�	��'��%�%-)�	�������$�	������
��%�.�����	�%���"��
G��
�%
�	
��������&
"��'�����
������	�������%���%������.��(��	��%��

���*G�����	����"��'	�����	)������������
�������"
��%	�	���
������	����
���[�,�-�
,�-)�,.-)�,�-)�,�-)�,&-���%�,�-�
&��������������,�	��'��%�%-���%��������������
��

Page 165



�����������	�
�����
�����
�
��
�������

�

�
����	�

�����
��� 
��������!��	����
"�������������������������������

#
"������������"$�		�
��%��$�%��
������&����$�%����%�"�	����
���''(�)�
#�
�������������(�	��$��%�%)�%
��
��#�����
�&���
�	�%�"�%��

*+,-.-/0++

123�4��56�

�
�

Page 166


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on the 9th July 2024
	Minutes

	4 PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	Item 01
	be0c09df-ffda-4e7e-a3c8-6fb692722a32.pdf
	3fdb57df-06e4-47a8-a05e-be6059bac711.pdf
	207-JMA-MP-XX-DR-A-000400.pdf
	Sheets
	000400 - Site location plan



	17999c68-7dff-4c08-bcc7-2532dcc28070.pdf
	Sheets: 001310 - Extent of Full and Outline Components

	5591dcf8-d5c3-4a83-b789-0aeda331b668.pdf
	Sheets: 001401 - First floor

	d864a833-1361-487c-b4a2-fc230a8a2bc8.pdf
	Sheets: 001402 - Second floor (Third and forth similar)

	529e039e-d5b2-46d0-b8c6-d7c64f597e14.pdf
	Sheets: 001300 - Existing site plan

	a1d090d9-bdcd-43b9-b5a4-800b05aff03e.pdf
	Sheets
	001450 - Illustrative masterplan


	072e6062-2202-49de-879f-3295f113c51c.pdf
	Sheets
	042400 - Clayton Street A


	28af3813-064a-48de-bf60-62842ffac11e.pdf
	Sheets
	042401 - Clayton Street B


	64b96b3c-dc00-425b-b2cb-dc5c7fdfdb1d.pdf
	Sheets
	042402 - Poppythorn Lane


	5164e01d-6205-46f5-b298-ffb3c3632d36.pdf
	Sheets
	042403 - Rectory Lane


	323e3297-4d1f-497b-875d-4a1bb5bfc99e.pdf
	Sheets
	042404 - Village Square


	2e62b64b-a2f6-4e83-9239-1580eee4269a.pdf
	Sheets: 051400 - Highfield Road to Tramline

	4313d29f-6024-4b51-aaf1-c0128c89a2e6.pdf
	Sheets: 051401 - Rectory Lane to Bury New Road

	3bfd1c00-de0e-42f6-ba1e-305ab5979f14.pdf
	Sheets: 051402 - Fairfax Road to Rectory Lane

	b62bc567-7ab5-4438-bee1-99cc2fff4824.pdf
	Sheets: 051403 - Rectory Lane to Highfield Place

	f704e73a-e300-4b10-9594-748ba993285d.pdf
	Sheets
	052401 - Section B


	24bb6eae-5e71-4ab1-8121-f6ba6f15d10c.pdf
	3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0002-Landscape Masterplan Phase 1 & Outline Area 
	1/3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0006
	2/3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0006
	4/3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0003
	3/3107-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0005


	5433b180-d48f-4506-97cf-085c8a7844a9.pdf
	Sheets: 042401 - GA elevations & GA section

	71cfe81e-e157-4f82-8a0f-f082cb365337.pdf
	Sheets: 042400 - GA elevations



	Item 02

	5 DELEGATED DECISIONS
	6 PLANNING APPEALS

